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SELECTED DEFINITIONS

The following terms used in this report have the meanings indicated below:

Term Meaning

CFC National Rural Utilities Cooperative Finance Corporation
EMC Electric Membership Corporation
FERC Federal Energy Regulatory Commission
FFB Federal Financing Bank
GPC Georgia Power Company
GPSC Georgia Public Service Commission
GSOC Georgia System Operations Corporation
GTC Georgia Transmission Corporation (An Electric Membership Corporation)
MEAG Municipal Electric Authority of Georgia
NRC Nuclear Regulatory Commission
RUS Rural Utilities Service
SEPA Southeastern Power Administration
SNOC Southern Nuclear Operating Company
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PART I

ITEM 1. BUSINESS cooperative designs its rates to recover its
cost-of-service and to collect a reasonable amount of

OGLETHORPE POWER CORPORATION revenues in excess of expenses, which constitutes
margins. The margins increase patronage capital, whichGeneral
is the equity component of a cooperative’s

Oglethorpe Power Corporation (An Electric capitalization. Any such margins are considered capital
Membership Corporation) (‘‘Oglethorpe’’) is a Georgia contributions (that is, equity) from the members and are
electric membership corporation incorporated in 1974 held for the accounts of the members and returned to
and headquartered in metropolitan Atlanta. Oglethorpe them when the board of directors of the cooperative
is owned by 38 retail electric distribution cooperative deems it prudent to do so. The timing and amount of
members (the ‘‘Members’’). Oglethorpe’s principal any actual return of capital to the members depends on
business is providing wholesale electric power to the the financial goals of the cooperative and the
Members. As with cooperatives generally, Oglethorpe cooperative’s loan and security agreements.
operates on a not-for-profit basis. Oglethorpe is the
largest electric cooperative in the United States in Power Supply Business
terms of assets, kilowatt-hour (‘‘kWh’’) sales and,

Oglethorpe provides wholesale electric service to thethrough the Members, consumers served, and is also
38 Members for a substantial portion of their powerthe second largest power supplier in the state of
requirements from a combination of its generationGeorgia. Oglethorpe has 160 employees.
assets and power purchased from power marketers and

The Members are local consumer-owned distribution other suppliers. Oglethorpe provides this service
cooperatives providing retail electric service on a pursuant to long-term, take-or-pay Amended and
not-for-profit basis. In general, the customer base of the Restated Wholesale Power Contracts, dated January 1,
Members consists of residential, commercial and 2003, and amended as of June 1, 2005 (the ‘‘Wholesale
industrial consumers within specific geographic areas. Power Contracts’’). The Wholesale Power Contracts
The Members serve approximately 1.7 million electric obligate the Members jointly and severally to pay rates
consumers (meters) representing approximately sufficient to recover all the costs of owning and
4.1 million people. (See ‘‘THE MEMBERS AND THEIR operating Oglethorpe’s power supply business. The
POWER SUPPLY RESOURCES.’’) Members satisfy all of their power requirements above

their Oglethorpe purchase obligations with purchasesOglethorpe’s mailing address is 2100 East Exchange
from other suppliers. (See ‘‘THE MEMBERS AND THEIRPlace, Tucker, Georgia 30084-5336, and its telephone
POWER SUPPLY RESOURCES – Member Power Supplynumber is (770) 270-7600.
Resources.’’) 

Cooperative Principles Oglethorpe has interests in 24 generating units. These
units provide Oglethorpe with a total of 4,744Cooperatives like Oglethorpe are business
megawatts (‘‘MW’’) of nameplate capacity, consisting oforganizations owned by their members, which are also
1,501 MW of coal-fired capacity, 1,185 MW of nuclear-either their wholesale or retail customers. As
fueled capacity, 632 MW of pumped storagenot-for-profit organizations, cooperatives are intended to
hydroelectric capacity, 1,411 MW of gas-fired capacityprovide services to their members at the lowest possible
(206 MW of which is capable of running on oil) and 15cost, in part by eliminating the need to produce profits
MW of oil-fired combustion turbine capacity. or a return on equity. Cooperatives may make sales to

non-members, the effect of which is generally to reduce Oglethorpe also purchases approximately 300 MW of
costs to members. Today, cooperatives operate power pursuant to a long-term power purchase
throughout the United States in such diverse areas as agreement. (See ‘‘OGLETHORPE’S POWER SUPPLY
utilities, agriculture, irrigation, insurance and credit. RESOURCES’’ and ‘‘PROPERTIES – Generating

Facilities.’’) All cooperatives are based on similar business
principles and legal foundations. Generally, an electric
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In 2007, three of Oglethorpe’s Members, Cobb EMC, Under the Wholesale Power Contracts, Oglethorpe is
Jackson EMC and Sawnee EMC, accounted for not obligated to provide all of the Members’ capacity
13.3 percent, 12.3 percent and 10.0 percent of and energy requirements. Individual Members must
Oglethorpe’s total revenues, respectively. None of the satisfy all of their requirements above their Oglethorpe
other Members accounted for as much as 10 percent of purchase obligations from other suppliers, unless
Oglethorpe’s total revenues in 2007. Oglethorpe and the Members agree that Oglethorpe will

supply additional capacity and associated energy, subject
Wholesale Power Contracts to the approval requirements described above. In 2007,

energy supplied by Oglethorpe accounted forOglethorpe has substantially similar Wholesale Power
approximately 63 percent of the Members’ retail energyContracts with each Member extending through
requirements. (See ‘‘THE MEMBERS AND THEIR POWERDecember 31, 2050. Under the Wholesale Power
SUPPLY RESOURCES – Member Power SupplyContracts, each Member is unconditionally obligated, on
Resources.’’) an express ‘‘take-or-pay’’ basis, for a fixed percentage

of the capacity costs (referred to as a ‘‘percentage Under the Wholesale Power Contracts, each Member
capacity responsibility’’) of each of Oglethorpe’s must establish rates and conduct its business in a
generation and purchased power resources. Each manner that will enable the Member to pay (i) to
Wholesale Power Contract specifically provides that the Oglethorpe when due, all amounts payable by the
Member must make payments whether or not power is Member under its Wholesale Power Contract and
delivered and whether or not a plant has been sold or is (ii) any and all other amounts payable from, or which
otherwise unavailable. Oglethorpe is obligated to use its might constitute a charge or a lien upon, the revenues
reasonable best efforts to operate, maintain and manage and receipts derived from the Member’s electric system,
its resources in accordance with prudent utility including all operation and maintenance expenses and
practices. the principal of, premium, if any, and interest on all

indebtedness related to the Member’s electric system.Percentage capacity responsibilities have been
assigned to all of Oglethorpe’s generation and

New Business Model Member Agreementpurchased power resources. Percentage capacity
responsibilities for any future resource will be assigned Oglethorpe and its Members are parties to a New
only to Members choosing to participate in that Business Model Member Agreement that requires
resource. The Wholesale Power Contracts provide that Member approval for Oglethorpe to undertake certain
each Member is jointly and severally responsible for all activities. The agreement does not limit Oglethorpe’s
costs and expenses of all existing generation and ability to own, manage, control and operate its
purchased power resources, as well as for any approved resources or perform its functions under the Wholesale
future resources (as described below), whether or not Power Contracts. 
such Member has elected to participate in such future Oglethorpe may not provide services unrelated to its
resource. For resources so approved in which less than resources or its functions under the Wholesale Power
all Members participate, costs are shared first among Contracts if such services would require it to incur
the participating Members, and if all participating indebtedness, provide a guarantee or make any loan or
Members default, each non-participating Member is investment, unless approved by 75 percent of
expressly obligated to pay a proportionate share of such Oglethorpe’s Board of Directors, 75 percent of the
default. Members, and Members representing 75 percent of the

To acquire future resources, Oglethorpe is required to patronage capital of Oglethorpe. Oglethorpe may
obtain the approval of 75 percent of Oglethorpe’s Board provide any other unrelated service to a Member so
of Directors, 75 percent of the Members and Members long as (i) doing so would not create a conflict of
representing 75 percent of the patronage capital of interest with respect to other Members, (ii) such service
Oglethorpe. Certain resource modifications can be made is being provided to all Members or (iii) such service
by Oglethorpe if approved by more than 50 percent of has received the 75 percent approvals described above.
Oglethorpe’s Board of Directors and 50 percent of the
Members. 
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Electric Rates received such net margins or gains as a dividend or
other distribution from such affiliate or subsidiary or ifEach Member is required to pay Oglethorpe for
Oglethorpe has made a payment with respect to suchcapacity and energy furnished under its Wholesale
losses or expenditures. Power Contract in accordance with rates established by

Oglethorpe. Oglethorpe reviews its rates at such The formulary rate established by Oglethorpe in the
intervals as it deems appropriate but is required to do so rate schedule to the Wholesale Power Contracts
at least once every year. Oglethorpe is required to revise employs a rate methodology under which all categories
its rates as necessary so that the revenues derived from of costs are specifically separated as components of the
its rates, together with its revenues from all other formula to determine Oglethorpe’s revenue
sources, will be sufficient to pay all of its costs of its requirements. The rate schedule also implements the
system, to provide for reasonable reserves and to meet responsibility for fixed costs assigned to each Member
all financial requirements. (that is, the Member’s percentage capacity

responsibility). The monthly charges for capacity andOglethorpe’s principal financial requirements are
other non-energy charges are based on Oglethorpe’scontained in the Indenture, dated as of March 1, 1997,
annual budget. Such capacity and other non-energyfrom Oglethorpe to U.S. Bank National Association, as
charges may be adjusted by the Board of Directors, iftrustee (successor to SunTrust Bank, as trustee) (as
necessary, during the year through an adjustment to thesupplemented, the ‘‘Mortgage Indenture’’). Under the
annual budget. Energy charges reflect the pass-throughMortgage Indenture, Oglethorpe is required, subject to
of actual energy costs, including fuel costs, variableany necessary regulatory approval, to establish and
operations and maintenance costs and purchased energycollect rates which are reasonably expected, together
costs. (See ‘‘MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION ANDwith other revenues of Oglethorpe, to yield a Margins
ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS OFfor Interest Ratio for each fiscal year equal to at least
OPERATIONS – Summary of Cooperative Operations –1.10. ‘‘Margins for Interest Ratio’’ is the ratio of
Rates and Regulation.’’) ‘‘Margins for Interest’’ to total ‘‘Interest Charges’’ for a

given period. Margins for Interest is the sum of: The rate schedule formula also includes a prior
period adjustment mechanism designed to ensure that• net margins of Oglethorpe (which includes
Oglethorpe achieves the minimum 1.10 Margins forrevenues of Oglethorpe subject to refund at a later
Interest Ratio. Amounts, if any, by which Oglethorpedate but excludes provisions for (i) non-recurring
fails to achieve a minimum 1.10 Margins for Interestcharges to income, including the non-recoverability
Ratio are accrued as of December 31 of the applicableof assets or expenses, except to the extent
year and collected from the Members during the periodOglethorpe determines to recover such charges in
April through December of the following year. The raterates, and (ii) refunds of revenues collected or
schedule formula is intended to provide for theaccrued subject to refund), plus
collection of revenues which, together with revenues

• interest charges, whether capitalized or expensed, from all other sources, are equal to all costs and
on all indebtedness secured under the Mortgage expenses recorded by Oglethorpe, plus amounts
Indenture or by a lien equal or prior to the lien of necessary to achieve at least the minimum 1.10 Margins
the Mortgage Indenture, including amortization of for Interest Ratio. 
debt discount or premium on issuance, but

Under the Mortgage Indenture and related loanexcluding interest charges on indebtedness
contract with the Rural Utilities Service (‘‘RUS’’),assumed by Georgia Transmission Corporation
adjustments to Oglethorpe’s rates to reflect changes in(‘‘Interest Charges’’), plus
Oglethorpe’s budgets are generally not subject to RUS

• any amount included in net margins for accruals approval. Changes to the rate schedule under the
for federal or state income taxes imposed on Wholesale Power Contracts are generally subject to
income after deduction of interest expense. RUS approval. Oglethorpe’s rates are not subject to the

approval of any other federal or state agency orMargins for Interest takes into account any item of
authority, including the Georgia Public Servicenet margin, loss, gain or expenditure of any affiliate or
Commission (the ‘‘GPSC’’).subsidiary of Oglethorpe only if Oglethorpe has
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Relationship with Smarr EMC Relationship with GSOC

Smarr EMC is a Georgia electric membership Oglethorpe, GTC and the 38 Members are members
corporation owned by 36 of Oglethorpe’s 38 Members. of Georgia System Operations Corporation (‘‘GSOC’’),
Smarr EMC owns two combustion turbine facilities with which was formed in 1997 to own and operate the
aggregate capacity of 709 MW. Oglethorpe provides system operations business previously owned by
operations, financial and management services for Oglethorpe. GSOC operates the system control center
Smarr EMC. (See ‘‘THE MEMBERS AND THEIR POWER and currently provides system operations services and
SUPPLY RESOURCES – Member Power Supply administrative support services to Oglethorpe and to
Resources.’’) GTC. Oglethorpe has contracted with GSOC to

schedule and dispatch Oglethorpe’s resources.
Relationship with GTC Oglethorpe also purchases from GSOC services that

GSOC purchases from GPC under the Control AreaOglethorpe, the 38 Members and Flint EMC are
Compact, which Oglethorpe co-signed with GSOC. (Seemembers of Georgia Transmission Corporation (An
‘‘THE MEMBERS AND THEIR POWER SUPPLYElectric Membership Corporation) (‘‘GTC’’), which was
RESOURCES – Members’ Relationship with GTC andformed in 1997 to own and operate the transmission
GSOC.’’) GSOC provides support services tobusiness previously owned by Oglethorpe. GTC
Oglethorpe in the areas of accounting, auditing,provides transmission services to its members for
communications, human resources, facility management,delivery of the members’ power purchases from
telecommunications and information technology atOglethorpe and other power suppliers. GTC also
cost-based rates. provides transmission services to third parties.

Oglethorpe has entered into an agreement with GTC to Oglethorpe has a modest amount of loans
provide transmission services for third party transactions (approximately $10 million) outstanding to GSOC,
and for service to Oglethorpe’s own facilities. primarily for the purpose of financing capital

expenditures. GSOC has an additional $5 million thatIn 1997, GTC assumed certain indebtedness
can be drawn under one of its loans with Oglethorpe. associated with pollution control bonds (‘‘PCBs’’)

originally issued on behalf of Oglethorpe. If GTC fails GTC has contracted with GSOC to provide certain
to satisfy its obligations under this debt, Oglethorpe transmission system operation services including
would then remain liable for any unsatisfied amounts. reliability monitoring, switching operations, and the
(See ‘‘MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF real-time management of the transmission system.
FINANCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS OF OPERATIONS –
Financial Condition – Off-Balance Sheet Relationship with RUS
Arrangements.’’) Historically, federal loan programs administered by

GTC has rights in the Integrated Transmission RUS have provided the principal source of financing for
System, which consists of transmission facilities owned electric cooperatives. Loans guaranteed by RUS and
by GTC, Georgia Power Company (‘‘GPC’’), the made by the Federal Financing Bank (‘‘FFB’’) have
Municipal Electric Authority of Georgia (‘‘MEAG’’) been a major source of funding for Oglethorpe.
and the City of Dalton (‘‘Dalton’’). Through However, the availability and magnitude of
agreements, common access to the combined facilities RUS-guaranteed loan funds is subject to annual federal
that compose the Integrated Transmission System budget appropriations and thus cannot be assured.
enables the owners to use their combined resources to Currently, RUS-guaranteed loan funds are subject to
make deliveries to or for their respective consumers, to increased uncertainty because of budgetary pressures
provide transmission service to third parties and to faced by Congress. The budget proposal for fiscal year
make off-system purchases and sales. The Integrated 2009 submitted by President Bush asserts that the RUS
Transmission System was established in order to obtain loan program is no longer necessary for the
the benefits of a coordinated development of the parties’ construction of new generating plants. Further, RUS has
transmission facilities and to make it unnecessary for indicated that the Administration’s position is that RUS
any party to construct duplicative facilities. will no longer provide loan guarantees for new baseload

generation. However, the budget proposal also indicates
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that loan levels for such generation may be considered Georgia Territorial Electric Service Act, which was
when Congress authorizes a fee for such loans. Such enacted in 1973 (the ‘‘Territorial Act’’). For further
legislation is currently under consideration. Although information regarding the agreements with GPC and
Congress has historically rejected proposals to Oglethorpe’s and the Members’ relationships with GPC,
dramatically curtail the RUS loan program, there can be see ‘‘THE MEMBERS AND THEIR POWER SUPPLY

no assurances that it will continue to do so. Because of RESOURCES – Service Area and Competition’’ herein
these factors, Oglethorpe cannot predict the amount or and ‘‘PROPERTIES – Fuel Supply,’’ ‘‘– Co-Owners of
cost of RUS-guaranteed loans that may be available to Plants – Georgia Power Company’’ and ‘‘– The Plant
Oglethorpe in the future. Agreements.’’

Oglethorpe has a loan contract with RUS in Competition
connection with the Mortgage Indenture. Under the loan

Under current Georgia law, the Members generallycontract, RUS has approval rights over certain
have the exclusive right to provide retail electric servicesignificant actions and arrangements, including, without
in their respective territories. Since 1973, however, thelimitation,
Territorial Act has permitted limited competition among

• significant additions to or dispositions of system electric utilities located in Georgia for sales of
assets, electricity to certain large commercial or industrial

• significant power purchase and sale contracts, customers. The owner of any new facility may receive
electric service from the power supplier of its choice if• changes to the Wholesale Power Contracts and the
the facility is located outside of municipal limits andrate schedule contained therein,
has a connected load upon initial full operation of 900

• changes to plant ownership and operating kilowatts or more. The Members are actively engaged
agreements, and in competition with other retail electric suppliers for

these new commercial and industrial loads. While the• in limited circumstances, issuance of additional
competition for 900-kilowatt loads represents onlysecured debt. 
limited competition in Georgia, this competition has

The extent of RUS’s approval rights under the loan given the Members the opportunity to develop resources
contract with Oglethorpe is substantially less than the and strategies to prepare for a more competitive market.
supervision and control RUS has traditionally exercised

Some states have implemented varying forms ofover borrowers under its standard loan and security
retail competition among power suppliers. No legislationdocumentation. In addition, the Mortgage Indenture
related to retail competition has yet been enacted inimproves Oglethorpe’s ability to borrow funds in the
Georgia, and no bill is currently pending in the Georgiapublic capital markets relative to RUS’s standard
legislature which would amend the Territorial Act ormortgage. The Mortgage Indenture constitutes a lien on
otherwise affect the exclusive right of the Members tosubstantially all of the owned tangible and certain
supply power to their current service territories.intangible property of Oglethorpe.
The GPSC does not have the authority under Georgia
law to order retail competition or amend the TerritorialRelationship with GPC
Act. 

Oglethorpe’s relationship with GPC is a significant
Oglethorpe cannot predict at this time the outcome offactor in several aspects of Oglethorpe’s business. GPC

the various developments that may lead to increasedis responsible for the operation of all of Oglethorpe’s
competition in the electric utility industry or the effectco-owned generating facilities, except Rocky Mountain,
of such developments on Oglethorpe or the Members.on behalf of itself as a co-owner and as agent for the
Nonetheless, Oglethorpe has taken several steps toother co-owners. GPC supplies services to Oglethorpe
prepare for and adapt to the fundamental changes thatand GSOC to support the scheduling and dispatch of
have occurred or appear likely to occur in the electricOglethorpe’s resources, including off-system
utility industry and to reduce potential stranded costs. Intransactions. GPC and the Members are competitors in
1997, Oglethorpe divided itself into separate generation,the State of Georgia for electric service to any new
transmission and system operations companies in ordercustomer that has a choice of supplier under the
to better serve its Members in a deregulated and
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competitive environment. Oglethorpe also implemented Members might take based thereon. Such considerations
an interest cost reduction program, which included necessarily would take account of and are subject to
refinancings and prepayments of various debt issues that legal, regulatory and contractual (including financing
significantly reduced annual interest expense. and plant co-ownership arrangements) considerations. 

Oglethorpe and/or the Members continue to consider Many Members are also providing or considering
a wide array of other potential actions to meet future proposals to provide non-traditional products and
power supply needs, to reduce costs, to reduce services such as telecommunications and other services.
increasing risks of the competitive generation business In 2002, the Georgia legislature enacted legislation
and to respond to increasing competition. Alternatives empowering the GPSC to authorize Member affiliates to
that could be considered include: market natural gas. The GPSC is required to condition

such authorization on terms designed to ensure that• power marketing arrangements or other alliance
cross-subsidizations do not occur between the electricityarrangements;
services of a Member and the gas activities of its gas

• whether potential load fluctuation risks in a affiliates. 
competitive retail environment can be shifted to

Depending on the nature of the generation businessother wholesale suppliers;
in Georgia, there could be reasons for the Members to

• changing the current mix of ownership and separate their physical distribution business from their
purchase arrangements used to meet power supply energy business, or otherwise restructure their current
requirements; businesses to operate more effectively. 

• construction or acquisition of power supply Further, a Member’s power supply planning may
resources, whether owned by Oglethorpe or by include consideration of assignment of its rights and
other entities; obligations under its Wholesale Power Contract to

another Member or a third party. Oglethorpe has• use of power purchase contracts to meet power
existing provisions for Wholesale Power Contractsupply requirements, and whether to use short,
assignment, as well as provisions for a Member tomedium or long-term contracts, or a mix of terms;
withdraw and concurrently to assign its rights and

• participation in future power supply resources obligations under its Wholesale Power Contract.
developed by others, whether by ownership or Assignments upon withdrawal require the assignee to
long-term purchase commitment; have certain published credit ratings and to assume all

of the withdrawing Member’s obligations under its• whether disposition of existing assets or asset
Wholesale Power Contract with Oglethorpe, and mustclasses would be advisable;
be approved by Oglethorpe’s Board of Directors.

• extensions of nuclear facility licenses; Assignments without withdrawal are governed by the
Wholesale Power Contract and must be approved by• additional maturity extensions of existing
both Oglethorpe’s Board of Directors and RUS. indebtedness;

From time to time, individual Members may be• potential prepayment of debt;
approached by parties indicating an interest in

• various responses to the proliferation of non-core purchasing their systems. A Member generally must
services offered by electric utilities; obtain approval from Oglethorpe before it may

consolidate or merge with any person or reorganize or• mergers or other combinations among distributors
change the form of its business organization from anor power suppliers; and
electric membership corporation or sell, transfer, lease

• other regulatory and business changes that may or otherwise dispose of all or substantially all of its
affect relative values of generation classes or have assets to any person, whether in a single transaction or
impacts on the electric industry. series of transactions. The Member may enter into such

a transaction without Oglethorpe’s approval if specifiedOglethorpe will continue to consider industry trends
conditions are satisfied, including, but not limited to, anand developments, but cannot predict at this time the
agreement by the transferee, satisfactory to Oglethorpe,results of these matters or any action Oglethorpe or the
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OGLETHORPE’S POWER SUPPLY RESOURCESto assume the obligations of the Member under the
Wholesale Power Contract, and certifications of General
accountants as to certain specified financial

Oglethorpe supplies capacity and energy to therequirements of the transferee. The Wholesale Power
Members for a portion of their requirements from aContracts also provide that a Member may not dissolve,
combination of its generating assets and powerliquidate or otherwise wind up its affairs without
purchased from other suppliers. In 2007, energyOglethorpe’s approval. 
supplied by Oglethorpe accounted for approximately

Effective January 1, 2005, one of Oglethorpe’s 63 percent of the Members’ retail energy requirements.
members, Flint EMC, withdrew from Oglethorpe and
assigned, with Oglethorpe’s consent, its Wholesale Generating Plants
Power Contract to Cobb EMC. A portion of the power

Oglethorpe’s 24 generating units consist ofsupply resources covered by the Flint EMC Wholesale
30 percent undivided interests in the Edwin I. HatchPower Contract was reallocated to six other Members.
Plant (‘‘Plant Hatch’’), the Alvin W. Vogtle PlantCobb EMC also acquired Pataula EMC and provided
(‘‘Plant Vogtle’’) and the Hal B. Wansley Plant (‘‘PlantOglethorpe a guarantee of Pataula EMC’s payment
Wansley’’), a 60 percent undivided interest in the Plantobligations under its Wholesale Power Contract. Other
Robert W. Scherer (‘‘Plant Scherer’’) Unit No. 1Members could consider similar arrangements.
(‘‘Scherer Unit No. 1’’), and the Robert W. Scherer
Unit No. 2 (‘‘Scherer Unit No. 2’’), a 74.61 percentSeasonal Variations
undivided interest in the Rocky Mountain Pumped

The demand for energy by the Members is Storage Hydroelectric Facility (‘‘Rocky Mountain’’), a
influenced by seasonal weather conditions. Historically, 100 percent interest in the Talbot Energy Facility
Oglethorpe’s peak sales have occurred during the (‘‘Talbot’’), a 100 percent interest in the Chattahoochee
months of June through August. Energy revenues track Energy Facility (‘‘Chattahoochee’’) and a 100 percent
energy costs as they are incurred and also fluctuate interest in the Doyle I, LLC Generating Plant
month to month. Capacity revenues reflect the recovery (‘‘Doyle’’) through a power purchase agreement that
of Oglethorpe’s fixed costs, which do not vary Oglethorpe treats as a capital lease, all totaling 4,744
significantly from month to month; therefore, capacity MW of nameplate capacity. 
charges are billed and capacity revenues are recognized

MEAG, Dalton and GPC also have interests in Plantsin substantially equal monthly amounts.
Hatch, Vogtle and Wansley and Scherer Units No. 1 and
No. 2. GPC serves as operating agent for these
units. GPC also has an interest in Rocky Mountain,
which is operated by Oglethorpe. 

See ‘‘PROPERTIES’’ for a description of Oglethorpe’s
generating facilities, fuel supply and the co-ownership
arrangements.

Power Purchase and Sale Arrangements

Power Purchases

Oglethorpe has a contract through 2019 to purchase
approximately 300 MW of capacity from Hartwell
Energy Limited Partnership, a joint venture between
Bicent Power LLC, and American National Power, Inc.,
a subsidiary of International Power PLC. This capacity
is provided by two 150 MW gas-fired combustion
turbine generating units on a site near Hartwell,
Georgia. Oglethorpe has the right to dispatch the units. 
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Oglethorpe has an agreement with Morgan Stanley Oglethorpe has the option to participate in up to
Capital Group, Inc. under which it purchased 153 MW 30 percent of any new project. The co-owners have
in 2007 and will purchase 166 MW in 2008, along with entered into participation agreements that would govern
fixed quantities of energy. the rights and obligations of co-owners of the additional

units, if any. Oglethorpe is currently participating withSee ‘‘MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
the co-owners in the costs of pursuing this option,OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS OF
including preparation and filing of applications to theOPERATIONS – Financial Condition – Capital
Nuclear Regulatory Commission (‘‘NRC’’) for theRequirements – Contractual Obligations’’ for
appropriate permits and licenses. GPC is pursuing aOglethorpe’s commitments under these power purchase
license application schedule that could support aagreements and ‘‘Note 4 to Notes to Consolidated
commercial operation date as early as 2016, includingFinancial Statements’’ regarding a power purchase
the filing in 2006 of an application for an Early Siteagreement with Doyle I, LLC that Oglethorpe treats as
Permit. The extent of Oglethorpe’s ultimatea capital lease. Also see ‘‘PROPERTIES – The Plant
involvement, if any, will be determined within the nextAgreements – Doyle.’’
year. Oglethorpe may ultimately elect not to participate

In addition, Oglethorpe also purchases small amounts in any unit that may be constructed, or elect to
of capacity and energy from ‘‘qualifying facilities’’ participate at less or more (under certain circumstances
under the Public Utility Regulatory Policies Act of 1978 arising from reduced participation by other co-owners)
(‘‘PURPA’’). Under a waiver order from the Federal than its current 30 percent participation. See
Energy Regulatory Commission (‘‘FERC’’), Oglethorpe ‘‘MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS – Financial
historically made all purchases the Members would Condition – Financing Activities’’ for information about
have otherwise been required to make under PURPA preliminary steps Oglethorpe has taken to procure
and Oglethorpe was relieved of its obligation to sell financing in the event it elects to participate. To the
certain services to ‘‘qualifying facilities’’ so long as the extent Oglethorpe decides not to participate or reduces
Members make those sales. Purchases by Oglethorpe its participation, GPC will refund all or a pro rata share
from such qualifying facilities provided less than of the amounts paid by Oglethorpe, with interest. Prior
0.1 percent of Oglethorpe’s energy requirements for the to making a final election to participate, Oglethorpe
Members in 2007. Under their Wholesale Power must obtain the Board of Directors and Member
Contracts, the Members may now make such purchases approvals required by the Wholesale Power Contracts
instead of Oglethorpe. (see ‘‘OGLETHORPE POWER CORPORATION – Wholesale

Power Contracts’’) as well as RUS approval. 
Other Power System Arrangements

From time to time, Oglethorpe may assist the
Oglethorpe has interchange, transmission and/or Members in investigating potential new power supply

short-term capacity and energy purchase or sale resources, after compliance with the terms of the New
agreements with approximately 50 utilities, power Business Model Member Agreement (see ‘‘OGLETHORPE
marketers and other power suppliers. The agreements POWER CORPORATION – New Business Model Member
provide variously for the purchase and/or sale of Agreement’’). The Members have requested that
capacity and energy and/or for the purchase of Oglethorpe assist them with an evaluation of future
transmission service. Oglethorpe is currently using only power supply needs. In working with the Members,
about one-third of these agreements, primarily to Oglethorpe has identified resources to meet the future
facilitate the short-term management of its resource power supply needs of the Members over the next ten
portfolio. years, including gas, coal, nuclear and renewable

generation alternatives. Oglethorpe is prepared to assist
Future Power Resources in the development of those resources when approved

by the Members in accordance with the WholesaleIn 2005, the co-owners of Plant Vogtle executed an
Power Contracts.agreement regarding exploration of development of up

to two additional nuclear units at the Plant Vogtle site.
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THE MEMBERS AND THEIR POWER SUPPLY RESOURCES

Member Demand and Energy Requirements

The Members are listed below and include 38 of the 42 electric distribution cooperatives in the State of
Georgia.

Altamaha EMC GreyStone Power Corporation, Pataula EMC
Amicalola EMC an EMC Planters EMC
Canoochee EMC Habersham EMC Rayle EMC
Carroll EMC Hart EMC Satilla Rural EMC
Central Georgia EMC Irwin EMC Sawnee EMC
Coastal EMC (d/b/a Coastal Jackson EMC Slash Pine EMC

Electric Cooperative) Jefferson Energy Cooperative, Snapping Shoals EMC
Cobb EMC an EMC Southern Rivers Energy, Inc.,
Colquitt EMC Little Ocmulgee EMC an EMC
Coweta-Fayette EMC Middle Georgia EMC Sumter EMC
Diverse Power Incorporated, Mitchell EMC Three Notch EMC

an EMC Ocmulgee EMC Tri-County EMC
Excelsior EMC Oconee EMC Upson EMC
Grady EMC Okefenoke Rural EMC Walton EMC

Washington EMC

The Members serve approximately 1.7 million electric consumers (meters) representing approximately 4.1 million
people. The Members serve a region covering approximately 37,000 square miles, which is approximately
65 percent of the land area in the State of Georgia, encompassing 150 of the State’s 159 counties. Sales by the
Members in 2007 amounted to approximately 35 million megawatt hours (‘‘MWh’’), with approximately 67 percent
to residential consumers, 30 percent to commercial and industrial consumers and 3 percent to other consumers. The
Members are the principal suppliers for the power needs of rural Georgia. While the Members do not serve any
major cities, portions of their service territories are in close proximity to urban areas and are experiencing
substantial growth due to the expansion of urban areas, including metropolitan Atlanta, into suburban areas and the
growth of suburban areas into neighboring rural areas. The 38 Members have experienced approximate average
annual compound growth rates from 2005 through 2007 of 3 percent in number of consumers, 3 percent in MWh
sales and 7 percent in electric revenues. 

The following table shows the aggregate peak demand and energy requirements of the 38 Members for the years
2005 through 2007, and also shows the amounts of energy requirements supplied by Oglethorpe. From 2005 through
2007, demand and energy requirements of the Members increased at an average annual compound growth rate of
5.5 percent and 3.4 percent, respectively.

Member Member Energy
Demand (MW) Requirements (MWh)

Total(1) Total(2) Supplied by Oglethorpe(3)

2005 7,998 33,618,746 23,721,939
2006 8,094 34,973,868 23,019,482
2007 8,907 35,944,150 22,815,174

(1) System peak hour demand of the Members measured at the Members’ delivery points (net of system losses), adjusted to include requirements served by Oglethorpe and Member resources, to the extent known by
Oglethorpe, behind the delivery points.

(2) Retail requirements served by Oglethorpe and Member resources, adjusted to include requirements served by resources, to the extent known by Oglethorpe, behind the delivery points. (See ‘‘Member Power Supply
Resources’’ below.)

(3) Includes energy supplied to Members for resale at wholesale.
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Service Area and Competition Cooperative Structure

The Territorial Act regulates the service rights of all The Members are cooperatives that operate their
retail electric suppliers in the State of Georgia. Pursuant systems on a not-for-profit basis. Accumulated margins
to the Territorial Act, the GPSC assigned substantially derived after payment of operating expenses and
all areas in the State to specified retail suppliers. With provision for depreciation constitute patronage capital of
limited exceptions, the Members have the exclusive the consumers of the Members. Refunds of accumulated
right to provide retail electric service in their respective patronage capital to the individual consumers may be
territories, which are predominately outside of the made from time to time subject to limitations contained
municipal limits existing at the time the Territorial Act in mortgages between the Members and RUS or loan
was enacted in 1973. The principal exception to this documents with other lenders. The RUS mortgages
rule of exclusivity is that electric suppliers may compete generally prohibit such distributions unless (i) after any
for most new retail loads of 900 kilowatts or greater. such distribution, the Member’s total equity will equal
The GPSC may reassign territory only if it determines at least 30 percent of its total assets, or (ii) distributions
that an electric supplier has breached the tenets of do not exceed 25 percent of the margins and patronage
public convenience and necessity. The GPSC may capital received by the Member in the preceding year
transfer service for specific premises only if: and equity is at least 20 percent (see ‘‘Members’
(i) the GPSC determines, after joint application of Relationship with RUS’’). 
electric suppliers and proper notice and hearing, that the Oglethorpe is a membership corporation, and the
public convenience and necessity require a transfer of Members are not subsidiaries of Oglethorpe. Except
service from one electric supplier to another; or with respect to the obligations of the Members under
(ii) the GPSC finds, after proper notice and hearing, each Member’s Wholesale Power Contract with
that an electric supplier’s service to a premise is not Oglethorpe and Oglethorpe’s rights under such
adequate or dependable or that its rates, charges, service Contracts to receive payment for power and energy
rules and regulations unreasonably discriminate in favor supplied, Oglethorpe has no legal interest in (including
of or against the consumer utilizing such premise and through a pledge or otherwise), or obligations in respect
the electric utility is unwilling or unable to comply with of, any of the assets, liabilities, equity, revenues or
an order from GPSC regarding such service. margins of the Members. (See ‘‘OGLETHORPE POWER

Since 1973, the Territorial Act has allowed limited CORPORATION – Wholesale Power Contracts.’’)
competition among electric utilities in Georgia by Revenues of the Members are, however, pledged under
allowing the owner of any new facility located outside their respective RUS mortgages or loan documents with
of municipal limits and having a connected load upon other lenders. 
initial full operation of 900 kilowatts or greater to Oglethorpe depends on the revenue received by it
receive electric service from the retail supplier of its from the Members pursuant to the Wholesale Power
choice. The Members, with Oglethorpe’s support, are Contracts to cover the costs of the operation of its
actively engaged in competition with other retail electric power supply business and satisfy its debt service
suppliers for these new commercial and industrial loads. obligations.
The number of commercial and industrial loads served
by the Members continues to increase annually. While Rate Regulation of Members
the competition for 900-kilowatt loads represents only

Through provisions in the loan documents securinglimited competition in Georgia, this competition has
loans to the Members, RUS exercises control andgiven Oglethorpe and the Members the opportunity to
supervision over the rates for the sale of power of thedevelop resources and strategies to operate in an
Members that borrow from it. The RUS mortgages ofincreasingly competitive market. 
such Members require them to design rates with a view

For further information regarding Member to maintaining an average Times Interest Earned Ratio
competitive activities, see ‘‘OGLETHORPE POWER and an average Debt Service Coverage Ratio of not less
CORPORATION – Competition.’’ than 1.25 and an Operating Times Interest Earned Ratio

and an Operating Debt Service Coverage Ratio of not
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less than 1.10, in each case for the two highest out of Bush administration has requested a decrease in funding
every three successive years. for the guaranteed loan program, which provides

funding for generation and transmission borrowers, asThe Georgia Electric Membership Corporation Act,
well as distribution borrowers. Oglethorpe cannotunder which each of the Members was formed, requires
predict the amount or cost of RUS direct andthe Members to operate on a not-for-profit basis and to
guaranteed loans that may be available to the Membersset rates at levels that are sufficient to recover their
in the future.costs and to provide for reasonable reserves. The setting

of rates by the Members is not subject to approval by Members’ Relationships with GTC and GSOC
any federal or state agency or authority other than RUS,

GTC provides transmission services to the Membersbut the Territorial Act prohibits the Members from
for delivery of the Members’ power purchases fromunreasonable discrimination in the setting of rates,
Oglethorpe and other power suppliers. GTC and thecharges, service rules or regulations and requires the
Members have entered into Member TransmissionMembers to obtain GPSC approval of long-term
Service Agreements (the ‘‘MTSAs’’) under which GTCborrowings. 
provides transmission service to the Members pursuant

Cobb EMC, Diverse Power Incorporated, an EMC, to a transmission tariff. The MTSAs have a minimum
Mitchell EMC, Oconee EMC, Snapping Shoals EMC term for network service until December 31, 2040.
and Walton EMC have repaid all of their RUS However, the MTSAs include certain elections for load
indebtedness and are no longer RUS borrowers. Each of growth above 1995 requirements, with notice to GTC,
these Members now has a rate covenant with its current to be served by others. The MTSAs provide that if a
lender. Other Members may also pursue this option. To Member elects to purchase a part of its network service
the extent that a Member who is not an RUS borrower elsewhere, it must pay appropriate stranded costs to
engages in wholesale sales or sales of transmission protect the other Members from any rate increase that
service in interstate commerce, it would, in certain they could otherwise occur. Under the MTSAs,
circumstances, be subject to regulation by FERC under Members have the right to design, construct and own
the Federal Power Act. new distribution substations. 

Members’ Relationship with RUS GSOC has contracts with each of its members,
including Oglethorpe and GTC, to provide to them theThrough provisions in the loan documents securing
services that it purchases from GPC under the Controlloans to the Members, RUS also exercises control and
Area Compact, which Oglethorpe co-signed withsupervision over the Members that borrow from it in
GSOC. GSOC also provides operation services for thesuch areas as accounting, other borrowings, construction
benefit of the Members through agreements withand acquisition of facilities, and the purchase and sale
Oglethorpe, including dispatch of Oglethorpe’sof power. 
resources and other power supply resources owned by

Historically, federal loan programs providing direct the Members. 
loans from RUS to electric cooperatives have been a

For additional information about the Members’major source of funding for the Members. Under the
relationship with GSOC, see ‘‘OGLETHORPE POWERcurrent RUS loan programs, distribution borrowers are
CORPORATION – Relationship with GSOC.’’eligible for loans made by FFB or other lenders and

guaranteed by RUS. Certain borrowers with either low Member Power Supply Resources
consumer density or higher than average rates and lower

Oglethorpe Power Corporationthan average consumer income are eligible for special
loans that bear interest at an annual rate of 5 percent. In 2007, energy supplied by Oglethorpe accounted
However, the availability and magnitude of RUS direct for approximately 63 percent of the Members’ retail
and guaranteed loan funds is subject to annual federal energy requirements. Each Member has a take-or-pay,
budget appropriations and thus cannot be assured. fixed percentage capacity responsibility for all of
Currently, the availability of RUS loan funds is subject Oglethorpe’s existing resources. (See ‘‘OGLETHORPE
to increased uncertainty because of budgetary pressures POWER CORPORATION – Wholesale Power Contracts.’’)
faced by Congress. In its 2009 budget proposal, the The Members satisfied all of their requirements above
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their Oglethorpe purchase obligations with purchases GPC Block Purchase
from other suppliers as described below. Twenty-nine Members have entered into 10-year

power supply contracts with GPC under which they willContracts with SEPA
purchase an aggregate of 675 MW of capacity and

The Members purchase hydroelectric power from the associated energy. Delivery under the agreements began
Southeastern Power Administration (‘‘SEPA’’) under January 1, 2005.
contracts that extend until 2016. In 2007, the aggregate
SEPA allocation to the Members was 562 MW plus Other Member Resources
associated energy. Each Member must schedule its Members are obtaining their other power supply
energy allocation, and each Member has designated requirements from various sources. Thirty Members
Oglethorpe to perform this function. Pursuant to a have entered into contracts with third parties for all of
separate agreement, Oglethorpe schedules, through their incremental power requirements, with remaining
GSOC, the Members’ SEPA power deliveries. Further, terms ranging from 3 to 10 years. The other Members
each Member may be required, if certain conditions are use a portfolio of power purchase contracts to meet
met, to contribute funds for capital improvements for their requirements. 
Corps of Engineers projects from which its allocation is

Oglethorpe has not undertaken to obtain a completederived in order to retain the allocation.
list of Member power supply resources. Any of the

Smarr EMC Members may have committed or may commit to
additional power supply obligations not describedSee ‘‘OGLETHORPE POWER CORPORATION –
above. Relationship with Smarr EMC’’. The Members

participating in the facilities owned by Smarr EMC For information about Members’ activities relating to
purchase the output of those facilities pursuant to their power supply planning, see ‘‘OGLETHORPE POWER

long-term, take-or-pay power purchase agreements. CORPORATION – Competition and ‘‘OGLETHORPE POWER

Smarr EMC owns Smarr Energy Facility, a two-unit, CORPORATION – Future Power Resources.’’ 
217 MW gas-fired combustion turbine facility (with 35 In addition to future power supply resources that
participating Members), and Sewell Creek Energy Oglethorpe may acquire for the Members, the Members
Facility, a four-unit, 492 MW gas-fired combustion will likely also continue to acquire future resources
turbine facility (with 31 participating Members). Smarr from other suppliers, including suppliers that may be
Energy Facility began commercial operation in June owned by Members.
1999, and Sewell Creek Energy Facility began
commercial operation in June 2000.
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ENVIRONMENTAL AND OTHER REGULATION oxides and mercury from affected electric utility units,
which include the coal-fired units at Plants Wansley andGeneral
Scherer. 

As is typical for electric utilities, Oglethorpe is
Sulfur dioxide reductions are being imposed throughsubject to various federal, state and local air and water

a sulfur dioxide emission allowance trading programquality requirements which, among other things,
established under the 1990 amendments to the Cleanregulate emissions of pollutants, such as particulate
Air Act. Pursuant to regulations issued by the U.S.matter, sulfur dioxide, nitrogen oxides and mercury into
Environmental Protection Agency (‘‘EPA’’), aggregatethe air and discharges of other pollutants, including
emissions of sulfur dioxide from all affected units areheat, into waters of the United States. Oglethorpe is
now capped at 8.9 million tons per year. Tradablealso subject to federal, state and local waste disposal
emission allowances, which authorize the emission ofrequirements that regulate the manner of transportation,
one ton of sulfur dioxide during a particular calendarstorage and disposal of various types of waste. 
year or thereafter, are issued 30 years in advance and

In general, environmental requirements are becoming are transferable. Oglethorpe is currently complying with
increasingly stringent. New requirements may this program by using lower-sulfur fuel and emission
substantially increase the cost of electric service, by allowances. Installation of flue gas desulfurization
requiring changes in the design or operation of existing equipment (‘‘scrubbers’’) is underway at Plant Wansley
facilities or changes or delays in the location, design, and is in the design phase at Plant Scherer to comply
construction or operation of new facilities. Failure to with implementing regulations issued by the State of
comply with these requirements could result in the Georgia. 
imposition of civil and criminal penalties as well as the

Reductions in nitrogen oxides emissions were alsocomplete shutdown of individual generating units not in
imposed, under the prior 1-hour National Ambient Aircompliance. Oglethorpe cannot provide assurance that it
Quality Standard (‘‘NAAQS’’) for ozone, requiring thewill always be in compliance with current and future
installation of new control equipment. Significantregulations. 
reductions in nitrogen oxides emissions were achieved,

Compliance with environmental standards will due to the selective catalytic reduction systems installed
continue to be reflected in Oglethorpe’s capital at Plant Wansley and the separated overfire air systems
expenditures and operating costs. Oglethorpe made installed at Plant Scherer. 
environmentally related capital expenditures of

Other recently finalized regulations, proposed$82 million in 2007 and forecasts capital expenditures
regulations and other actions could result in moreof approximately $186 million, $152 million and
stringent controls on all emissions, including utility$114 million in 2008, 2009 and 2010, respectively, to
emissions, in the future. The actions that appear to bemaintain and achieve compliance with current and
the most significant are described below. Theseanticipated environmental requirements. For a further
regulatory programs affect existing fossil-fuel-fireddiscussion of expected future capital expenditures to
generating facilities, and could also impact futurecomply with environmental requirements and
fossil-fuel-fired generating plants.regulations, see ‘‘MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND

ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS OF 8-hour Ozone NAAQS. When the old 1-hour ozone
OPERATIONS – Financial Condition – Capital NAAQS was replaced with the new 8-hour standard, the
Requirements – Capital Expenditures.’’ Atlanta ozone nonattainment area was expanded in 2005

from its original 13 counties to 20 counties, and the
Clean Air Act Macon ozone nonattainment area (which includes Plant

Scherer) was created. Rulemakings to implement theEnvironmental concerns of the public, the scientific
8-hour standard remain in litigation. The Atlanta area iscommunity and Congress have resulted in the enactment
being re-classified to a more stringent nonattainmentof legislation that has had and will continue to have a
status, while the Macon area has been designated to besignificant impact on the electric utility industry. The
in attainment. A state implementation plan to bring themost significant environmental legislation applicable to
Atlanta area into attainment is due at the end of 2008.Oglethorpe is the Clean Air Act, which has required
Further, EPA has recently tightened the 8-hourreductions in emissions of sulfur dioxide, nitrogen
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standards. Implementation of the new standards will be guidance to implement the regional haze rule were also
subject to future rulemaking. proposed by EPA in 2005. The goal of the regional

haze rule is to restore natural visibility conditions in the
Particulate matter NAAQS. Plants Wansley and Scherer Class I areas by 2064. Interim milestones reflecting

are in the area designated in 2005 as nonattainment of reasonable progress towards this goal are required
the fine particulate matter standards first established in beginning in 2018. Moreover, the rule requires the
1997. Subsequently, in 2006, the 1997 standards were application of Best Available Retrofit Technology
tightened. New nonattainment designations for the 2006 (‘‘BART’’) for a certain class of sources (including
standards have not yet been made, but the area is likely Plants Scherer and Wansley) contributing to the
to remain in nonattainment status. Implementation of impairment of visibility in the Class I areas. The
the 2006 standards will be the subject of future Georgia state implementation plan to implement BART
rulemaking. An implementation rule was finalized in and reasonable further progress originally due in
2007 setting forth how the original 1997 standards are December 2007 is under development and will not be
to be met, and state implementation plans (‘‘SIPs’’) for finalized until the end of 2008 at the earliest. Until such
achieving 1997 standards are due in 2008. Litigation on rules are finalized and implemented by the State of
these EPA actions is continuing. Georgia, Oglethorpe will not know what additional

controls, if any, may be required at Plant Scherer toRegional NOX SIP Call. In 1998, EPA promulgated a
comply with this rule.regulation for a 22-state region, which includes Georgia,

and a separate April 2004 rule, which imposed a cap on Short-term NAAQS for Sulfur Dioxide. Although EPA had
nitrogen oxides emissions in the affected region, and decided not to impose a new NAAQS for sulfur
required each state in the affected region to revise its dioxide, that decision remains remanded to EPA for
SIP to implement such reductions. In 2005, EPA stayed further rulemaking.
the implementation of that rule as it would apply to
Georgia. In 2007, EPA proposed to continue the stay Clean Air Mercury Rule and State-Related Mercury Rules. In
and to delete Georgia from this regulation. 2005, EPA finalized a regulation that would control

emissions of mercury, by creating a market-based
Clean Air Interstate Rule. EPA finalized a clean air cap-and-trade program that would reduce emissions of

interstate rule in 2005 for ozone and fine particulate mercury in two phases, with the first phase becoming
matter that requires emissions reductions in sulfur effective in 2010 and the second in 2018. In litigation
dioxide and nitrogen oxides in most eastern states, challenging the rule, in early 2008, the U.S. Court of
including Georgia. The rule established a market-based Appeals for the D.C. Circuit vacated and remanded the
cap and trade program, with emission caps for each cap-and-trade rule and a companion rule delisting
affected state. Litigation challenging the final rule electric generating units from the hazardous air
continues. Under Georgia’s state implementation plan, pollutant source list in Section 112 of the Clean Air
which now includes the rule, the caps would be Act. That litigation may continue. Although Georgia,
implemented in two phases. The first phase, for prior to this decision, elected to include the EPA
nitrogen oxides caps, becomes effective in 2009 and, for cap-and-trade program in its state implementation plan,
sulfur dioxide caps, in 2010. A second phase for both this litigation may affect the continued validity of
pollutants follows in 2015. Year-round operation of the Georgia’s plan. Moreover, Georgia’s new mercury rules
selective catalytic reduction systems already installed at also finalized in 2007 include a ‘‘multi-pollutant rule’’
Plant Wansley and additional controls at Plant Scherer that requires operation of the existing selective catalytic
may be needed to comply with the state implementation reduction system (nitrogen oxides) and the scrubber
plan. (sulfur dioxide and mercury) being constructed at Plant

Wansley as well as additional controls for mercuryRegional Haze. EPA’s 1999 regional haze rule was
(activated carbon injection and baghouse), sulfur dioxidecreated for the control of certain sources that emit
(scrubber) and nitrogen oxides (selective catalyticnitrogen oxides or sulfur dioxide that contribute to the
reduction system) at Plant Scherer. Whether thedegradation of visibility in mandatory federal Class I
litigation will affect this portion of Georgia’s mercuryareas, such as national parks and wilderness areas. A
rules is unknown at this time. revised rule was issued in 2005 to address portions of

the 1999 rule remanded to EPA. Another rule and
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Oglethorpe believes that the controls being designed Circuit. In a companion case to the Supreme Court
and/or installed at Plants Wansley and Scherer will meet matter, state, municipal and private parties filed a
the requirements of the rules described above. However, petition for review of EPA’s failure to adopt regulations
because (1) several of these proposed or final Clean Air governing power plant emissions of carbon dioxide and
Act regulations could require control of the same other greenhouse gases under the Clean Air Act. In
emissions, (2) the compliance requirements remain issuing a new final rule establishing updated New
uncertain, and (3) specific control technologies affect Source Performance Standards (‘‘NSPS’’) for steam
multiple emissions, Oglethorpe cannot determine the generating units operated by electric utilities (and other
aggregate effect of these or future regulations. industrial and commercial facilities), EPA took the

position that it did not have the authority to set NSPS
Carbon Dioxide Emissions and Climate Change. Efforts to regulating these greenhouse gases under the Clean Air

limit emissions of carbon dioxide from power plants Act. EPA did not set a NSPS for carbon dioxide in the
continue to increase. Laws that would limit such rule, relying on its findings prior to the Supreme Court
emissions could originate in Congress or existing laws case that it has no authority under the Clean Air Act to
could be applied as an outgrowth of ongoing litigation. establish regulations that address climate change.

Petitioners challenged the NSPS on numerous grounds,Congress continues to consider legislation, including
including that EPA should have set a standard forclimate-change legislation, that would amend the Clean
carbon dioxide. After the Supreme Court reached itsAir Act or other federal statutes, many versions of
decision discussed above, the D.C. Circuit remanded thewhich may impose more stringent emissions limitations,
case back to EPA in September 2007 for furtherincluding limits related to carbon dioxide emissions on
proceedings in light of that decision. While the outcomepower plants. Although there are many differences in
of these matters cannot be determined at this time,these legislative proposals, most would impose caps on
adverse results in one or more of these cases couldemissions of carbon dioxide at existing and future
result in substantial capital expenditures and/orpower plants that would increase in stringency over
increased operating costs at Plants Wansley and/ortime. The impact of any federal legislation would
Scherer.depend upon the specific requirements enacted and

cannot be determined at this time. 
Other Relevant Litigation. In November 1999, the United

Litigation related to carbon dioxide emissions States Justice Department, on behalf of EPA, filed
continues on numerous fronts, and the outcome of such lawsuits against GPC and some of its affiliates, as well
litigation could affect the power plants owned by as other utilities. The lawsuits allege violations of the
Oglethorpe. In 2007, the U.S. Supreme Court ruled that new source review provisions and the new source
certain greenhouse gases, including carbon dioxide, performance standards of the Clean Air Act at, among
were pollutants which EPA has authority to regulate other facilities, Scherer Unit Nos. 3 and 4. Oglethorpe
under the Clean Air Act, if it concludes regulation is is not currently named in the lawsuits and Oglethorpe
needed to protect public health or welfare. The Court does not have an ownership interest in the named units
directed EPA to decide whether such regulation is of Plant Scherer. However, Oglethorpe can give no
needed, and EPA is now contemplating further action in assurance that units in which Oglethorpe has an
response to the Court. In another case, in 2004, ownership interest will not be affected by this or a
Attorneys General from eight states and the Corporation related lawsuit in the future. The case has remained
Counsel of New York filed a complaint in the U.S. administratively closed since the spring of 2001. The
District Court for the Southern District of New York resolution of this matter is highly uncertain at this time,
against Southern Company and four other electric power as is any responsibility of Oglethorpe for a share of any
companies. The complaint alleges that the companies’ penalties and capital costs required to remedy any
emissions of carbon dioxide contribute to global violations at its co-owned facilities. 
warming, which the Plaintiffs claim is a public

In December 2002 and October 2003, EPAnuisance. In September 2005, the Court granted the
promulgated revisions to its new source reviewdefendants’ motions to dismiss, which the plaintiffs
(‘‘NSR’’) rule. Petitions to review both of these finalappealed in October 2005. The matter is now awaiting
rules were filed with the U.S. Court of Appeals for thedecision in the U.S. Court of Appeals for the Second
District of Columbia Circuit. In June 2005, that Court
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upheld the December 2002 rule in part. However, it also Under the Clean Water Act, EPA and state
vacated certain portions of the rule, including those environmental agencies are developing total maximum
excluding pollution control projects from NSR. The daily loads (‘‘TMDLs’’) for certain impaired state
October 2003 rule, which was intended to clarify the waters. The establishment of TMDLs and/or additional
scope of the exclusion for routine maintenance and measures to control non-point source pollution may
repair, was vacated by the court in March 2006. In result in a tightening of limits in water discharge
October 2005, EPA also proposed a rule to clarify the permits for power plants, including Plants Wansley and
test to be used for determining whether, following a Scherer. As the impact will depend on the actual
change to a unit, an emissions increase would, for TMDLs and the corresponding permit limitations that
purposes of NSR, be deemed to occur. The impact of are established, the effects of such developments cannot
the litigation on the two final rules and the proposed be predicted at this time. 
rulemaking will depend on the ultimate resolution of In February 2008, the Georgia legislature adopted a
these matters and the actions taken by the State of comprehensive state water plan for Georgia. The stated
Georgia in response to them and cannot be predicted at purpose of this plan is to guide Georgia in managing
this time. water resources in a sustainable manner to support the

Depending on the final outcome of these state’s economy, to protect public health and natural
developments, and the implementation approach selected systems, and to enhance the quality of life for all
by EPA and the State of Georgia with respect to citizens. The plan lays out statewide policies,
environmental regulations, significant capital management practices, and guidance for regional
expenditures and increased operation expenses could be planning. The provisions of this plan are intended to
incurred by Oglethorpe for the continued operation of guide river basin and aquifer management plans and
Plants Wansley and/or Scherer. regional water planning efforts statewide in a manner

consistent with existing state law. Power generation is aCompliance with the requirements of the Clean Air
key use of water in the state, and any regulations orAct may also require increased capital or operating
other enforceable requirements developed in response toexpenses on the part of GPC. Any increases in GPC’s
this plan or subsequent regional plans may havecapital or operating expenses may cause an increase in
substantial effects on the operations of Oglethorpe’sthe cost of power purchased from GPC. (See ‘‘THE
facilities or future facilities constructed or acquired byMEMBERS AND THEIR POWER SUPPLY RESOURCES –
Oglethorpe. The impacts of this water plan cannot beMember Power Supply Resources – GPC Block
determined at this time and will depend on thePurchase.’’)
development of future implementing regulations. 

Other Environmental Regulation Oglethorpe is subject to other environmental statutes
including, but not limited to, the Georgia Water QualityCoal combustion waste disposed in landfills and
Control Act, the Georgia Hazardous Site Response Act,surface impoundments is a regulated solid waste that is
the Toxic Substances Control Act, the Endangeredexempt from hazardous waste regulations. As part of a
Species Act, the Comprehensive Environmental2000 regulatory determination, EPA is developing
Response, Compensation and Liability Act, thenational solid waste management standards to address
Emergency Planning and Community Right to Knowcoal combustion waste. Although coal combustion waste
Act, and to the regulations implementing these statutes.will continue to be classified as non-hazardous under
Oglethorpe does not believe that compliance with thesethe Resource Conservation and Recovery Act, the new
statutes and regulations will have a material impact onstandards will likely include increased groundwater
its financial condition or results of operations. Changesmonitoring, more stringent siting requirements and
to any of these laws, some of which are being reviewedclosure of existing coal waste management facilities not
by Congress, could affect many areas of Oglethorpe’smeeting minimum standards. Depending on the outcome
operations. Although compliance with newof such rulemaking, which may occur in 2008,
environmental legislation could have a significantsubstantial additional costs for the management of these
impact on Oglethorpe, those impacts cannot be fullywastes might be required of Oglethorpe. 
determined at this time and would depend in part on
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the final legislation and the development of high-level radioactive waste materials, including spent
implementing regulations. nuclear fuel. This Act requires the owner of nuclear

facilities to enter into disposal contracts with theOglethorpe, or generating facilities in which
Department of Energy (‘‘DOE’’) for such material.Oglethorpe has an interest, are also subject, from time
These contracts require each such owner to pay a fee,to time, to claims relating to operations and/or
which is currently one dollar per MWh for the netemissions, including actions by citizens to enforce
electricity generated and sold by each of its reactors. environmental regulations and claims for personal injury

due to such operations and/or emissions. Oglethorpe Contracts with DOE have been executed to provide
cannot predict the outcome of current or future actions, for the permanent disposal of spent nuclear fuel
the responsibility of Oglethorpe for a share of any produced at Plants Hatch and Vogtle. DOE failed to
damages awarded or any impact on facility operations. begin disposing of spent fuel in 1998 as required by the
Oglethorpe, however, does not believe that the current contracts, and GPC, as agent for the co-owners of the
actions will have a material adverse effect on its plants, is pursuing legal remedies against DOE for
financial position or results of operations. breach of contract. See Note 1 of Notes to Consolidated

Financial Statements for information regarding the
Nuclear Regulation outcome of this litigation. 

Oglethorpe is subject to the provisions of the Atomic Plants Hatch and Vogtle currently have on-site
Energy Act of 1954, as amended (the ‘‘Atomic Energy spent-fuel wet storage capacity and Plant Hatch has an
Act’’), which vests jurisdiction in the NRC over the on-site dry storage facility. The on-site dry storage
construction and operation of nuclear reactors, facility for Plant Hatch became operational in 2000 and
particularly with regard to certain public health, safety can be expanded to accommodate spent fuel through the
and antitrust matters. The National Environmental life of the plant. Plant Vogtle’s spent fuel pool storage
Policy Act has been construed to expand the jurisdiction is expected to be sufficient until 2015. Oglethorpe
of the NRC to consider the environmental impact of a expects that procurement of on-site dry storage capacity
facility licensed under the Atomic Energy Act. Plants at Plant Vogtle will commence in sufficient time to
Hatch and Vogtle are being operated under licenses maintain full-core discharge capability to the spent fuel
issued by the NRC. All aspects of the construction, pool. (See Note 1 of Notes to Consolidated Financial
operation and maintenance of nuclear power plants are Statements.) 
regulated by the NRC. From time to time, new NRC

For information concerning nuclear insurance, seeregulations require changes in the design, operation and
Note 8 of Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.maintenance of existing nuclear reactors. Operating
For information regarding NRC’s regulation relating tolicenses issued by the NRC are subject to revocation,
decommissioning of nuclear facilities and regardingsuspension or modification, and the operation of a
DOE’s assessments pursuant to the Energy Policy Actnuclear unit may be suspended if the NRC determines
for decontamination and decommissioning of nuclearthat the public interest, health or safety so requires. The
fuel enrichment facilities, see Note 1 of Notes tooperating licenses issued for each unit of Plants Hatch
Consolidated Financial Statements.and Vogtle expire in 2034 and 2038 and 2027 and

2029, respectively. An application to extend the licenses Federal Power Act
for each Unit at Plant Vogtle for an additional 20 years

Oglethorpe is subject to the provisions of the Federalwas submitted to the NRC in June 2007. 
Power Act applicable to licensees with respect to their

An application has been filed with the NRC for an hydroelectric developments. Rocky Mountain is a
Early Site Permit that would allow the construction of hydroelectric project subject to licensing by FERC. 
two additional Units at Plant Vogtle. See ‘‘OGLETHORPE

Oglethorpe has a license, expiring in 2027, for RockyPOWER CORPORATION – Future Power Resources’’
Mountain. See ‘‘PROPERTIES – Generating Facilities’’ forherein. 
additional information. 

Pursuant to the Nuclear Waste Policy Act of 1982, as
Upon or after the expiration of the license, theamended, the federal government has the responsibility

United States Government, by act of Congress, mayfor the final disposal of commercially produced
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take over the project or FERC may relicense the project licenses, under the same terms and conditions of the
either to the original licensee or to a new licensee. In existing license, until a new license is issued. 
the event of takeover or relicensing to another, the The Energy Policy Act of 2005 amended the Federal
original licensee is to be compensated in accordance Power Act to authorize FERC to establish regional
with the provisions of the Federal Power Act, such reliability organizations authorized to enforce reliability
compensation to reflect the net investment of the standards and to establish clear responsibility for FERC
licensee in the project, not in excess of the fair value of to prohibit manipulative energy trading practices. As a
the property taken, plus reasonable damages to other generation owner and participant in wholesale power
property of the licensee resulting from the severance transactions, Oglethorpe could be subject to penalties
therefrom of the property taken. If FERC does not act for violation of these standards and regulations.
on the new license application prior to the expiration of
the existing license, FERC is required to issue annual
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ITEM 1A. RISK FACTORS individual generating units not in compliance with these
regulations. The following describes the most significant risks, in

management’s view, that may affect Oglethorpe’s Additionally, litigation relating to environmental
business and financial condition. This discussion is not issues, including claims of property damage or personal
exhaustive, and there may be other risks that Oglethorpe injury caused by alleged exposure to hazardous
faces which are not described below. The risks materials, has increased in recent years. Likewise,
described below, as well as additional risks and actions by private citizen groups to enforce
uncertainties presently unknown to Oglethorpe or environmental laws and regulations are increasingly
currently not deemed significant, could negatively affect prevalent. While management does not currently
Oglethorpe’s business operations, financial condition, anticipate that any such litigation would have a material
and future results of operations. adverse effect on Oglethorpe’s financial condition, the

ultimate outcome of any such actions cannot be
Oglethorpe’s costs of compliance with environmental laws predicted. 
and regulations are significant and have increased in recent

In addition, existing environmental laws andyears, and Oglethorpe may face increased costs related to
regulations may be revised or new laws and regulationsenvironmental compliance, litigation or liabilities in the
seeking to protect the environment may be adopted orfuture.
become applicable to Oglethorpe’s facilities. Revised or

As with most electric utilities, Oglethorpe is subject additional laws and regulations, and in particular
to extensive federal, state and local laws and regulations climate change legislation or regulations, could result in
regarding air and water quality which, among other significant additional expense and operating restrictions
things, regulate emissions of pollutants, such as on Oglethorpe’s facilities or increased compliance costs
particulate matter, sulfur dioxide, nitrogen oxides and which may result in significant increases in the cost of
mercury into the air and discharges of other pollutants, electric service. The cost impact of such legislation
including heat, into waters. Oglethorpe is also subject to would depend upon the specific requirements enacted
federal, state and local waste disposal requirements that and cannot be determined at this time.
regulate the manner of transportation, storage and
disposal of various types of waste. Oglethorpe owns nuclear facilities, which give rise to

environmental, regulatory, financial and other risks, andGenerally, these environmental regulations are
may participate in the development of new nuclear facilitiesbecoming increasingly stringent and may require
in the future.Oglethorpe to change the design or operation of existing

facilities or change or delay the location, design, Oglethorpe owns a 30 percent undivided interest in
construction or operation of new facilities. These Plant Hatch and Plant Vogtle, each of which is a two
changes, in turn, may result in substantial increases in unit nuclear generating facility, and which collectively
the cost of electric service. Oglethorpe has in the past account for approximately 25 percent of Oglethorpe’s
committed significant capital expenditures to achieve generating capacity. Oglethorpe’s ownership interest in
and maintain compliance with these regulatory these facilities exposes it to various risks, including:
requirements at its facilities, and Oglethorpe expects

• potential liabilities relating to harmful effects onthat it will make significant capital expenditures related
the environment and human health resulting fromto environmental compliance in the future. 
the operation of these facilities and the on-site

While Oglethorpe will continue to exercise its best storage, handling and disposal of spent nuclear
efforts to comply with all applicable regulations, there fuel;
can be no assurance that Oglethorpe will always be in

• significant capital expenditures relating tocompliance with all current and future environmental
maintenance, operation, security and repair ofrequirements. Failure to comply with these
these facilities, including repairs required by therequirements, even if such failure is caused by factors
NRC;beyond Oglethorpe’s control, could result in the

imposition of civil and criminal penalties against • potential liabilities arising out of nuclear incidents
Oglethorpe, as well as the complete shutdown of or terrorist attacks, including the payment of
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respective insurance premiums, whether at its own year. Any participation by Oglethorpe in the
plants or the plants of other nuclear owners; and development of new nuclear facilities could increase its

exposure to the risks described above. • risks related to the expected costs, and financing
thereof, of decommissioning these facilities at the In addition, the construction of large generating
end of their operational life. plants involves significant financial risk. Moreover, no

nuclear plants have been constructed in the UnitedCurrently, there is no national repository for spent
States using advanced designs. Therefore, estimated costnuclear fuel, and progress towards such a repository has
of construction of any new nuclear plant is inherentlybeen disappointing. Spent nuclear fuel from Plants
uncertain. If Oglethorpe chooses to participate in theHatch and Vogtle is currently stored in on-site storage
development of any new nuclear units, it could befacilities. Oglethorpe currently forecasts that the on-site
exposed to the risk of cost uncertainty in connectionstorage capabilities at Plant Hatch and Plant Vogtle can
with such projects.be expanded to accommodate spent fuel through the life

of the plants. Oglethorpe could be adversely affected if it is unable to
Oglethorpe maintains an internal fund and an continue to operate its facilities in a successful manner.

external trust fund for the expected cost of The operation of Oglethorpe’s generating facilities
decommissioning its nuclear facilities; however, it is may be adversely impacted by various factors,
possible that decommissioning costs and liabilities could including:
exceed the amount of these funds. Additionally,

• the risk of equipment failure or operator error;Oglethorpe’s nuclear units require licenses that, in some
cases, need to be renewed or extended in order to • operating limitations that may be imposed by
continue operating beyond their initial forty-year terms. regulatory requirements;
As a result of potential terrorist threats and increased

• compliance with mandatory reliability standards;public scrutiny, it may be more difficult or expensive to
renew or extend these licenses. • labor disputes or shortages;

The NRC has broad authority under federal law to • fuel or material supply interruptions;
impose licensing and safety-related requirements for the

• terrorist attacks; oroperation of these facilities. If these facilities were
found to be out of compliance with applicable • catastrophic events such as fires, floods, explosions
requirements, the NRC may impose fines or shut down or similar occurrences. 
one or more units of these facilities until compliance is

These or similar negative events could interrupt orachieved. Revised safety requirements issued by the
limit electric generation or increase the cost ofNRC have, in the past, necessitated substantial capital
operating Oglethorpe’s facilities, which could have theexpenditures at other nuclear generating facilities. In
effect of increasing the cost of electric service providedaddition, while Oglethorpe has no reason to anticipate a
by Oglethorpe to the Members.serious incident at either of these plants, if an incident

did occur, it could result in substantial costs to Oglethorpe may incur significant costs related to ongoing
Oglethorpe. A major incident at a nuclear facility capital expenditures at its existing generating facilities and
anywhere in the world could cause the NRC to limit or for the potential construction or acquisition of new
prohibit the operation or licensing of any domestic generating facilities.
nuclear unit. 

Oglethorpe’s existing facilities require ongoing capital
Oglethorpe is participating with the other co-owners expenditures in order to maintain efficient and reliable

of Plant Vogtle in the potential development of up to operations. Many of Oglethorpe’s facilities were
two additional nuclear units at the Plant Vogtle site. constructed years ago, and as a result may require
Oglethorpe has an option to participate in up to significant capital expenditures in order to maintain
30 percent of any new project and possibly more, under efficiency and reliability, and to comply with changing
certain circumstances arising from reduced participation environmental requirements. 
by other co-owners. The extent of Oglethorpe’s ultimate
involvement, if any, will be determined within the next
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In addition, due to continued growth in their service Therefore, in the future Oglethorpe’s reliance on
territories, the Members may request that Oglethorpe access to both short-term and long-term capital markets
expand its existing generating facilities or build or may become an increasingly important factor.
acquire new generating facilities, which would require Oglethorpe has successfully accessed the capital markets
significant capital expenditures. The completion of in the past, and believes that it will maintain sufficient
construction projects without delays or cost overruns is access to capital markets based on current credit ratings.
subject to substantial risks, including: However, Oglethorpe’s credit ratings reflect the views of

the rating agencies, which could change at any point in• shortages and inconsistent quality of equipment,
the future. Oglethorpe’s borrowing costs could increasematerials and labor;
and its potential pool of investors, funding sources and

• work stoppages; liquidity could decrease if its credit ratings were
lowered, particularly below investment grade. • permits, approvals and other regulatory matters;

In addition, certain market disruptions could• adverse weather conditions;
constrain, at least temporarily, Oglethorpe’s liquidity

• unforeseen engineering problems; and ability to access capital on favorable terms or at all.
Such disruptions include:• environmental and geological conditions;

• capital market conditions generally, including the• delays or increased costs to interconnect its
current turmoil and uncertainty in the capital andfacilities to transmission grids;
credit markets;

• unanticipated increases in the costs of materials
• an economic downturn;and labor; and
• the overall health of the energy industry;• attention to other projects. 
• negative events in the energy industry, such as aAll of these risks could have the effect of increasing

bankruptcy of an unrelated energy company;the cost of electric service provided by Oglethorpe to
the Members. • increased scrutiny by lenders of the risks of

construction of coal-fired power plants due to
Oglethorpe’s ability to access capital could be adversely concerns over greenhouse gas emissions;
affected by various factors, including potential limitations on

• war or threat of war; orthe availability of RUS loans.
• terrorist attacks or threatened attacks on theOglethorpe relies on access to capital as a significant

facilities of Oglethorpe or unrelated energysource of liquidity for capital requirements not satisfied
companies. by cash flow generated from operations. Historically,

Oglethorpe and other electric generating cooperatives If Oglethorpe’s ability to access capital becomes
have relied on federal loan programs guaranteed by significantly constrained for any of the reasons stated
RUS in order to meet a significant portion of their above, its ability to finance ongoing capital expenditures
long-term financing needs. However, the availability and required to maintain existing generating facilities and to
magnitude of annual RUS funding levels are subject to construct or acquire future power supply facilities could
the federal budget appropriations process, and therefore be limited, its interest costs could increase and its
are subject to uncertainty because of periodic budgetary financial condition and future results of operations could
pressures faced by Congress. In addition, a new wave be adversely affected.
of generation construction nationwide among electric
cooperatives is resulting in increased competition for Changes in power generation technology could result in the
available RUS funding levels. If the amount of cost of Oglethorpe’s electric service being less competitive.
RUS-guaranteed loan funds available to Oglethorpe in

Oglethorpe’s business model is to provide thethe future is decreased or eliminated, Oglethorpe may
Members with wholesale electric power at the lowesthave to seek alternative sources of financing (see
possible cost. Other technologies currently exist or are‘‘OGLETHORPE POWER CORPORATION – Relationship
in development, such as fuel cells, microturbines,with RUS’’). 
windmills and solar cells, that may in the future be
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capable of producing electric power at costs that are Future deregulation or restructuring of the electric industry
comparable with, or lower than, Oglethorpe’s cost of in Georgia could subject the Members to increased
generating power. If these technologies were to develop competition and adversely affect their ability to satisfy their

financial obligations to Oglethorpe.sufficient economies of scale, the value of Oglethorpe’s
generating facilities could be adversely affected. Under current Georgia law, Oglethorpe’s Members

generally have the exclusive right to provide retail
Changes in fuel prices could have an adverse effect on electric service in their respective territories, subject to
Oglethorpe’s cost of electric service. limited exceptions. Some states have implemented

Oglethorpe is exposed to the risk of changing prices various forms of retail competition among power
for fuels, including coal, natural gas and uranium. suppliers. While no such legislation has been enacted or
Oglethorpe has taken steps to manage this exposure by is currently proposed in Georgia, there is no assurance
entering into fixed or capped price contracts for some that legislative, regulatory or other changes will not in
of its coal requirements. Oglethorpe has also entered the future lead to increased competition in the electric
into natural gas swap arrangements on behalf of some industry. If Oglethorpe and its Members are unable to
of its Members designed to manage the exposure of adapt to any such changes, the prices they charge for
those Members to fluctuations in the price of natural electric service could become less competitive. While
gas. The operator of the nuclear plants owned by Oglethorpe provides electric service to the Members
Oglethorpe manages price and supply risk through use under long-term, take-or-pay contracts providing for
of long term fixed or capped price contracts with joint and several liability among the Members, if one or
multiple vendors of uranium ore mining, conversion and more Members were to experience significant financial
enrichment services. However, these arrangements do losses as a result of increased competition, the Members
not cover all of Oglethorpe’s and the Members’ risk may have difficulty performing their obligations to
exposure to increases in the prices of fuels. Therefore, Oglethorpe under their Wholesale Power Contracts.
increases in fuel prices could significantly increase the

Oglethorpe’s ability to meet its financial obligations could becost of electric service provided by Oglethorpe to the
adversely affected if Members fail to perform theirMembers.
contractual obligations to Oglethorpe.

Oglethorpe may not be able to obtain an adequate supply of Oglethorpe depends primarily on revenue from the
fuel, which could limit its ability to operate its facilities. Members under the Wholesale Power Contracts to meet

Oglethorpe obtains its fuel supplies, including coal, its financial obligations. The Members are Oglethorpe’s
natural gas and nuclear, from a number of different owners and Oglethorpe does not control their operations
suppliers. Any disruptions in Oglethorpe’s fuel supplies, or financial performance. Further, Members must
including disruptions due to weather, labor relations, forecast their load growth and power supply needs. If
environmental regulations, or other factors affecting Members acquire more power supply resources than
Oglethorpe’s fuel suppliers, could result in Oglethorpe needed, whether from Oglethorpe or other suppliers, or
having insufficient levels of fuel supplies. For example, fail to acquire sufficient supplies, Members’ rates could
rail transportation bottlenecks have from time to time increase excessively and affect financial performance.
caused transportation companies to be unable to Thus, Oglethorpe is exposed to the risk that one or
perform their contractual obligations to deliver coal on a more Members could default in the performance of
timely basis and have resulted in lower than normal their obligations to Oglethorpe under the Wholesale
coal inventories at certain of Oglethorpe’s generating Power Contracts. Oglethorpe’s ability to satisfy its
plants. Similar inventory shortages could occur in the financial obligations could be adversely affected if one
future. Natural gas supplies can also be subject to or more of the Members, particularly one of the larger
disruption due to natural disasters and similar events. Members, defaulted on their payment obligations to
For example, hurricanes in the Gulf of Mexico during Oglethorpe. Although the Wholesale Power Contracts
2005 resulted in short-term limitations in the production obligate non-defaulting Members to pay the amounts of
and distribution of natural gas, resulting in shortages any payment default, pursuant to a pro rata step-up
and significant increases in the price of natural gas. Any formula, there can be no guarantee that other Members
failure to maintain an adequate inventory of fuel would be able to fulfill this obligation.
supplies could require Oglethorpe to operate other

ITEM 1B. UNRESOLVED STAFF COMMENTSgenerating plants at higher cost or require the Members
to purchase higher-cost energy from other sources. None.
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ITEM 2. PROPERTIES

Generating Facilities

The following table sets forth certain information with respect to Oglethorpe’s generating facilities, all of which
are in commercial operation.

Oglethorpe’s
Share of

NamePlate Commercial License
Type of Percentage Capacity Operation Expiration

Facilities Fuel Interest (MW) Date Date

Plant Hatch (near Baxley, Ga.)
Unit No. 1 Nuclear 30 243.0 1975 2034
Unit No. 2 Nuclear 30 246.0 1979 2038

Plant Vogtle (near Waynesboro,
Ga.)
Unit No. 1 Nuclear 30 348.0 1987 2027 (1)

Unit No. 2 Nuclear 30 348.0 1989 2029 (1)

Plant Wansley (near Carrollton,
Ga.)
Unit No. 1 Coal 30 259.5 1976 N/A (2)

Unit No. 2 Coal 30 259.5 1978 N/A (2)

Combustion Turbine Oil 30 14.8 1980 N/A (2)

Plant Scherer (near Forsyth, Ga.)
Unit No. 1 Coal 60 490.8 1982 N/A (2)

Unit No. 2 Coal 60 490.8 1984 N/A (2)

Rocky Mountain (near Rome, Ga.) Pumped
Storage Hydro 74.61 632.5 1995 2027

Doyle (near Monroe, Ga.) Gas 100 325.0 (3) 2000 N/A (2)

Talbot (near Columbus, Ga.)
Units No. 1-4 Gas 100 412.0 2002 N/A (2)

Units No. 5-6 Gas-Oil 100 206.0 2003 N/A (2)

Chattahoochee (near Carrollton,
Ga.) Gas 100 468.0 2003 N/A (2)

Total 4,743.9

(1) An application to extend these licenses for an additional 20 years was filed in June 2007.

(2) Fossil-fired units do not operate under operating licenses similar to those granted to nuclear units by the NRC and to hydroelectric plants by FERC.

(3) Nominal plant capacity identified in the Power Purchase and Sale Agreement with Doyle I, LLC. (See ‘‘The Plant Agreements – Doyle’’ below.)
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Plant Performance of February 29, 2008, Oglethorpe’s coal stockpile at
Plant Scherer contained a 70-day supply based onThe following table sets forth certain operating
continuous operation. Plant Scherer burnsperformance information of each of Oglethorpe’s
sub-bituminous coal purchased from coal mines in thegenerating facilities:
Powder River Basin in Wyoming. 

Equivalent Oglethorpe separately dispatches Plant Wansley and
Availability (1) Capacity Factor (2)

Plant Scherer, but uses GPC as its agent for fuelUnit 2007 2006 2005 2007 2006 2005
procurement. Oglethorpe currently leases approximately

Plant Hatch
1,200 rail cars to transport coal to these two facilities. Unit No. 1 97% 85% 91% 98% 86% 92%

Unit No. 2 87 98 86 87 99 87 For information relating to the impact that the Clean
Plant Vogtle Air Act may have on Oglethorpe, see ‘‘BUSINESS –

Unit No. 1 100 85 90 101 86 91
ENVIRONMENTAL AND OTHER REGULATION – Clean AirUnit No. 2 83 91 84 84 92 85
Act.’’Plant Wansley

Unit No. 1 83 98 89 77 88 78
Nuclear Fuel. GPC, as operating agent, has theUnit No. 2 98 85 99 91 77 86

responsibility to procure nuclear fuel for Plants HatchPlant Scherer
Unit No. 1 86 90 97 80 80 88 and Vogtle. GPC has contracted with Southern Nuclear
Unit No. 2 90 97 87 85 87 80 Operating Company (‘‘SNOC’’) to operate these plants,

Rocky Mountain (3) including nuclear fuel procurement. SNOC has
Unit No. 1 86 91 91 22 24 26 contracted with multiple suppliers for uranium ore,
Unit No. 2 97 88 97 25 17 10

conversion services, enrichment services and fuelUnit No. 3 37 78 89 6 16 21
fabrication to satisfy nuclear fuel requirements. MostDoyle (3)(4) 92 100 98 2 2 2
contracts are short to medium term. The nuclear fuelTalbot (3) 90 96 97 3 2 1
supply and related services are expected to be adequate

Chattahoochee 91 95 87 38 22 19
to satisfy current and future nuclear generation

(1) Equivalent Availability is a measure of the percentage of time that a unit was available to generate
requirements.if called upon, adjusted for periods when the unit is partially derated from the ‘‘maximum

dependable capacity’’ rating.
Natural Gas. Oglethorpe purchases the natural gas,(2) Capacity Factor is a measure of the output of a unit as a percentage of the maximum output,

based on the ‘‘maximum dependable capacity’’ rating, over the period of measure. including transportation and other related services,
(3) Rocky Mountain, Doyle and Talbot primarily operate as peaking plants, which results in low needed to operate Doyle, Talbot and Chattahoochee andcapacity factors.

the combustion turbines owned by Hartwell Energy(4) Equivalent Availability for each of Doyle’s 5 units is measured only during the period May 15 –
September 15, reflecting the contractual availability commitment of Doyle I, LLC. The units may be Limited Partnership. Oglethorpe purchases natural gas
dispatched by Oglethorpe during other periods if the units are available. in the spot market and under agreements at indexed
The nuclear refueling cycle for Plants Hatch and prices. Oglethorpe has entered into hedge agreements to

Vogtle exceeds twelve months. Therefore, in some manage a portion of its exposure to fluctuations in the
calendar years the units at these plants are not taken out market price of natural gas. Oglethorpe manages
of service for refueling, resulting in higher levels of exposure to such risks only with respect to Members
equivalent availability and capacity factor. that elect to receive such services. Oglethorpe purchases

transportation under long-term firm and short-term firm
Fuel Supply and non-firm contracts. Oglethorpe has also purchased a

limited amount of storage capacity in a storage cavernCoal. Coal for Plant Wansley is currently purchased
that is under construction, with an expected in-serviceunder term contracts and in spot market transactions,
date of mid-2008. (See ‘‘QUANTITATIVE ANDprimarily from coal mines in the eastern United States.
QUALITATIVE DISCLOSURES ABOUT MARKET RISK –As of February 29, 2008, Oglethorpe had a 53-day coal
Commodity Price Risk.’’)supply at Plant Wansley based on continuous operation.

Coal for Scherer Units No. 1 and No. 2 is purchased
under term contracts and in spot market transactions. As
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Co-Owners of Plants

Plants Hatch, Vogtle, Wansley and Scherer Units No. 1 and No. 2 are co-owned by Oglethorpe, GPC, MEAG and
Dalton, and Rocky Mountain is co-owned by Oglethorpe and GPC. Each such co-owner owns or leases undivided
interests in the amounts shown in the following table (which excludes the Plant Wansley combustion turbine).
Oglethorpe is the operating agent for Rocky Mountain. GPC is the operating agent for each of the other plants.

Nuclear Coal-Fired Pumped Storage

Scherer Units
Plant Hatch Plant Vogtle Plant Wansley No. 1 & No. 2 Rocky Mountain Total

% MW (1) % MW (1) % MW (1) % MW (1) % MW (1) MW (1)

Oglethorpe 30.0 489 30.0 696 30.0 519 60.0 982 74.61 633 3,319
GPC 50.1 817 45.7 1,060 53.5 926 8.4 137 25.39 215 3,155
MEAG 17.7 288 22.7 527 15.1 261 30.2 494 – – 1,570
Dalton 2.2 36 1.6 37 1.4 24 1.4 23 – – 120

Total 100.0 1,630 100.0 2,320 100.0 1,730 100.0 1,636 100.00 848 8,164

(1) Based on nameplate ratings.

Georgia Power Company City of Dalton, Georgia

GPC is a wholly owned subsidiary of The Southern Dalton Utilities is a combined utility that provides
Company and is engaged primarily in the generation electric, gas, water and wastewater services to the city
and purchase of electric energy and the transmission, of Dalton (located in northwest Georgia) and some of
distribution and sale of such energy. GPC distributes the surrounding communities. It presently serves more
and sells energy within the State of Georgia at retail in than 10,000 residential, commercial and industrial
over 600 communities (including Athens, Atlanta, electric customers.
Augusta, Columbus, Macon, Rome and Valdosta), as

The Plant Agreementswell as in rural areas, and at wholesale to some of
Oglethorpe’s Members, MEAG and two Hatch, Wansley, Vogtle and Scherer
municipalities. GPC is the largest supplier of electric

Oglethorpe’s rights and obligations with respect toenergy in the State of Georgia. (See ‘‘BUSINESS –
Plants Hatch, Wansley, Vogtle and Scherer are containedOglethorpe Power Corporation – Relationship
in a number of contracts between Oglethorpe and GPCwith GPC.’’) GPC is subject to the informational
and, in some instances, MEAG and Dalton. Oglethorperequirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as
is a party to four Purchase and Ownership Participationamended, and, in accordance therewith, files reports and
Agreements (‘‘Ownership Agreements’’) under which itother information with the Securities and Exchange
acquired from GPC a 30 percent undivided interest inCommission (‘‘SEC’’).
each of Plants Hatch, Wansley and Vogtle, a 60 percent
undivided interest in Scherer Units No. 1 and No. 2 andMunicipal Electric Authority of Georgia
a 30 percent undivided interest in those facilities at

The Municipal Electric Authority of Georgia (known Plant Scherer intended to be used in common by
as MEAG Power) is a state-chartered, municipal joint- Scherer Units No. 1, No. 2, No. 3 and No. 4 (the
action agency that provides capacity and energy to its ‘‘Scherer Common Facilities’’). Oglethorpe has also
membership of 49 municipal electric utilities (including entered into four Operating Agreements (‘‘Operating
48 cities and one county in the State of Georgia). Agreements’’) relating to the operation and maintenance
MEAG Power has wholesale take-or-pay power sales of Plants Hatch, Wansley, Vogtle and Scherer,
contracts with each of its 49 participants that extend to respectively. The Ownership Agreements and Operating
June 2054. The participants are located in 39 of the Agreements relating to Plants Hatch and Wansley are
State’s 159 counties and collectively serve two-party agreements between Oglethorpe and GPC.
approximately 300,000 electric consumers (meters). The Ownership Agreements and Operating Agreements
MEAG Power is the state’s third largest power supplier relating to Plants Vogtle and Scherer are agreements
behind Oglethorpe. among Oglethorpe, GPC, MEAG and Dalton. The

parties to each Ownership Agreement and Operating
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Agreement are referred to as ‘‘participants’’ with respect right of any co-owner to disapprove large discretionary
to each such agreement. capital improvements. 

In 1985, in four transactions, Oglethorpe sold its In 1993, the co-owners of Plants Hatch and Vogtle
entire 60 percent undivided ownership interest in entered into the Amended and Restated Nuclear
Scherer Unit No. 2 to four separate owner trusts (the Managing Board Agreement, which provides for a
‘‘Lessors’’) established by institutional investors. managing board to coordinate the implementation and
Oglethorpe retained all of its rights and obligations as a administration of the Plant Hatch and Plant Vogtle
participant under the Ownership and Operating Ownership and Operating Agreements, provides for
Agreements relating to Scherer Unit No. 2 for the term increased rights for the co-owners regarding certain
of the leases. Oglethorpe’s leases expire in 2013, with decisions and allows GPC to contract with a third party
options to renew for a total of 8.5 years. Oglethorpe for the operation of the nuclear units. In March
also has fair market value purchase options at specified 1997, GPC designated SNOC as the operator of Plants
dates, including 2013 and the end of lease renewal Hatch and Vogtle, pursuant to the Nuclear Operating
terms. These transactions are treated as capital leases by Agreement between GPC and SNOC, which the
Oglethorpe for financial reporting purposes. (See Note 4 co-owners had previously approved. In connection with
of Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.) (In the the amendments to the Plant Scherer Ownership and
following discussion, references to participants Operating Agreements, the co-owners of Plant Scherer
‘‘owning’’ a specified percentage of interests include entered into the Plant Scherer Managing Board
Oglethorpe’s rights as a deemed owner with respect to Agreement which provides for a managing board to
its leased interests in Scherer Unit No. 2.) coordinate the implementation and administration of the

Plant Scherer Ownership and Operating Agreements andThe Ownership Agreements appoint GPC as agent
provides for increased rights for the co-ownerswith sole authority and responsibility for, among other
regarding certain decisions, but does not alter GPC’sthings, the planning, licensing, design, construction,
role as agent with respect to Plant Scherer. renewal, addition, modification and disposal of Plants

Hatch, Vogtle, Wansley and Scherer Units No. 1 and The Operating Agreements provide that Oglethorpe is
No. 2 and the Scherer Common Facilities. Each entitled to a percentage of the net capacity and net
Operating Agreement gives GPC, as agent, sole energy output of each plant or unit equal to its
authority and responsibility for the management, percentage undivided interest owned or leased in such
control, maintenance and operation of the plant to plant or unit. GPC, as agent, schedules and dispatches
which it relates. Each Operating Agreement also Plants Hatch and Vogtle. The Plant Scherer and
provides for the use of power and energy from the plant Wansley ownership and operating agreements allow
and the sharing of the costs of the plant by the each co-owner (i) to dispatch separately its respective
participants in accordance with their respective interests ownership interest in conjunction with contracting
in the plant. In performing its responsibilities under the separately for long-term coal purchases procured
Ownership and Operating Agreements, GPC is required by GPC and (ii) to procure separately long-term coal
to comply with prudent utility practices. GPC’s purchases. Oglethorpe separately dispatches its
liabilities with respect to its duties under the Ownership ownership share of Scherer Units No. 1 and No. 2 and
and Operating Agreements are limited by the terms of Plant Wansley. 
thereof. For Plants Hatch and Vogtle, each participant is

Under the Ownership Agreements, Oglethorpe is responsible for a percentage of Operating Costs (as
obligated to pay a percentage of capital costs of the defined in the Operating Agreements) and fuel costs of
respective plants, as incurred, equal to the percentage each plant or unit equal to the percentage of its
interest which it owns or leases at each plant. GPC has undivided interest which is owned or leased in such
responsibility for budgeting capital expenditures for plant or unit. For Scherer Units No. 1 and No. 2 and
Scherer Units No. 1 and 2 subject to certain limited for Plant Wansley, each party is responsible for its fuel
rights of the participants to disapprove capital budgets costs and for variable Operating Costs in proportion to
proposed by GPC and to substitute alternative capital the net energy output for its ownership interest, and is
budgets. GPC has responsibility for budgeting capital responsible for a percentage of fixed Operating Costs
expenditures for Plants Hatch and Vogtle, subject to the equal to the percentage of its undivided interest which
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is owned or leased in such plant or unit. GPC is The Rocky Mountain Pumped Storage Hydroelectric
required to furnish budgets for Operating Costs, fuel Ownership Participation Agreement, by and between
plans and scheduled maintenance plans. In the case of Oglethorpe and GPC (the ‘‘Rocky Mountain Ownership
Scherer Units No. 1 and No. 2, the participants have Agreement’’) appoints Oglethorpe as agent with sole
limited rights to disapprove such budgets proposed authority and responsibility for, among other things, the
by GPC and to substitute alternative budgets. The planning, licensing, design, construction, operation,
Ownership Agreements and Operating Agreements maintenance and disposal of Rocky Mountain. The
provide that, should a participant fail to make any Rocky Mountain Pumped Storage Hydroelectric Project
payment when due, among other things, such nonpaying Operating Agreement (the ‘‘Rocky Mountain Operating
participant’s rights to output of capacity and energy Agreement’’) gives Oglethorpe, as agent, sole authority
would be suspended. and responsibility for the management, control,

maintenance and operation of Rocky Mountain. The Operating Agreement for Plant Hatch will
remain in effect with respect to Hatch Units No. 1 and In general, each co-owner is responsible for payment
No. 2 until 2009 and 2012, respectively. Oglethorpe has of its respective ownership share of all Operating Costs
entered into an agreement with GPC, subject to RUS and Pumping Energy Costs (as defined in the Rocky
approval, to extend the Operating Agreement for so Mountain Operating Agreement) as well as costs
long as an NRC operating license exists for each unit. incurred as the result of any separate schedule or
(See ‘‘BUSINESS – ENVIRONMENTAL AND OTHER independent dispatch. A co-owner’s share of net
REGULATION – Nuclear Regulation.’’) The Operating available capacity and net energy is the same as its
Agreement for Plant Vogtle will remain in effect with respective ownership interest under the Rocky Mountain
respect to each unit at Plant Vogtle until 2018. The Ownership Agreement. Oglethorpe and GPC have each
Operating Agreement for Plant Wansley will remain in elected to schedule separately their respective ownership
effect with respect to Plant Wansley Units No. 1 and interests. The Rocky Mountain Operating Agreement
No. 2 until 2016 and 2018, respectively. The Operating will terminate in 2035. The Rocky Mountain Ownership
Agreement for Scherer Units No. 1 and No. 2 will and Operating Agreements provide that, should a
remain in effect with respect to Scherer Units No. 1 and co-owner fail to make any payment when due, among
No. 2 until 2022 and 2024, respectively. Upon other things, such non-paying co-owner’s rights to
termination of each Operating Agreement, following output of capacity and energy or to exercise any other
any extension agreed to by the parties, GPC will retain right of a co-owner would be suspended until all
such powers as are necessary in connection with the amounts due, with interest, had been paid. The capacity
disposition of the property of the applicable plant, and and energy of a non-paying co-owner may be purchased
the rights and obligations of the parties shall continue by a paying co-owner or sold to a third party. 
with respect to actions and expenses taken or incurred In late 1996 and early 1997, Oglethorpe completed
in connection with such disposition. lease transactions for its 74.61 percent undivided

In conjunction with the potential development of ownership interest in Rocky Mountain. Under the terms
additional units at Plant Vogtle (see ‘‘BUSINESS – of these transactions, Oglethorpe leased the facility to
OGLETHORPE’S POWER SUPPLY RESOURCES – Future three institutional investors for the useful life of the
Power Resources’’), the co-owners have entered into facility, who in turn leased it back to Oglethorpe for a
amendments to the Operating Agreement for Plant term of 30 years. Oglethorpe will continue to control
Vogtle and the Nuclear Managing Board Agreement, and operate Rocky Mountain during the leaseback term.
and have entered into an Ownership Agreement that For more information about the structure of these lease
would govern participation in Vogtle Units No. 3 and transactions, see ‘‘MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND

No. 4, if any. ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS OF

OPERATIONS – Financial Condition – Off-Balance Sheet
Rocky Mountain Arrangements – Rocky Mountain Lease Transactions.’’

Oglethorpe owns a 74.61 percent undivided interest
Doylein Rocky Mountain and GPC owns the remaining

25.39 percent undivided interest. Oglethorpe has an agreement with Doyle I LLC, a
limited liability company owned by one of Oglethorpe’s
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Members, Walton EMC, to purchase the output of a ITEM 3. LEGAL PROCEEDINGS
gas-fired combustion turbine generating facility with a Oglethorpe is a party to various actions and
nominal contract rating of 325 MW over a 15-year proceedings incidental to its normal business. Liability
term. Delivery commenced May 15, 2000. in the event of final adverse determinations in any of

these matters is either covered by insurance or, in theDuring the term of the agreement, Oglethorpe has the
opinion of Oglethorpe’s management, after consultationright and obligation to purchase all of the capacity and
with counsel, should not in the aggregate have aenergy from the facility. Oglethorpe is obligated to pay
material adverse effect on the financial position orto Doyle I, LLC each month a capacity charge based on
results of operations of Oglethorpe. a performance rating and an energy charge equal to all

costs of operating the facility. Oglethorpe is also For information about environmental matters that
obligated to pay the actual operation and maintenance could have an effect on Oglethorpe, see Note 12 of
costs and the costs of capital improvements. Oglethorpe Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.
is responsible for supplying all natural gas necessary to
operate the facility. Oglethorpe has the right to dispatch ITEM 4. SUBMISSION OF MATTERS TO A VOTE OF
the facility. SECURITY HOLDERS

Doyle I, LLC operates the facility. Doyle I, LLC Not applicable.
must make the units available from May 15 to
September 15 each year. Subject to air permit and other
limitations, Oglethorpe may dispatch the facility at other
times to the extent that the facility is available. 

Oglethorpe has an option to purchase the facility at
the end of the term of the agreement at a fixed price.
This agreement is treated as a capital lease of the
facility by Oglethorpe for financial reporting purposes.
(See Note 4 of Notes to Consolidated Financial
Statements.)
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PART II

ITEM 5. MARKET FOR REGISTRANT’S COMMON EQUITY, RELATED STOCKHOLDER MATTERS AND ISSUER
PURCHASES OF EQUITY SECURITIES

Not applicable.

ITEM 6. SELECTED FINANCIAL DATA

The following table presents selected historical financial data of Oglethorpe. The financial data presented as of
the end of and for each year in the five-year period ended December 31, 2007, have been derived from the audited
financial statements of Oglethorpe. This data should be read in conjunction with ‘‘MANAGEMENT’S
DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS OF OPERATIONS’’ and the
‘‘FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SUPPLEMENTARY DATA.’’

(dollars in thousands)

2007 2006 2005 2004 2003

Operating revenues:
Sales to Members $ 1,149,657 $ 1,127,423 $ 1,136,463 $ 1,279,465 $ 1,167,605
Sales to non-Members 1,585 1,456 33,060 33,307 35,948

Total operating revenues 1,151,242 1,128,879 1,169,523 1,312,772 1,203,553

Operating expenses:
Fuel 415,125 374,144 365,073 290,106 234,172
Production 246,675 254,658 251,830 248,084 253,865
Purchased power 155,005 179,129 255,616 402,941 359,447
Depreciation and amortization 131,908 157,303 153,030 153,126 141,301
Accretion 19,326 21,932 33,996 20,456 7,815
Income taxes – – – (3) (459)
Gain on sale of emission allowances (394) (39,529) (83,098) – –

Total operating expenses 967,645 947,637 976,447 1,114,710 996,141

Operating margin 183,597 181,242 193,076 198,062 207,412
Other income, net 58,485 56,469 45,123 42,228 32,737
Net interest charges (223,021) (219,510) (220,546) (223,053) (223,300)

Net margin $ 19,061 $ 18,201 $ 17,653 $ 17,237 $ 16,849

Electric plant, net:
In service $ 3,161,954 $ 3,274,080 $ 3,427,101 $ 3,547,337 $ 3,665,991
Nuclear fuel, at amortized cost 130,138 119,076 94,159 87,941 90,283
Construction work in progress 189,102 68,145 26,721 22,830 26,212

Total electric plant $ 3,481,194 $ 3,461,301 $ 3,547,981 $ 3,658,108 $ 3,782,486

Total assets $ 4,937,320 $ 4,901,745 $ 4,826,916 $ 4,813,042 $ 4,948,117

Capitalization:
Long-term debt $ 3,409,038 $ 3,402,094 $ 3,238,648 $ 3,351,664 $ 3,534,185
Obligations under capital leases 286,729 313,821 332,434 344,412 360,697
Obligation under Rocky Mountain transactions 101,272 94,772 88,689 83,012 77,684
Patronage capital and membership fees 516,570 497,509 479,308 461,655 444,418
Accumulated other comprehensive loss (32,691) (28,988) (35,498) (46,760) (50,534)

Subtotal 4,280,918 4,279,208 4,103,581 4,193,983 4,366,450
Less: long-term debt and capital leases due within one year (143,400) (234,621) (217,743) (190,835) (237,522)

Total capitalization $ 4,137,518 $ 4,044,587 $ 3,885,838 $ 4,003,148 $ 4,128,928

Property additions $ 194,739 $ 134,518 $ 69,744 $ 76,531 $ 166,674

Energy supply (megawatt-hours):
Generated 21,577,805 21,272,913 20,962,600 21,035,609 18,956,147
Purchased 1,593,864 2,108,654 3,812,809 11,167,140 10,888,883

Available for sale 23,171,669 23,381,567 24,775,409 32,202,749 29,845,030

Member revenues per kWh sold 5.04¢ 4.90¢ 4.79¢ 4.10¢ 4.00¢
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ITEM 7. MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND of its financial requirements. The year 2007 was no
ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AND exception as revenues were sufficient, but only
RESULTS OF OPERATIONS sufficient, to recover all costs and to satisfy all debt

service obligations and financial covenants, includingForward-Looking Statements and Associated Risks
Oglethorpe’s annual margin requirement.

This Annual Report on Form 10-K contains
In 2005, each of Oglethorpe’s Members extended theforward-looking statements, including statements

base term of their wholesale power contract withregarding, among other items, (i) anticipated trends in
Oglethorpe by 25 years to 2050. This term is sufficientthe business of Oglethorpe, (ii) Oglethorpe’s future
to cover the projected remaining useful lives of all ofpower supply requirements, resources and
Oglethorpe’s assets. In connection with the contractarrangements, (iii) Oglethorpe’s expected future capital
extension, Oglethorpe undertook a systematic programexpenditures and (iv) disclosures regarding market risk
to refinance or otherwise reamortize a portion of itsincluded in ‘‘QUANTITATIVE AND QUALITATIVE
long-term debt to better match the principalDISCLOSURES ABOUT MARKET RISK.’’ Some forward-
amortization of debt to the projected useful lives of itslooking statements can be identified by use of terms
assets. Significant progress on this program occurred insuch as ‘‘may,’’ ‘‘will,’’ ‘‘expects,’’ ‘‘anticipates,’’
2006 and 2007, and this initiative should be‘‘believes,’’ ‘‘intends,’’ ‘‘projects,’’ ‘‘plans’’ or similar
substantially completed by the end of 2008. terms. These forward-looking statements are based

largely on Oglethorpe’s current expectations and are Throughout 2007, Oglethorpe continued to maintain
subject to a number of risks and uncertainties, some of a strong liquidity position that is comprised of a
which are beyond Oglethorpe’s control. For some of diversified, cost-effective mix of cash (including
the factors that could cause actual results to differ short-term investments), committed lines of credit and a
materially from those anticipated by these forward- commercial paper program. Unrestricted available
looking statements, see ‘‘RISK FACTORS.’’ In light of liquidity at year-end was $841 million. 
these risks and uncertainties, Oglethorpe can give no

Although Members have had the option to acquireassurance that events anticipated by the forward-
resources from other suppliers since 1997, in 2003,looking statements contained in this Annual Report on
Oglethorpe entered into amended agreements with itsForm 10-K will in fact transpire.
Members giving the Members direct responsibility for
the planning and procurement of their future powerExecutive Overview
supply requirements. Under these member agreements,

Oglethorpe is a not-for-profit electric cooperative Oglethorpe is limited in its ability to develop or obtain
whose principal business is providing wholesale new power supply resources to assist the Members with
electric service to 38 Members. Consequently, their future, incremental power requirements without the
substantially all of Oglethorpe’s revenues and cash approval of a substantial majority of the Members. This
flow is derived from sales to the Members pursuant to is particularly relevant since the Members have had to
long-term, take-or-pay wholesale power contracts. plan and implement power supply options to replace a
These contracts obligate the Members jointly and portion of the energy that was being provided by two
severally to pay all of Oglethorpe’s costs and expenses significant power marketer agreements that terminated
associated with owning and operating its power supply in 2004 and 2005. While Oglethorpe resources
business. To that end, Oglethorpe’s existing rate (generating facilities and power purchase contracts) had
structure provides for a pass-through of actual energy historically provided more than 90 percent of the
costs. Charges for fixed costs (including capacity, other Members’ requirements, as a result of the terminations
non-energy charges, debt service obligations and the of these power marketer agreements, energy supplied by
margin required to meet Oglethorpe’s Margins for Oglethorpe now accounts for a smaller percentage of
Interest Ratio rate covenant) are carefully managed the Members’ requirements. In 2007, energy supplied
throughout the year to ensure that sufficient capacity- by Oglethorpe accounted for approximately 63 percent
related revenues are produced. This rate structure of the Members’ retail energy requirements. 
provides Oglethorpe with the ability to manage its

From time to time, Oglethorpe may assist therevenues to assure full recovery of its costs in rates
Members in investigating potential new power supplyand has resulted in a consistent record of meeting all
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resources. In the latter part of 2006, Oglethorpe and its One of the most significant risks to Oglethorpe’s
Members initiated a more formal evaluation of the ability to maintain competitive power costs in the future
potential resources that might be required to meet the is the possibility of additional capital expenditures and
Members’ power supply requirements in the 2011-2020 increased operational expenses for Plants Wansley and
time period. Throughout 2007, Oglethorpe’s efforts in Scherer due to potential climate change legislation and
this regard focused primarily on developing a menu of regulations. While estimates of potential impacts can
generation options that offers Members more ownership vary widely, it is not unlikely that Oglethorpe may incur
and control over their generation resources (through significant additional costs over the next 10 to 20 years
Oglethorpe) in order to help mitigate reliance on third- in response to this issue. 
party contracts. Consequently, since this initiative began From an operational perspective, Oglethorpe remains
in 2006, Oglethorpe’s efforts to evaluate potential power focused on the challenge of providing reliable,
supply acquisitions, development, or contracting cost-effective fuel supply for its generating facilities. A
opportunities for future generation needs of the balanced diversity of generating resources by fuel
Members have increased significantly. Oglethorpe is type – nuclear, coal and natural gas – helps mitigate the
also taking steps to financially prepare for these risk associated with any one type of fuel. The
potential opportunities. geographic diversity of coal supply – eastern and

Oglethorpe and the Members remain very interested western (Powder River Basin) – as well as the diversity
in the potential development and deployment of the next of suppliers helps reduce risks associated with coal.
generation of nuclear facilities and are therefore Due to rail transportation issues, timely and
considering participation in any initiatives that will cost-effective transportation of coal was a high priority
examine the feasibility of future nuclear generating for the corporation in 2006, with inventories returning
facilities with the view of preserving the option to to normal levels throughout 2007. Oglethorpe will
participate in any new nuclear generation that might be continue to maintain a focus on fuel strategies as the
developed in Georgia. Accordingly, in May 2005 cost of fuel, higher or lower, directly impacts the cost
Oglethorpe and the other co-owners of nuclear Plant of power to its Members. 
Vogtle executed an agreement regarding exploration of Additionally, there are certain risks inherent in
development of up to two additional nuclear units at the Oglethorpe’s undivided ownership interests in its two
Plant Vogtle site. Oglethorpe has the option to nuclear facilities, Plants Hatch and Vogtle. One such
participate in up to 30 percent of any new units. The risk is the storage of spent fuel. While the progress
extent of Oglethorpe’s ultimate involvement, if any, is towards a national repository is disappointing, both
expected to be determined during the next year. facilities have on-site storage capabilities. It is

Oglethorpe continues to respond to changing forecasted that the on-site storage capabilities at Plant
environmental requirements. Over the past several years, Hatch can be expanded to accommodate spent fuel
Oglethorpe has invested approximately $230 million at through the expected life of the plant. Plant Vogtle is
its coal-fired generating facilities to maintain projected to have on-site storage capabilities well into
compliance with various environmental regulations. the next decade, which are capable of further expansion.
These expenditures include projects related to the Another risk unique to nuclear facilities is funding for
installation of selective catalytic reduction control the expected cost of decommissioning when the plants
technologies and flue gas desulfurization systems at are retired. Oglethorpe continues to maintain adequate
Plant Wansley, the conversion of Plant Scherer to permit balances in its external trust fund for this purpose based
it to burn Powder River Basin coal, and initial activities on recent specific site studies, NRC minimum funding
associated with the installation of mercury controls, requirements and assumptions regarding investment
selective catalytic reduction control technologies and earnings. With respect to operational risk, both plants
flue gas desulfurization systems at Plant Scherer. continued an excellent record of operations in 2007. 
Completion of these projects by the end of 2014 Despite the many challenges and risks of operating
(except the conversion of Plant Scherer to burn Powder an electric power supply corporation, Oglethorpe
River Basin coal, which was completed in 2003) is continues to be well positioned, both financially and
anticipated to cost approximately $900 million. operationally, to fulfill its obligations to the Members

and third parties.
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Summary of Cooperative Operations reviews its capacity rates frequently throughout the year
to ensure that net margin goals are met, and is requiredMargins and Patronage Capital
to do so at least once annually. 

Oglethorpe operates on a not-for-profit basis and,
The rate schedule under the Wholesale Poweraccordingly, seeks only to generate revenues sufficient

Contracts implements on a long-term basis theto recover its cost of service and to generate margins
assignment to each Member of responsibility forsufficient to establish reasonable reserves and meet
Oglethorpe’s fixed costs. The monthly charges forcertain financial coverage requirements. Revenues in
capacity and other non-energy charges are based on aexcess of current period costs in any year are
rate formula using the Oglethorpe budget. The Board ofdesignated as net margin in Oglethorpe’s statements of
Directors may adjust these charges during the yearrevenues and expenses. Retained net margins are
through an adjustment to the annual budget. Energydesignated on Oglethorpe’s balance sheets as patronage
charges are based on actual energy costs, including fuelcapital, which is allocated to each of the Members on
costs, variable operations and maintenance costs, andthe basis of its percentage capacity responsibilities in
purchased energy costs. the respective resources. Since its formation in 1974,

Oglethorpe has generated a positive net margin in each Under the Mortgage Indenture, Oglethorpe is
year and had a balance of $517 million in patronage required, subject to any necessary regulatory approval,
capital as of December 31, 2007. Oglethorpe’s equity to establish and collect rates that are reasonably
ratio, calculated as patronage capital and membership expected, together with other revenues of Oglethorpe, to
fees divided by total capitalization was 12.3 percent at yield a Margins for Interest Ratio for each fiscal year
December 31, 2007 and at December 31, 2006. equal to at least 1.10. The Margins for Interest Ratio is

determined by dividing Margins for Interest by InterestPatronage capital constitutes the principal equity of
Charges. Margins for Interest equal the sum ofOglethorpe. Any distributions of patronage capital are
(i) Oglethorpe’s net margins (after certain definedsubject to the discretion of the Board of Directors.
adjustments), (ii) Interest Charges and (iii) any amountHowever, under the Mortgage Indenture, Oglethorpe is
included in net margins for accruals for federal or stateprohibited from making any distribution of patronage
income taxes. The definition of Margins for Interestcapital to the Members if, at the time of or after giving
takes into account any item of net margin, loss, gain oreffect to the distribution, (i) an event of default exists
expenditure of any affiliate or subsidiary of Oglethorpeunder the Mortgage Indenture, (ii) Oglethorpe’s equity
only if Oglethorpe has received such net margins oras of the end of the immediately preceding fiscal
gains as a dividend or other distribution from suchquarter is less than 20 percent of Oglethorpe’s total
affiliate or subsidiary or if Oglethorpe has made acapitalization, or (iii) the aggregate amount expended
payment with respect to such losses or expenditures. for distributions on or after the date on which

Oglethorpe’s equity first reaches 20 percent of The rate schedule also includes a prior period
Oglethorpe’s total capitalization exceeds 35 percent of adjustment mechanism designed to ensure that
Oglethorpe’s aggregate net margins earned after such Oglethorpe achieves the minimum 1.10 Margins for
date. This last restriction, however, will not apply if, Interest Ratio. Amounts, if any, by which Oglethorpe
after giving effect to such distribution, Oglethorpe’s fails to achieve a minimum 1.10 Margins for Interest
equity as of the end of the immediately preceding fiscal Ratio would be accrued as of December 31 of the
quarter is not less than 30 percent of Oglethorpe’s total applicable year and collected from the Members during
capitalization. the period April through December of the following

year. The rate schedule formula is intended to provide
Rates and Regulation for the collection of revenues which, together with

revenues from all other sources, are equal to all costsPursuant to the Wholesale Power Contracts entered
and expenses recorded by Oglethorpe, plus amountsinto between Oglethorpe and each of the Members,
necessary to achieve at least the minimum 1.10 MarginsOglethorpe is required to design capacity and energy
for Interest Ratio. rates that generate sufficient revenues to recover all

costs, to establish and maintain reasonable margins and For 2007, 2006 and 2005, Oglethorpe achieved a
to meet its financial coverage requirements. Oglethorpe Margins for Interest Ratio of 1.10. 
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Under the Mortgage Indenture and related loan assets and liabilities that had been recognized as a
contract with the RUS, adjustments to Oglethorpe’s charge to its statement of operations and begin
rates to reflect changes in Oglethorpe’s budgets are recognizing assets and liabilities in a manner similar to
generally not subject to RUS approval. Changes to the other businesses in general. In addition, Oglethorpe
rate schedule under the Wholesale Power Contracts are would be required to determine any impairment to other
generally subject to RUS approval. Oglethorpe’s rates assets, including plants, and write-down those assets, if
are not subject to the approval of any other federal or impaired, to their fair value.
state agency or authority, including GPSC.

New Accounting Pronouncements
Accounting Policies In December 2007, the FASB issued SFAS No. 160,

Basis of Accounting ‘‘Noncontrolling Interests in Consolidated Financial
Statements – an amendment to ARB No. 51.’’ TheOglethorpe follows generally accepted accounting
Statement establishes accounting and reporting standardsprinciples and the practices prescribed in the Uniform
that require: a) ownership interests in subsidiaries beSystem of Accounts of FERC as modified and adopted
clearly identified and presented in consolidatedby the RUS.
statement of financial position within equity but
separate from parent’s equity; b) amount of consolidatedCritical Accounting Policy
net income attributable to parent and noncontrolling

Oglethorpe has determined that the following interest be present on face of consolidated statement of
accounting policy is important to understanding the income; c) changes in parent’s ownership interest while
presentation of Oglethorpe’s financial condition and controlling financial interest in subsidiary is consistently
results of operations and requires Oglethorpe’s accounted for; d) retained noncontrolling equity
management to make estimates and assumptions about investment in deconsolidated subsidiary be initially
matters that were uncertain at the time of preparation of measured at fair value; e) sufficient disclosure clearly
Oglethorpe’s financial statements. Changes in these identifies and distinguish between interests of parent
estimates and assumptions by Oglethorpe’s management and noncontrolling owners. SFAS No. 160 is effective
could materially impact its results of operations and for Oglethorpe January 1, 2009. Currently, the adoption
financial condition. Oglethorpe’s management has of SFAS No. 160 is not expected to have any material
discussed the development, selection and disclosure of impact on Oglethorpe’s results of operations or financial
critical accounting policies and estimates with the Audit condition. 
Committee of Oglethorpe’s Board of Directors. 

In December 2007, the FASB issued SFAS No. 141
Oglethorpe is subject to the provisions of Statement (revised 2007), ‘‘Business Combinations.’’ The

of Financial Accounting Standards (‘‘SFAS’’) No. 71, Statement establishes principles and requirements for
‘‘Accounting for the Effects of Certain Types of how the acquirer in a business combination:
Regulation.’’ SFAS No. 71 permits Oglethorpe to record a) recognizes and measures the identifiable assets
regulatory assets and regulatory liabilities to reflect acquired, liabilities assumed, and noncontrolling interest
future cost recovery or refunds that Oglethorpe has a in acquiree; b) recognizes and measures the goodwill
right to pass through to the Members. At December 31, acquired in the business combination or a gain from a
2007, Oglethorpe’s regulatory assets and liabilities bargain purchase; c) determines what information to
totaled $278 million and $121 million, respectively. disclose to enable users of financial statements to
(See Note 1 of Notes to Consolidated Financial evaluate the nature and financial effects of the business
Statements.) While Oglethorpe does not currently combination. SFAS No. 141 (revised 2007) is effective
foresee any event such as competitive or other factors for Oglethorpe January 1, 2009. Currently, the adoption
that would make it not probable that Oglethorpe will of SFAS No. 141 (revised 2007) is not expected to have
recover these costs from its Members as future revenues any material impact on Oglethorpe’s results of
through rates under its Wholesale Power Contracts, if operations or financial condition. 
such an event were to occur, Oglethorpe could no

In February 2007, the FASB issued SFAS No. 159,longer apply the provisions of SFAS No. 71, which
‘‘The Fair Value Option for Financial Assets andwould require Oglethorpe to eliminate all regulatory
Financial Liabilities,’’ including an amendment of SFAS
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No. 115, ‘‘Accounting for Certain Investments in Debt by 0.8 percent for 2006 compared to 2005. The
and Equity Securities.’’ This statement permits entities components of Member revenues were as follows:
to choose to measure many financial instruments and

(dollars in thousands)
certain other items at fair value that are not currently 2007 2006 2005
required to be measured at fair value. This statement

Capacity revenues $ 559,873 $ 568,425 $ 552,264
also establishes presentation and disclosure requirements Energy revenues 589,784 558,998 584,199
designed to facilitate comparison between entities that Total $ 1,149,657 $ 1,127,423 $ 1,136,463
choose different measurement attributes for similar
types of assets and liabilities. The statement provides Capacity revenues from Members decreased
entities with the opportunity to mitigate volatility in 1.5 percent in 2007 compared to 2006 and increased
reported earnings caused by measuring related assets 2.9 percent in 2006 compared to 2005. For 2007,
and liabilities differently without having to apply capacity revenues reflect lower collections from
complex hedge accounting provisions. The provisions of Members of $36.8 million related to lower Plant Vogtle
this Statement apply only to entities that elect the fair depreciation and amortization expense and the reversal
value option however, the amendment to SFAS No. 115 of the Monroe County property tax litigation reserve.
applies to all entities with available-for-sale and trading For further discussion regarding depreciation and
securities. SFAS No. 159 is effective for Oglethorpe amortization, see ‘‘Operating Expenses’’ below and see
January 1, 2008. Oglethorpe will not elect the fair value Note 13 of Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
option for any of its assets, except for assets accounted for further information regarding the Monroe County
for under SFAS No. 115. property tax litigation reserve reversal. In addition,

capacity revenues for 2007 compared to 2006 wereIn September 2006, the FASB issued SFAS No. 157,
reduced by $5.1 million due to expiration of the GPC‘‘Fair Value Measurements’’ which defines fair value,
purchased power agreement effective March 31, 2006.establishes a framework for measuring fair value in
For 2006 and 2005, capacity revenues reflect reducedgenerally accepted accounting principles (‘‘GAAP’’),
collections from Members of $29.3 million andand expands disclosures about fair value measurements.
$61.9 million, respectively. Both the 2006 and 2005SFAS No. 157 does not require any new fair value
reduced revenue collections were related to gains on themeasurements. However, the application of SFAS
sale of SO2 allowances. See Note 10 of Notes toNo. 157 may change the current practice for measuring
Consolidated Financial Statements for further discussionfair value. Oglethorpe adopted SFAS No. 157 effective
regarding the sale of SO2 allowances. In addition,January 1, 2008 with no material effect on its results of
capacity revenues for 2006 compared to 2005 were alsooperations or financial condition.
reduced by $15.2 million due to the expiration of
the GPC purchased power agreement. Results of Operations

Energy revenues from Members increased 5.5 percentOperating Revenues
in 2007 compared to 2006 and decreased 4.3 percent in

Sales to Members. Oglethorpe’s operating revenues 2006 compared to 2005. Energy revenues increased in
fluctuate from period to period based on factors 2007 as compared to 2006 partly due to higher fuel
including weather and other seasonal factors, load costs and partly due to higher variable operation and
growth in the service territories of the Members, maintenance (O&M) costs, offset somewhat by the pass
operating costs, availability of electric generation through to Members of lower purchased power energy
resources, Oglethorpe’s decisions of whether to dispatch costs. See ‘‘Operating Expenses’’ below for further
its owned or purchased resources or Member-owned discussion for the changes in fuel costs, variable O&M
resources over which it has dispatch rights and by and purchased power energy costs. The decrease in
Members’ decisions of whether to purchase a portion of energy revenues for 2006 as compared to 2005 was due
their hourly energy requirements from Oglethorpe partly to the discontinuation of Oglethorpe’s capacity
resources or from other suppliers. and energy pool, effective March 31, 2005, and partly

to the expiration of the GPC purchased powerTotal revenues from sales to Members increased by
agreement, offset somewhat by an increase in fuel costs2.0 percent for 2007 compared to 2006 and decreased
passed through to Members due primarily to an increase
in generation.
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The following table summarizes the amounts of kWh agreement to sell 100 MW of capacity for the period
sold to Members and total revenues per kWh during June 1998 through December 2005. In addition,
each of the past three years: Oglethorpe sold short-term energy to non-Members for

the benefit of Members participating in its capacity and
(in thousands) Cents per energy pool. The capacity and energy pool was
Kilowatt-hours Kilowatt-hour

discontinued effective March 31, 2005. Total
2007 22,815,174 5.04 non-Member revenues for 2007, 2006 and 2005 were
2006 23,019,482 4.90

$1,585,000, $1,456,000 and $33,060,000, respectively.2005 23,721,939 4.79

Operating ExpensesIn 2007 and 2006, kWh sales to Members decreased
0.9 percent and 3.0 percent as compared to the same Oglethorpe’s operating expenses (excluding the 2007
prior year periods, respectively. The average revenue per and 2006 gains related to the sale of SO2 allowances of
kWh from sales to Members increased 2.9 percent for $0.4 million and $39.5 million, respectively) decreased
2007 compared to 2006 and increased 2.2 percent for 2.0 percent in 2007 compared to 2006 and were
2006 compared to 2005. The expiration of an agreement 6.8 percent lower in 2006 compared to 2005. For 2007,
to purchase capacity and energy from GPC was the decreases in production, and depreciation and
primary reason for the decrease in MWhs sold to amortization expenses offset somewhat by an increase
Members in 2007. The decrease in kWh sales to in fuel costs were the primary drivers for the decrease
Members in 2006 was partly due to the discontinuation in operating expenses. The decrease in operating
of Oglethorpe’s capacity and energy pool, through expenses in 2006 as compared to 2005 was partly due
which Oglethorpe bought and sold short-term energy to decreases in purchased power and accretion expenses
from/to non-Members for the benefit of Members offset somewhat by an increase in fuel costs. 
participating in the pool. The capacity and energy pool

Total fuel costs increased 11.0 percent in 2007was discontinued effective March 31, 2005. The
compared to 2006 and increased 2.5 percent in 2006 asexpiration of the GPC purchased power agreement also
compared to 2005 while total generation increasedcontributed to the decrease in MWhs sold to Members.
0.8 percent and 1.5 percent, respectively. Average fuelFor further discussion regarding purchased power costs,
cost per MWh increased 10.0 percent in 2007 comparedsee ‘‘Operating Expenses’’ below. 
to 2006 and 1.0 percent in 2006 compared to 2005. For

The energy portion of Member revenues per kWh 2007 the increase in total and average fuel cost resulted
increased 6.5 percent in 2007 as compared to 2006 and primarily from a change in the mix of generation with
decreased 1.4 percent in 2006 compared to 2005. increased generation of 572,000 MWhs or, 49.7 percent,
Oglethorpe passes through actual energy costs to the from higher priced gas-fired facilities offset somewhat
Members such that energy revenues equal energy costs. by lower generation from coal-fired facilities which has
The increase in average energy revenues per kWh in a lower average price than gas-fired generation. For
2007 compared to 2006 is primarily due to the pass 2006, the increase in total fuel cost was primarily due
through of higher fuel costs and higher variable O&M to the 1.5 percent increase in generation. 
expenses. For further discussion regarding fuel costs and

Production expenses decreased 3.1 percent in 2007variable O&M expenses, see ‘‘Operating Expenses’’
compared to 2006 and increased 1.2 percent in 2006 asbelow. The decrease in average energy revenues per
compared to 2005. The decrease in production expenseskWh in 2006 as compared to 2005 resulted primarily
in 2007 primarily resulted from the reversal of thefrom the reduction in the pass through of purchased
Monroe County property tax litigation reservepower costs due to the discontinuation of the capacity
($22.5 million) due a favorable ruling from the Georgiaand energy pool and the expiration of the GPC
Supreme Court as discussed in Note 13 of Notes toagreement as discussed above.
Consolidated Financial Statements. This decrease was

Sales to Non-Members. For 2007 and 2006, sales to offset somewhat by higher variable O&M expenses
non-Members resulted primarily from services provided resulting primarily from increased amortization for
to Oglethorpe’s former Member Flint EMC. In 2005, deferred nuclear refueling outage costs and for deferred
sales to non-Members were primarily from capacity and outage costs associated with fossil fuel facilities. The
energy sales to Alabama Electric Cooperative under an increase in nuclear refueling outage amortization
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resulted partly from higher outage costs (and thus purchased power agreements. The decrease in purchased
higher amortization) at Plant Vogtle due to an NRC power energy costs for 2006 compared to 2005 was
mandated pressurized weld overlay project and partly partly due to the discontinuation of Oglethorpe’s
due to an increase in outage costs at Hatch Unit No. 1 capacity and energy pool, effective March 31, 2005, and
due to transformer replacement expenses. The increase partly due to the expiration of the GPC purchased
in fossil fuel facilities primarily resulted from the power agreement. 
deferral of such costs effective 2006. As a result, 2007 Purchased power expenses for the years 2005
amortization reflected outage costs for both units at through 2007 include the cost of capacity and energy
Plant Scherer and Plant Wansley while 2006 purchases under various long-term power purchase
amortization reflected outage costs only for Plant agreements. Oglethorpe’s capacity and energy expenses
Scherer Unit No. 1 and Wansley Unit No. 2. under these agreements amounted to approximately

Purchased power costs decreased 13.5 percent in $89 million in 2007, $103 million in 2006 and
2007 as compared to 2006 and decreased 29.9 percent $163 million in 2005. For a discussion of the power
in 2006 compared to 2005 as follows: purchase agreements, see Note 9 of Notes to

Consolidated Financial Statements. 
(dollars in thousands)

2007 2006 2005 Depreciation and amortization expense decreased
Capacity costs $ 41,437 $ 46,259 $ 60,683 16.1 percent in 2007 compared to 2006 and increased
Energy costs 113,568 132,870 194,933 2.8 percent in 2006 as compared to 2005. The decrease
Total $ 155,005 $ 179,129 $ 255,616 in depreciation and amortization expense for 2007 is

partly attributable to lower depreciation expenses for
The decrease in purchased power capacity costs for Plant Vogtle of $14.3 million. In June 2007, GPC, as

2007 compared to 2006 and for 2006 compared to 2005 agents for the co-owners, filed an application with the
was due to the expiration of the GPC purchased power NRC to extend the licenses for Vogtle Unit No. 1 and
agreement effective March 31, 2006 as discussed Unit No. 2 for an additional 20 years. Effective July 1,
previously. 2007, Oglethorpe under the provisions of SFAS No. 71

began deferring the difference between Plant VogtlePurchased power energy costs decreased 14.5 percent
depreciation expense based on the current 40-yearin 2007 compared to 2006 and decreased 31.8 percent
operating license versus depreciation expense based onin 2006 compared to 2005. Purchased MWhs decreased
the applied for 20-year license extension. The deferral24.4 percent for 2007 compared to 2006 and
amount will be amortized in to deprecation expense44.7 percent in 2006 compared to 2005. The average
over the remaining life of Plant Vogtle beginning in thecost of purchased power energy per kWh increased
year that the license extension is approved by the NRC.13.1 percent in 2007 compared to 2006 and increased
The approval from the NRC is expected mid-2009 or23.8 percent in 2006 compared to 2005. The decrease
later. In addition, the lower depreciation andin purchased power energy costs for 2007 compared to
amortization expense in 2007 compared to 20062006 resulted primarily from the decrease in MWhs,
resulted from $10.2 million in accelerated amortizationwhich in turn resulted partly from the termination of
of deferred amortization of capital leases as discussedthe GPC agreement, effective March 31, 2006. The
below in accretion expense. This increase was offsetexpiration of the GPC purchased power agreement with
somewhat by lower depreciation expenses for nuclearits favorable energy cost to Oglethorpe was primarily
and coal-fired facilities due to adoption of lowerthe reason for the increase in average energy cost per
composite depreciation rates effective January 1, 2006,kWh. The decrease in MWhs acquired under
approved by RUS and supported by a depreciationOglethorpe’s energy replacement program which
study performed in 2005. replaces power from Oglethorpe owned generation

facilities with lower price spot market purchased power Accretion expense represents the change in the asset
energy also contributed to the decrease in purchased retirement obligations due to the passage of time. For
power energy costs and to the volume of purchased nuclear decommissioning, Oglethorpe records a
power MWhs. The decrease in MWhs and energy costs regulatory asset or liability for the timing difference in
from these sources was offset somewhat by an increase accretion expense recognized under SFAS No. 143,
in MWhs and energy cost acquired under several ‘‘Accounting for Asset Retirement Obligations,’’

36



compared to the expense recovered for ratemaking Net Margin
purposes. The accretion expense recognized is equal to Oglethorpe’s net margin for 2007, 2006 and 2005
the lesser of earnings from both the decommissioning was $19.1 million, $18.2 million and $17.7 million,
trust fund and the internal decommissioning fund or the respectively. These amounts were exactly sufficient to
asset retirement obligations for nuclear meet the 1.10 Margins for Interest requirement under
decommissioning expenses to be recognized under the Mortgage Indenture. Oglethorpe’s margin
SFAS No. 143. Accretion expense totaled $19.3 million requirement is based on a ratio applied to interest
in 2007, $21.9 million in 2006 and $34.0 million in charges. In addition, Oglethorpe’s margins include
2005. The higher accretion expense in 2005 is primarily certain items that are excluded from the Margins for
due to the increased amortization of deferred asset Interest Ratio, such as non-cash capital credits
retirement costs per approval by the Board of Directors. allocation from GTC. Oglethorpe’s non-cash capital
During 2007, Oglethorpe sold SO2 allowances in excess credits allocation from GTC was $1.4 million,
of its needs to various parties and received $0.4 million. $1.5 million and $1.4 million for 2007, 2006 and 2005,
During 2006, Oglethorpe sold SO2 allowances in excess respectively. (See ‘‘Summary of Cooperative
of its needs to various parties and received Operations – Rates and Regulation.’’)
approximately $39.5 million in net proceeds from these
sales. The proceeds received from sale of SO2 Financial Condition
allowances was offset, however, by a $29.3 million

Overviewreduction in Sales to Members and by $10.2 million in
accelerated amortization of deferred amortization of Oglethorpe’s financial condition remained stable at
capital leases in 2006. During 2005, Oglethorpe sold December 31, 2007. A Margins for Interest Ratio of
SO2 allowances in excess of its needs to various parties 1.10 was achieved for the year, as required by the
and received approximately $83.1 million in net Mortgage Indenture. This 1.10 margin coverage
proceeds from these sales. This gain on sale of SO2 produced a net margin of $19 million, which caused a
allowances was offset, however, by a $61.9 million corresponding increase in patronage capital (equity),
reduction in Sales to Members and by $21.2 million in bringing total patronage capital to $517 million at
accelerated amortization of deferred asset retirement December 31, 2007. Oglethorpe’s equity to
costs in the form of accretion expense. As a result, capitalization ratio was 12.3 percent at year end 2007,
there was no change to net margin for 2006 and 2005 and was unchanged from year end 2006. 
from the gains on sales of SO2 allowances.

Oglethorpe maintained a strong liquidity position
with $841 million of unrestricted available liquidity atOther Income (Expense)
December 31, 2007. 

Investment income increased 1 percent in 2007
There was a net increase in long-term debtcompared to 2006 and increased 28.4 percent in 2006

outstanding of $142 million due mostly to the advancecompared to 2005. The increase in 2006 compared to
of funds under approved RUS loans and an issuance of2005 was due to higher earnings from Oglethorpe’s
first mortgage bonds in 2007. The average interest ratedecommissioning trust fund and from higher interest
on the $3.3 billion of long-term debt outstanding atearnings on cash and cash equivalent investments. The
December 31, 2007 was 5.4 percent. higher earnings on cash and cash equivalents were

partly due to higher returns on these investments and Property additions totaled $195 million and were
partly due to a higher average investment balance. financed with a combination of funds from operations
These increases were offset somewhat by lower and long-term borrowings. The expenditures were
earnings on funds deposited in the RUS Cushion of primarily for purchases of nuclear fuel, normal additions
Credit Account resulting from a lower average and replacements to existing generation facilities and
investment balance. At December 31, 2006, there were environmental control facilities being installed at the
no remaining deposits invested in the RUS Cushion of coal-fired generating plants. 
Credit Account.

The three major rating agencies have all assigned
investment grade credit ratings to Oglethorpe (see
‘‘Credit Rating Risk’’ below).
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Liquidity and Sources of Capital equivalents and $550 million of unused committed
credit arrangements. Sources of Capital. Oglethorpe has historically

obtained the majority of its long-term financing from Oglethorpe also had $47 million invested in auction
RUS-guaranteed loans funded by FFB. However, rate securities of other companies at December 31,
RUS-guaranteed funding for new generation facilities is 2007. These securities have maturities in excess of one
uncertain and may be limited at any point in the future year and as such are classified as long-term investments.
due to budgetary pressures faced by Congress (see Auction rate securities re-price in Dutch auctions that
‘‘OGLETHORPE POWER CORPORATION – Relationship occur every 7 to 35 days, and Oglethorpe can seek to
with RUS’’). In addition, over the next ten years the liquidate these securities at the end of any auction
loan demand of electric cooperatives is projected to period. Recently, however, there have been failed
exceed RUS-guaranteed funding authorization levels auctions on some of the auction rate investments held
unless there is an increase over current levels of by Oglethorpe, requiring Oglethorpe to hold the
funding. investments during the subsequent auction period.

Oglethorpe is currently liquidating these investmentsOglethorpe has also obtained a substantial portion of
when possible. See ‘‘Negative Events in the Capitalits long-term financing requirements from the issuance
Markets’’ for a more detailed discussion of currentof bonds in the taxable and tax-exempt capital markets,
events in the capital markets causing failed auctions. and expects that it will be able to access both these

markets in the future. However, the types of equipment In addition to unrestricted available liquidity,
that will qualify for tax-exempt financing are fewer than Oglethorpe had $48 million in restricted cash and cash
in the past due to changes in tax laws and regulations. equivalents at December 31, 2007. The $48 million was

on deposit with a bond trustee relating to PCBs issuedTherefore, any generation facilities that Oglethorpe
in October 2007, the proceeds of which were used inmay build in the future on behalf of its Members will
January 2008 to refinance $18 million of PCBlikely be financed through a variety of sources,
amortizing maturities and to redeem $30 million ofincluding RUS-guaranteed loans, capital market
PCB bullet maturities (see ‘‘Financing Activities’’). financings (both taxable and tax-exempt), and possibly

private placement and other financing sources. Net cash provided by operating activities was
$172 million in 2007 (about $20 million less than inIn addition, Oglethorpe’s operations have historically
2006), and averaged $222 million for the three-yearprovided a sizable contribution to its funding of capital
period 2005 through 2007. requirements, such that internally generated funds have

provided interim funding or long-term capital for The $550 million of credit arrangements mentioned
nuclear fuel purchases, replacements and additions to above is comprised of three separate facilities as
existing generating facilities, general plant additions, reflected in the table below:
and retirement of long-term debt. However, due to the

Committed Short-Term Credit Facilitiessignificant amount of expenditures currently underway (dollars in millions)

relating to environmental compliance at its coal-fired Authorized Available
generating facilities, in the future Oglethorpe anticipates Amount Amount Expiration Date

that it will meet its capital requirements through a Commercial Paper
combination of funds generated from operations and Backup Line of Credit $ 450 $ 450 July 2012

short and long-term borrowings. See ‘‘Capital CoBank Line of Credit 50 50 November 2008
Requirements – Capital Expenditures’’ for more detailed CFC Line of Credit 50 50 October 2008
information regarding Oglethorpe’s estimated
expenditures related to environmental compliance. See Oglethorpe expects to renew these short-term credit
‘‘Financing Activities’’ for detailed information facilities, as needed, prior to their respective expiration
regarding Oglethorpe’s financing plans. dates. All of the credit facilities provide for both bank

rate and LIBOR based borrowings. 
Liquidity. At December 31, 2007, Oglethorpe had

Under the commercial paper program Oglethorpe is$841 million of unrestricted available liquidity to meet
authorized to issue commercial paper in amounts thatshort-term cash needs and liquidity requirements. This
do not exceed the amount of any committed backupamount included $291 million of cash and cash
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lines of credit, thereby providing 100 percent dedicated Risk – Interest Rate Swap Transactions’’ for a detailed
support for any paper outstanding. Oglethorpe discussion of the swap terminations.
periodically assesses its needs to determine the

Financing Activitiesappropriate amount of commercial paper backup to
maintain and currently has in place a $450 million Oglethorpe currently has three approved loans and
committed backup credit facility that runs through 2012, one pending loan application at the RUS. The three
provided by a group of seven banks that was syndicated approved loans total $612 million and are for the
by Bank of America. The commercial paper backup purpose of funding: (i) approximately $185 million of
line of credit contains a financial covenant requiring normal additions and replacements at existing
Oglethorpe to maintain minimum patronage capital of generation facilities through 2011, and
$400 million plus 75 percent of each year’s positive net (ii) approximately $427 million of expenditures through
margin. As of December 31, 2007, the required amount 2014 relating to compliance with environmental
equaled $414 million, and Oglethorpe’s year-end regulations. Two of the three approved RUS loans have
patronage capital exceeded this amount by $103 million. closed, and to date, $64 million has been advanced
An additional covenant under this facility limits thereunder. Oglethorpe does not expect to have all three
Oglethorpe’s secured indebtedness to $8.5 billion and loans fully drawn until year-end 2014. 
unsecured indebtedness to $4.0 billion during the term

All of the approved RUS loans will be fundedof the credit agreement, and Oglethorpe’s debt levels
through the FFB and guaranteed by the RUS, and theare significantly below these thresholds. 
debt will be secured under Oglethorpe’s Mortgage

Along with the lines of credit from CoBank and the Indenture. 
National Rural Utilities Cooperative Finance

The pending RUS loan application is for $1.8 billionCorporation (‘‘CFC’’), funds may be advanced under
to fund Oglethorpe’s potential 30 percent undividedthe backup line of credit supporting commercial paper
interest in two new proposed nuclear units that may befor general working capital needs. In addition, under
built at the existing Plant Vogtle site. This loanboth the CoBank line of credit and the backup line
application was submitted in December 2006 andsupporting commercial paper, Oglethorpe has the ability
Oglethorpe does not expect RUS to act on it until 2009to issue letters of credit to third parties in amounts up
at the earliest. The industry has experienced dramaticto $50 million under each facility, or $100 million in
increases in the forecasted cost of materials and laborthe aggregate. However, due to the requirement to have
for such facilities, and it is likely that additional funds100 percent dedicated backup for any outstanding
will be required, should Oglethorpe decide tocommercial paper, if any amounts are drawn under the
participate. See ‘‘BUSINESS – OGLETHORPE’S POWERcommercial paper backup line for working capital or for
SUPPLY RESOURCES – Future Power Resources’’ andthe purpose of issuing letters of credit, it will reduce the
‘‘Executive Overview’’ for a discussion of Oglethorpe’samount of commercial paper that Oglethorpe can issue.
potential participation in these proposed units. See

Liquidity Covenants. At December 31, 2007, ‘‘BUSINESS – OGLETHORPE POWER CORPORATION –
Oglethorpe had three financial agreements in place Relationship with RUS’’ for a discussion of RUS’s
containing liquidity covenants. These agreements current position relating to funding of new generation
included the two interest rate swaps relating to PCB facilities. 
transactions and the Rocky Mountain lease transactions.

In the near future, Oglethorpe has plans to submitHowever, effective March 2008, the interest rate swaps
additional loan applications to the RUS covering bothwere terminated, leaving only the liquidity covenant
general improvements at existing generation facilitiesunder the Rocky Mountain lease transaction. This
and costs associated with environmental compliance atcovenant requires Oglethorpe to maintain minimum
coal-fired Plant Scherer. It is anticipated that these loanliquidity of $50 million at all times during the term of
applications in the aggregate will total approximatelythe lease. Oglethorpe estimates that it will have more
$300 million. than sufficient liquidity to satisfy this requirement in

2008. See ‘‘QUANTITATIVE AND QUALITATIVE Oglethorpe has received tax-exempt financing
DISCLOSURES ABOUT MARKET RISK – Interest Rate allocations from the state of Georgia totaling

$200 million. $50 million was received in 2005 and
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relates to scrubbers being installed at Plant Wansley to (see ‘‘Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements – GTC Debt
reduce sulfur dioxide emissions. $150 million was Assumption’’) and a new indemnity agreement executed
received in 2006 and relates to equipment being in connection with GTC’s assumption of PCB refunding
installed at Plant Scherer to control mercury emissions, indebtedness in October 2006, GTC is entitled to
although it is uncertain at this time if enough of this participate in any future prepayment of assumed PCB
equipment will qualify to take advantage of the full debt by agreeing to assume a portion of the refunding
amount of the allocation. The tax-exempt bonds can be indebtedness. As such, GTC elected to participate in the
issued any time within a three-year window that begins refinancing of the January 2008 maturities discussed
the year after the allocation was awarded. Currently, above, and Oglethorpe anticipates that GTC will
Oglethorpe anticipates issuing tax-exempt bonds for continue to participate in these annual refinancings for
both projects in the fall of 2008. the foreseeable future. 

In 2006, Oglethorpe received an allocation from the In connection with the extension of the Wholesale
Internal Revenue Service (‘‘IRS’’) to issue $24 million Power Contracts from 2025 to 2050, Oglethorpe
of Clean Renewable Energy Bonds (‘‘CREBs’’) to fund embarked on a program in 2006 to refinance or
an upgrade project currently underway at its Rocky otherwise reamortize a portion of its PCB and FFB
Mountain generating facility. CREBs are zero coupon debt. An extension of the debt maturities provides for
bonds, and in lieu of receiving an interest payment from better alignment of principal amortization with the
the issuer the bondholder receives a credit against projected useful lives of Oglethorpe’s assets, which are
federal income tax liability. Oglethorpe had its CREB currently projected to operate well beyond the original
application submitted to the IRS on its behalf by CFC, contract termination date of 2025. To date, Oglethorpe
along with the applications of other electric has extended the maturities on approximately
cooperatives. CFC, as a qualified issuer under the $1.4 billion of its FFB and PCB indebtedness. Included
program, will issue the bonds and in turn loan the in this amount were three separate transactions that
proceeds at a low rate of interest (approximately one closed in 2007 covering $870 million of FFB debt and
percent) to the cooperatives whose applications were $182 million of PCB debt. Oglethorpe plans to
approved. Unless federal authority for CREBs is complete its debt reamortization program through a
expanded, the bonds must be issued by December 31, refinancing of $123 million of PCB bullet maturities,
2008. Oglethorpe anticipates closing its CREBs related along with $10 million of PCB amortizing principal
loan with CFC later in 2008. scheduled to mature in January 2009 and the recently

allocated tax-exempt debt discussed above, in a singleOglethorpe has a program in place under which it is
transaction which is expected to close in the fall ofrefinancing, on a continued tax-exempt basis, the annual
2008.principal maturities of pollution control bonds

(‘‘PCBs’’) originally issued on behalf of Oglethorpe by Negative Events in the Capital Markets
various county development authorities. The refinancing

The three major credit rating agencies are in theof these PCB principal maturities allows Oglethorpe to
process of an on-going review of the monoline bondpreserve a low-cost source of financing. To date,
insurers as a result of the exposure some insurers haveapproximately $260 million has been refinanced under
to financial guarantees provided on structured financethis program, including $22 million of PCB principal
obligations backed by subprime residential mortgages.that matured in January 2008 (of which GTC had an
Several bond insurers have already been downgradedassumed obligation to pay $3.7 million, as discussed
below their historical triple-A rating levels or have hadbelow). In the fall of 2008, Oglethorpe plans to
negative outlooks assigned to their triple-A ratings,refinance an additional $10 million of PCB principal
including three insurers that provide guarantees on athat matures in January 2009 (of which GTC has an
significant portion of Oglethorpe’s outstanding variableassumed obligation to pay $1.7 million) and has Board
rate PCB indebtedness. approval to continue this refinancing program for PCB

principal maturities through 2019. Bond insurer downgrades have been most material as
it relates to their impact on auction rate securitiesUnder an indemnity agreement executed in
(‘‘ARS’’) guaranteed by the insurer, leading to increasedconnection with GTC’s assumption of PCB
focus on the underlying issuer credit, wider creditindebtedness as part of a 1997 corporate restructuring
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spreads, and failed auctions. A bond insurer downgrade generating facilities and other capital projects. The table
can also affect the credit spread of insured variable rate below details these expenditure forecasts for 2008
demand bonds (‘‘VRDB’’), but currently less than ARS through 2010. Actual expenditures may vary from the
due to bank liquidity support on a VRDB which allows estimates listed in the table because of factors such as
bonds to be put to the liquidity facility in the event of a changes in business conditions, design changes and
failed remarketing. rework required by regulatory bodies, delays in

obtaining necessary regulatory approvals, constructionOglethorpe currently has outstanding $434 million of
delays, changing environmental requirements, andPCBs in the ARS mode and $410 million of PCBs in
changes in cost of capital, equipment, material andthe VRDB mode. Oglethorpe has recently seen some of
labor.its ARS auctions fail due to investors moving away

from this market, and has also had VRDBs put to the Capital Expenditures (1)

(dollars in millions)supporting bank liquidity facilities due to the
Existing Environmental Nuclear Generalremarketing agents’ inability to remarket the bonds as a

Year Generation Compliance Fuel Plant Totalresult of a downgrade of the bond insurer. These events
2008 $ 71 $ 186 $ 87 $ 4 $ 348have resulted in higher variable rates of interest on the
2009 56 152 93 2 303bonds, in some instances as high as 12 percent. The
2010 35 114 89 1 239

weighted average interest rate on Oglethorpe’s PCBs in
Total $ 162 $ 452 $ 269 $ 7 $ 890

the ARS mode was approximately 4 percent and
(1) Excludes allowance for funds used during construction. 

7 percent at December 31, 2007 and March 19, 2008,
In addition to the expenditures reflected in the tablerespectively. 

above, Oglethorpe expects to pay GPC up to
In light of these events, in a remarketing expected to

$40 million in connection with the nuclear development
close in April 2008, Oglethorpe plans to convert

option agreement by July 2008, the currently scheduled
$312 million of its PCBs from the ARS mode to

date by which Oglethorpe must commit to the project,
another interest rate mode as it has the option to do

or reduce its participation, either partially or completely,
pursuant to the underlying bond documents. Oglethorpe

in up to two additional nuclear units at Plant Vogtle and
also plans to refinance the balance of its PCBs in the

receive a refund of these costs (pro rata with interest).
ARS mode ($123 million) in a transaction that is

For information about preliminary steps Oglethorpe has
expected to close in October 2008 (see ‘‘Financing

taken to procure financing in the event it elects to
Activities’’). 

participate in these new nuclear units, see ‘‘Financing
In a transaction expected to close in May 2008, Activities.’’ For a more detailed discussion of the

Oglethorpe expects to refinance $255 million of PCBs nuclear development option agreement, see ‘‘BUSINESS –
that are currently in a weekly VRDB mode (due to a OGLETHORPE’S POWER SUPPLY RESOURCES – Future
downgrade of the existing bond insurer) through the Power Resources.’’ 
issuance of $255 million of Series 2008 refunding

In addition to potential participation in two new
bonds. While this transaction is being undertaken

nuclear units at Plant Vogtle, Oglethorpe has identified
mainly to replace the bond insurer, this transaction will

electric generation options that it could pursue to meet
also provide for an immediate extension of the

the Members’ future energy needs (see ‘‘OGLETHORPE’S
maturities, rather than over time as the principal on this

POWER SUPPLY RESOURCES – Future Power
PCB debt was set to mature each year. 

Resources’’), including the possible construction of new
See also ‘‘QUANTITATIVE AND QUALITATIVE facilities that are not included in the capital expenditure

DISCLOSURES ABOUT MARKET RISK – Interest Rate table above. The projects that Oglethorpe may
Risk – Interest Rate Swap Transactions’’ for a ultimately construct, if any, as well as the cost of
discussion of the impacts on Oglethorpe’s interest rate construction, are not known at this time.
swap arrangements related to a bond insurer downgrade.

Oglethorpe is subject to environmental regulations
and may be subject to future additional environmentalCapital Requirements
regulations, including future implementation of existing

Capital Expenditures. As part of its ongoing capital laws and regulations. Since alternative legislative and
planning, Oglethorpe forecasts expenditures required for regulatory environmental compliance programs continue
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to be debated on a national level (in particular as it Inflation
relates to climate change), it is difficult to predict what As with utilities generally, inflation has the effect of
capital costs may ultimately be required. The increasing the cost of Oglethorpe’s operations and
environmental compliance expenditures reflected in the construction program. Operating and construction costs
table above include the installation of (i) a flue gas have been less affected by inflation over the last few
desulfurization project (scrubbers) currently underway at years because rates of inflation have been relatively low.
Plant Wansley, and (ii) a mercury removal project, a
flue gas desulfurization project and a selective catalytic Credit Rating Risk
reduction project underway at Plant Scherer. Under the

The table below sets forth Oglethorpe’s current debtcurrent schedule, all of these environmental compliance
ratings.projects will be in service by 2014, and are estimated to

require an additional $450 million of capital
Oglethorpe Ratings S&P Moody’s Fitch

expenditures in the period 2011 through 2014. 
Senior secured debt A A3 A

Depending on how Oglethorpe and the other Short-term/commercial paper A-1 P-2 F1

co-owners of Plants Wansley and Scherer choose to
Oglethorpe has financial and other contractualcomply with any future regulations, both capital

agreements in place containing provisions which, uponexpenditures and operating expenditures may be
a credit rating downgrade below specified levels, mayimpacted. In any event, as required by the Wholesale
require the posting of collateral in the form of eitherPower Contracts, Oglethorpe expects to be able to
letters of credit, surety bonds or cash. recover from its Members all capital and operating

expenditures made in complying with current and future Provisions in the Rocky Mountain lease transactions
environmental regulations. could require Oglethorpe to post surety bonds or letters

of credit in the amount of $50 million if OglethorpeFor additional information, see ‘‘BUSINESS –
fails to maintain at least two ‘‘triple-B’’ ratings on itsENVIRONMENTAL AND OTHER REGULATION – Clean Air
senior secured debt (if any and if rated) and at least twoAct.’’
‘‘triple-B minus’’ ratings on its senior unsecured debt

Contractual Obligations. The table below reflects, as of (if any and if rated) from Standard & Poor’s, Moody’s
December 31, 2007, Oglethorpe’s contractual Investors Service and Fitch Ratings. 
obligations for the periods indicated.

Provisions in the RUS Loan Contract, certain PCB
Contractual Obligations loan agreements and the commercial paper backup line

(dollars in millions)
of credit agreement contain covenants based on credit

2009- 2011- Beyond
ratings that could result in increased interest rates or2008 2010 2012 2012 Total
restrictions on issuing debt. Also, borrowing rates and

Long-Term Debt: commitment fees in the CFC and commercial paper linePrincipal $ 118 $ 194 $ 232 $ 2,796 $ 3,340
of credit agreements are based on credit ratings andInterest (1) 179 343 317 1,988 2,827

could therefore increase if Oglethorpe’s ratings areCapital Leases (2) 44 89 89 198 420
lowered. None of these covenants, however, wouldOperating Leases 5 10 11 32 58
result in acceleration of any debt. Unconditional Power Purchases 77 57 59 216 409

Rocky Mtn. Lease Transactions (3) – – – 372 372 Given its current level of ratings, Oglethorpe’s
Chattahoochee O&M Agmts. 19 42 43 139 243 management does not have any reason to expect a

downgrade that would put its ratings below the ratingAsset Retirement Obligations (4) – – – 2,452 2,452

triggers contained in any of its financial and contractual
Total $ 442 $ 735 $ 751 $ 8,193 $ 10,121

agreements. However, Oglethorpe’s ratings reflect the
1) Includes interest expense related to variable rate debt. Future variable rates are based on a forward

views of the rating agencies and not of Oglethorpe, andSIFMA interest rate curve as of February 2008.

therefore Oglethorpe cannot give any assurance that its2) Amounts represent total rental payment obligations, not amortization of debt underlying the leases.

3) Oglethorpe entered into a funding agreement with a highly rated entity to fund this obligation. For ratings will be maintained at current levels for any
additional information, see ‘‘Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements-Rocky Mountain Lease period of time.Arrangements’’ below.

4) A substantial portion of this amount relates to the decommissioning of nuclear facilities.
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Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements (‘‘RMLC’’), for a term of 30 years under separate
leases (the ‘‘Facility Leases’’). RMLC then subleasedOglethorpe is liable for certain contractual obligations
the undivided interests back to Oglethorpe for anfor which other parties are liable, and Oglethorpe would
identical term also under separate leases (the ‘‘Facilitybe expected to pay only if the other parties fail to
Subleases’’). satisfy such obligations. These obligations are not

shown on Oglethorpe’s balance sheet and are described Oglethorpe used a portion of the one-time rental
below. payments paid to it by the owner trusts to acquire the

capital stock of RMLC and to make a $698 million
GTC Debt Assumption. In connection with a corporate capital contribution to RMLC. RMLC in turn used the

restructuring in 1997 in which Oglethorpe sold its capital contribution to fund payment undertaking
transmission related assets to GTC (which represented agreements (in the aggregate totaling $641 million) and
16.86 percent of Oglethorpe’s assets), GTC assumed funding agreements (in the aggregate totaling
16.86 percent of the then outstanding indebtedness $57 million) that provide for third parties to pay all of:
associated with PCBs pursuant to an Assumption

• RMLC’s periodic basic rent payments under theAgreement and an Indemnity Agreement. If GTC fails
Facility Leases; andto satisfy its obligations under this debt assumption,

Oglethorpe would then remain liable for any unsatisfied • the fixed purchase price of the undivided interests
amounts. In that event, Oglethorpe would be entitled to in Rocky Mountain at the end of the terms of the
reimbursement from GTC for any amounts paid by Facility Leases if Oglethorpe causes RMLC to
Oglethorpe. At December 31, 2007, the total obligation exercise its option to purchase these interests at
assumed by GTC relating to outstanding PCB principal that time. 
was $94 million. GTC’s estimated payments of

As a result of these lease transactions, after makingprincipal and interest in 2008 pursuant to this assumed
the capital contribution to RMLC, Oglethorpe hadobligation is approximately $9 million. 
$92 million remaining of the amount paid by the owner

For a discussion of GTC’s assumed 16.86 percent trusts which it used to prepay FFB indebtedness while
obligation (also in connection with the 1997 corporate retaining possession of, and entitlement to, its portion of
restructuring) in two of Oglethorpe’s interest rate swap the output of Rocky Mountain. 
transactions that were recently terminated, see

The Facility Subleases require Oglethorpe to make‘‘QUANTITATIVE AND QUALITATIVE DISCLOSURES
semi-annual rental payments to RMLC. In turn, RMLCABOUT MARKET RISK – Interest Rate Risk – Interest
is required to make identical rental payments to theRate Swap Transactions.’’
owner trusts under the Facility Leases. In 2007, the

Rocky Mountain Lease Arrangements. In December 1996 amount of the rental payments under the Facility
and January 1997, Oglethorpe entered into a total of six Subleases and Facility Leases each totaled $54 million.
lease transactions relating to its 74.61 percent undivided The payment undertaking agreements require the other
interest in Rocky Mountain. In each transaction, party (the ‘‘payment undertaker’’) to pay the rent
Oglethorpe leased a portion of its undivided interest in payments directly to the owner trust’s lender in
Rocky Mountain to an owner trust for the benefit of an satisfaction of RMLC’s rent payment obligation under
investor for a term equal to 120 percent of the the Facility Lease and the applicable owner trust’s
estimated useful life of Rocky Mountain, in exchange repayment obligation under the loan to it. Because
for one-time rental payments aggregating $794 million RMLC funds these rent payments through the payment
made at the time the leases were entered into. Each undertaking agreements, RMLC returns to Oglethorpe
owner trust funded a portion of its payment to amounts received by it pursuant to the Facility
Oglethorpe through an equity contribution (in the Subleases. RMLC remains liable for all rental payments
aggregate totaling $171 million), and financed the under the Facility Leases if the payment undertaker fails
remaining portion through a loan from a bank. to make such payments, although the owner trusts have
Immediately following the leases to the owner trusts, agreed to use due diligence to pursue the payment
the owner trusts leased their undivided interests in undertaker before pursuing payment from RMLC or
Rocky Mountain to a wholly owned Oglethorpe Oglethorpe. 
subsidiary, Rocky Mountain Leasing Corporation
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The senior unsecured debt obligations of the payment Oglethorpe does not elect to cause RMLC to purchase
undertaker are rated ‘‘AAA’’ by S&P and ‘‘Aaa’’ by any owner trust’s undivided interest in Rocky
Moody’s, and the senior unsecured debt obligations of Mountain, GPC has an option to purchase that
the third party to the funding agreement are rated ‘‘AA’’ undivided interest. If neither Oglethorpe nor GPC
by S&P and ‘‘Aa2’’ by Moody’s. exercises its purchase option, and Oglethorpe returns

(through RMLC) any undivided interest in RockyAs a wholly owned subsidiary of Oglethorpe, the
Mountain to an owner trust, that owner trust has severalfinancial condition and results of operations of RMLC
options it can elect, including:are fully consolidated into Oglethorpe’s financial

statements. The funding agreements and corresponding • causing RMLC and Oglethorpe to renew the
lease obligations are reflected on the balance sheets of related Facility Leases and Facility Subleases for
RMLC and Oglethorpe as Deposit on Rocky Mountain up to an additional 16 years and provide collateral
transactions and Obligation under Rocky Mountain satisfactory to the owner trusts,
transactions (both $101 million at December 31, 2007). • leasing its undivided interest to a third party under
However, the financial statements of RMLC and a replacement lease, or
Oglethorpe do not reflect the payment undertaking

• retaining the undivided interest for its own benefit.agreements or the corresponding lease obligations, or
the payments made by the payment undertaker, Under the first two of these options Oglethorpe must
including the payments of rent under the Facility Leases arrange new financing for the outstanding loans to the
and Facility SubLeases, because they have been owner trusts. The aggregate amount of the outstanding
extinguished for financial reporting purposes. If loans to all of the owner trusts at the end of the term of
RMLC’s interests in the payment undertaking the Facility Leases is anticipated to be $666 million. If
agreements and the corresponding lease obligations new financing cannot be arranged, the owner trusts can
were reflected on the balance sheets of RMLC and ultimately cause Oglethorpe to purchase 49 percent, in
Oglethorpe at December 31, 2007, both the Deposit on the case of the first option above, or all, in the case of
Rocky Mountain transactions and Obligation under the second option above, of the debt or cause RMLC to
Rocky Mountain transactions would have been higher exercise its purchase option or RMLC and Oglethorpe
by $709 million. to renew the Facility Leases and Facility Subleases,

respectively. At the end of the term of each Facility Lease,
Oglethorpe has the option to cause RMLC to purchase If option one above is chosen, at the end of the
any owner trust’s undivided interests in Rocky Mountain 46-year lease term, the Facility Leases and Facility
at fixed purchase option prices that aggregate Subleases terminate, the owner trusts take possession of
$1.087 billion for all six Facility Leases. The payment Rocky Mountain at whatever its value and operating
undertaking agreements and funding agreements would condition may be at such time, with no residual value
fund $715 million and $372 million of this amount, guaranty.
respectively, and these amounts would be paid to the
owner trusts over five installments in 2027. If
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ITEM 7A. QUANTITATIVE AND QUALITATIVE management activities. The RMC frequently meets to
DISCLOSURES ABOUT MARKET RISK review corporate exposures, risk management strategies,

and hedge positions. The RMC regularly reportsDue to its cost-based rate structure, Oglethorpe has
corporate exposures and risk management activities tolimited exposure to market risks. However, changes in
the Audit Committee of the Board of Directors.interest rates, equity prices, and commodity prices may

result in fluctuations in Member rates. Oglethorpe uses
Interest Rate Riskderivatives only to manage this volatility and does not

use derivatives for speculative purposes. (See Oglethorpe is exposed to the risk of changes in
‘‘BUSINESS – OGLETHORPE POWER CORPORATION – interest rates related to its approximately $840 million
Electric Rates’’ for further discussion of Oglethorpe’s of variable rate PCB debt. Oglethorpe’s objective in
rate structure.) managing interest rate risk is to maintain a balance of

fixed and variable rate debt that will lower its overallOglethorpe’s Risk Management Committee (‘‘RMC’’)
borrowing costs within reasonable risk parameters. Asprovides general oversight over all risk management
part of this debt management strategy, Oglethorpe has aactivities, including commodity trading, fuels
guideline of having between 15 percent and 30 percentmanagement, insurance procurement, debt management
variable rate debt to total debt. At December 31, 2007,and investment portfolio management. The RMC is
Oglethorpe had 19 percent of its debt (including capitalcomprised of Oglethorpe’s Chief Executive Officer,
lease debt) in a variable rate mode. Chief Operating Officer, Chief Financial Officer and the

Senior Vice President, Marketing and External Affairs. The table below details Oglethorpe’s existing debt
The RMC has implemented comprehensive risk instruments and provides the fair value at December 31,
management policies to manage and monitor credit and 2007, the outstanding balance at the beginning and end
market price risks. These policies also specify controls of each year and the annual principal maturities and
and authorization levels related to various risk associated average interest rates.

(dollars in thousands)

Fair Value Cost

2007 2008 2009 2010 2011 2012 Thereafter

Fixed Rate Debt
Beginning of year $ 2,517,318 $ 2,440,144 $ 2,359,016 $ 2,274,966 $ 2,186,719 $ 2,094,099
Maturities (77,174) (81,128) (84,050) (88,247) (92,620)

End of year $ 2,681,647 $ 2,440,144 $ 2,359,016 $ 2,274,966 $ 2,186,719 $ 2,094,099

Average interest rate on maturing fixed rate debt 5.74% 5.79% 5.85% 5.91% 5.96% 5.76%

Variable Rate Debt(1)(2)

Beginning of year $ 891,720 $ 851,280 $ 846,048 $ 822,541 $ 795,548 $ 771,755
Maturities (40,440) (5,232) (23,507) (26,993) (23,793)

End of year $ 669,614 $ 851,280 $ 846,048 $ 822,541 $ 795,548 $ 771,755

Average interest rate on maturing variable rate debt 4.12% 4.10% 4.16% 4.16% 4.17% 4.15%

Interest Rate Swaps (2)

Beginning of year $ 0 $ 0 $ 0 $ 0 $ 0 $ 0
Maturities 0 0 0 0 0

End of year $ 222,085 $ 0 $ 0 $ 0 $ 0 $ 0

Unrealized loss on swaps $ (30,526)

(1) Future variable interest rates are based on a forward SIFMA yield curve as of February 2008.

(2) Debt underlying the interest rate swaps was variable rate PCB debt that was swapped to a contractual fixed rate of interest. Effective March 2008, the swaps were terminated. Therefore, the underlying debt is reflected
as variable rate debt in this table beginning in 2008.
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Substantially all of the variable rate debt in the above was obligated to make periodic payments to Oglethorpe
table is comprised of variable rate PCB debt, which had based on a notional principal amount equal to the
a weighted average interest rate of 3.88 percent at aggregate principal amount of the bonds outstanding
January 1, 2008. If interest rates on this debt increased during the period and a variable rate equal to the
100 basis points, interest expense would increase by variable rate of interest accruing on the bonds during
approximately $6 million on an annualized basis. The the period (‘‘Variable Rate’’). These payment
operative documents underlying this debt contain obligations were netted, such that if the Variable Rate
provisions that allow Oglethorpe to convert the debt to was less than the Fixed Rate, Oglethorpe made a net
a variety of variable interest rate modes (such as daily, payment to AIG-FP. Likewise, if the Variable Rate was
weekly, monthly, commercial paper or auction rate higher than the Fixed Rate, Oglethorpe received a net
mode), or to convert the debt to a fixed rate of interest payment from AIG-FP. Thus, although changes in the
for a specified term or to maturity. This optionality Variable Rate affected whether Oglethorpe was
improves Oglethorpe’s ability to manage its exposure to obligated to make payments to AIG-FP or was entitled
variable interest rates. to receive payments from AIG-FP, the effective interest

rate Oglethorpe paid with respect to the PCBs was notAt any point in time, Oglethorpe may analyze and
affected by changes in interest rates. The Fixed Rate onconsider using various types of derivative products
the 1993 bonds was 5.67 percent and the Fixed Rate on(including swaps, caps, floors and collars) to help
the 1994 bonds was 6.01 percent. At December 31,manage its interest rate risk. To-date, however,
2007, there was $165 million of 1993 bondsOglethorpe’s use of interest rate derivatives has been
outstanding (carrying a variable rate of interest oflimited to the swap transactions described below.
3.52 percent) and $103 million of 1994 bonds
outstanding (carrying a variable rate of interest ofInterest Rate Swap Transactions
3.43 percent). For the three years ended December 31,

At December 31, 2007, Oglethorpe had two interest 2005, 2006 and 2007, Oglethorpe made in connection
rate swap arrangements in place with AIG Financial with both interest rate swap arrangements combined net
Products Corp. (‘‘AIG-FP’’) as swap counterparty, swap payments to AIG-FP (net of amounts assumed by
which were designed to create a contractual fixed rate GTC) of $8.0 million, $5.0 million and $5.0 million,
of interest on $322 million of variable rate PCBs. These respectively. 
transactions were entered into in early 1993 on a

At December 31, 2007 Oglethorpe also had twoforward basis, pursuant to which approximately
swaps in place with JPMorgan Chase Bank (‘‘JPMC’’)$200 million of variable rate PCBs were issued in
as swap counterparty that became effective in AugustNovember 1993 (the 1993 bonds) and approximately
2006. These swaps also used as notional principal$122 million of variable rate PCBs were issued in
Oglethorpe’s share of the 1993A and 1994A bonds andDecember 1994 (the 1994 bonds). Oglethorpe is
were designed to convert the variable rate of interestobligated to pay the variable interest rate that accrues
Oglethorpe received under the swaps with AIG-FP to aon these PCBs; however, the swap arrangements
longer-term contractual variable rate of interest thatprovided a mechanism for Oglethorpe to achieve a
Oglethorpe received from JPMC. contractual fixed rate which was lower than Oglethorpe

would have obtained had it issued fixed rate bonds at In February 2008, Oglethorpe received notice from
that time. AIG-FP of its election to begin paying an alternative

variable rate under the swaps that is based on theIn connection with the 1997 corporate restructuring,
Securities Industry and Financial Markets AssociationGTC assumed and agreed to pay 16.86 percent of any
(‘‘SIFMA’’) municipal swap index rather than theamounts due from Oglethorpe under these swap
variable rate accruing on the bonds. AIG-FP had thearrangements, including the net swap payments and any
right to make this election due to a downgrading of thetermination payments made. Under the swap
1993A and 1994A bonds below ‘‘AA-’’or ‘‘Aa3’’ byarrangements, Oglethorpe was obligated to make
S&P or Moody’s, respectively. The bonds wereperiodic payments to AIG-FP based on a notional
downgraded in February 2008 in connection with recentprincipal amount equal to the aggregate principal
downgrades of Financial Guaranty Insurance Companyamount of the bonds outstanding during the period and
(‘‘FGIC’’), the entity guaranteeing payment of principala contractual fixed rate (‘‘Fixed Rate’’), and AIG-FP
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and interest on the bonds, to ‘‘A’’ by S&P and to ‘‘A3’’ income securities. Oglethorpe also maintains an internal
by Moody’s. At the point AIG-FP began making decommissioning reserve from which funds can be
payments to Oglethorpe based on the SIFMA index, transferred to the external trust fund, should that be
Oglethorpe’s all-in cost under the swap arrangements necessary. By maintaining a portfolio that includes
increased significantly. The bond downgrades and long-term equity investments, Oglethorpe intends to
AIG-FP’s election to use the SIFMA index triggered maximize the returns to be utilized to fund nuclear
options for Oglethorpe to terminate the swaps with decommissioning, which in the long-term will better
AIG-FP. Oglethorpe exercised these options effective correlate to inflationary increases in decommissioning
March 14, 2008, and made termination payments to costs. However, the equity securities included in
AIG-FP of approximately $37 million (net of amounts Oglethorpe’s portfolio (in both the internal and external
assumed and paid by GTC). fund) are exposed to price fluctuation in equity markets.

A 10 percent decline in the value of the fund’s equityIn connection with the termination of the swaps with
securities as of December 31, 2007 would result in aAIG-FP, Oglethorpe also elected to terminate the swaps
loss of value to the fund of approximately $15 million.with JPMC effective March 14, 2008, and in connection
Oglethorpe actively monitors its portfolio bywith the terminations received a payment from JPMC of
benchmarking the performance of its investmentsapproximately $3 million. 
against certain indices and by maintaining, and

See Footnote 2 of Notes to Consolidated Financial periodically reviewing, established target allocation
Statements for a discussion of the accounting treatment percentages of the assets in its trusts to various
relating to the swap terminations. investment options. Because realized and unrealized

gains and losses from investment securities held in the
Capital Leases decommissioning fund are directly added to or deducted

from the decommissioning reserve, fluctuations inIn December 1985, Oglethorpe sold and subsequently
equity prices do not affect Oglethorpe’s net margin inleased back from four purchasers its 60 percent
the short-term.undivided ownership interest in Scherer Unit No. 2. The

capital leases provide that Oglethorpe’s rental payments
Commodity Price Riskvary to the extent of interest rate changes associated

with the debt used by the lessors to finance their Coal
purchase of undivided ownership shares in the unit. The

Oglethorpe is also exposed to the risk of changingdebt currently consists of $73 million in serial facility
prices for fuels, including coal and natural gas.bonds due June 30, 2011 with a 6.97 percent fixed rate
Oglethorpe has interests in 1,501 MW of coal-firedof interest. 
capacity (Plants Scherer and Wansley). Oglethorpe

Oglethorpe entered into a power purchase and sale purchases coal under term contracts and in spot-market
agreement with Doyle I, LLC to purchase all of the transactions. Some of Oglethorpe’s coal contracts
output from a five-unit gas-fired generation facility. The provide volume flexibility and most have fixed or
Doyle agreement is reported on Oglethorpe’s balance capped prices. Oglethorpe anticipates that its existing
sheet as a capital lease. The lease payments vary to the contracts will provide fixed prices for over 97 percent
extent the interest rate on the lessor’s debt varies from of its forecasted coal requirements in 2008 and fixed or
6.00 percent. At December 31, 2007, the weighted capped prices for over 90 percent of its forecasted coal
average interest rate on the lease obligation was requirements in 2009. 
5.95 percent.

The objective of Oglethorpe’s coal procurement
strategy is to ensure reliable coal supply and some priceEquity Price Risk
stability for the Members. Its strategy focuses on coal

Oglethorpe maintains external trust funds, as required commitments for up to 7 years into the future. The
by the NRC, to fund certain costs of nuclear procurement guidelines provide for layering in fixed
decommissioning. (See Note 1 of Notes to Consolidated and/or capped prices by annually entering into coal
Financial Statements.) As of December 31, 2007, these contracts for a portion of projected coal need for up to
funds were invested in U.S. Government securities, 7 years into the future.
domestic and international equities and global fixed
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Natural Gas price of natural gas. Under these swap agreements,
Oglethorpe pays the counterparty a fixed price forOglethorpe owns two gas-fired generation facilities
specified natural gas quantities and receives a paymenttotaling 1,086 MW of capacity. (See ‘‘PROPERTIES –
for such quantities based on a market price index.Generating Facilities.’’) 
These payment obligations are netted, such that if the

Oglethorpe also has power purchase contracts with market price index is lower than the fixed price,
Doyle I, LLC (which Oglethorpe treats as a capital Oglethorpe will make a net payment, and if the market
lease) and Hartwell Energy Limited Partnership under price index is higher than the fixed price, Oglethorpe
which approximately 625 MW of capacity and will receive a net payment. If the natural gas swaps had
associated energy is supplied by gas-fired facilities. (See been terminated on December 31, 2007, Oglethorpe
‘‘BUSINESS – OGLETHORPE’S POWER SUPPLY would have made a net payment of approximately
RESOURCES – Power Purchase and Sale Arrangements – $222,960. Oglethorpe has obtained the Members’
Power Purchases’’ and ‘‘PROPERTIES – Generating approval required by the New Business Model Member
Facilities.’’) Under these contracts, Oglethorpe is Agreement to continue to manage exposures to natural
exposed to variable energy charges, which incorporate gas price risks for Members that elect to receive such
each facility’s actual operation and maintenance and services. Oglethorpe is providing natural gas price risk
fuel costs. Oglethorpe has the right to purchase natural management services to 14 of its Members. At the
gas for Doyle and the Hartwell facility and exercises beginning of each calendar year, additional Members
this right from time to time to actively manage the cost may elect to receive these services. Members may elect
of energy supplied from these contracts and the to discontinue receiving these services at any time.
underlying natural gas price and operational risks. 

Changes in Risk ExposureIn providing operation management services for
Smarr EMC, Oglethorpe purchases natural gas, Oglethorpe’s exposure to changes in interest rates,
including transportation and other related services, on the price of equity securities it holds, and commodity
behalf of Smarr EMC and ensures that the Smarr prices have not changed materially from the previous
facilities have fuel available for operations. (See reporting period. Oglethorpe is not aware of any facts
‘‘BUSINESS – THE MEMBERS AND THEIR POWER SUPPLY or circumstances that would significantly impact these
RESOURCES – Member Power Supply Resources’’ and exposures in the near future; however, nonperformance
‘‘PROPERTIES – Generating Facilities’’ and ‘‘–  Fuel by one of Oglethorpe’s hedge counterparties may
Supply.’’) increase its exposure to market volatility.

Oglethorpe enters into natural gas swap arrangements
to manage its exposure to fluctuations in the market
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OGLETHORPE POWER CORPORATION
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF REVENUES AND EXPENSES
For the years ended December 31, 2007, 2006 and 2005

(dollars in thousands)

2007 2006 2005

Operating revenues:

Sales to Members $ 1,149,657 $ 1,127,423 $ 1,136,463

Sales to non-Members 1,585 1,456 33,060

Total operating revenues 1,151,242 1,128,879 1,169,523

Operating expenses:

Fuel 415,125 374,144 365,073

Production 246,675 254,658 251,830

Purchased power 155,005 179,129 255,616

Depreciation and amortization 131,908 157,303 153,030

Accretion 19,326 21,932 33,996

Gain on sale of emission allowances (394) (39,529) (83,098)

Total operating expenses 967,645 947,637 976,447

Operating margin 183,597 181,242 193,076

Other income (expense):

Investment income 46,788 46,313 36,060

Amortization of deferred gains 5,660 5,660 5,660

Allowance for equity funds used during construction 1,802 904 355

Other 4,235 3,592 3,048

Total other income 58,485 56,469 45,123

Interest charges:

Interest on long-term debt and capital leases 212,003 204,317 203,124

Other interest 2,253 3,046 3,321

Allowance for debt funds used during construction (6,962) (3,437) (1,681)

Amortization of debt discount and expense 15,727 15,584 15,782

Net interest charges 223,021 219,510 220,546

Net margin $ 19,061 $ 18,201 $ 17,653

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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OGLETHORPE POWER CORPORATION
CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS
December 31, 2007 and 2006

(dollars in thousands)

2007 2006

Assets

Electric plant:

In service $ 5,792,476 $ 5,769,129

Less: Accumulated provision for depreciation (2,630,522) (2,495,049)

3,161,954 3,274,080

Nuclear fuel, at amortized cost 130,138 119,076

Construction work in progress 189,102 68,145

Total electric plant 3,481,194 3,461,301

Investments and funds:

Decommissioning fund, at market 239,974 233,309

Deposit on Rocky Mountain transactions, at cost 101,272 94,772

Bond, reserve and construction funds, at market 5,614 6,397

Investment in associated companies, at cost 46,449 43,331

Long-term investments, at market 109,170 118,281

Other, at cost 1,502 1,478

Total investments and funds 503,981 497,568

Current assets:

Cash and cash equivalents, at cost 290,930 423,757

Restricted cash, at cost 48,124 18,312

Receivables 60,672 91,360

Inventories, at average cost 149,871 135,996

Prepayments and other current assets 4,780 4,234

Total current assets 554,377 673,659

Deferred charges:

Premium and loss on reacquired debt, being amortized 140,829 112,147

Deferred amortization of capital leases 91,446 95,450

Deferred debt expense, being amortized 37,356 30,072

Deferred outage costs, being amortized 29,833 25,782

Deferred tax assets 72,000 –

Other 26,304 5,766

Total deferred charges 397,768 269,217

Total assets $ 4,937,320 $ 4,901,745

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.

52



OGLETHORPE POWER CORPORATION
CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS
December 31, 2007 and 2006

(dollars in thousands)

2007 2006

Equity and Liabilities

Capitalization:

Patronage capital and membership fees $ 516,570 $ 497,509

Accumulated other comprehensive deficit (32,691) (28,988)

483,879 468,521

Long-term debt 3,291,424 3,197,478

Obligations under capital leases 260,943 283,816

Obligation under Rocky Mountain transactions 101,272 94,772

Total capitalization 4,137,518 4,044,587

Current liabilities:

Long-term debt and capital leases due within one year 143,400 234,621

Accounts payable 41,621 31,662

Accrued interest 20,153 54,489

Accrued and withheld taxes 7,122 41,755

Other current liabilities 17,311 9,167

Total current liabilities 229,607 371,694

Deferred credits and other liabilities:

Gain on sale of plant, being amortized 36,011 38,485

Net benefit of Rocky Mountain transactions, being amortized 60,521 63,707

Asset retirement obligations 265,326 249,575

Accumulated retirement costs for other obligations 53,327 56,220

Deferred liability associated with retirement obligations 5,568 11,085

Interest rate swap arrangements 32,806 29,417

Long-term contingent liability 72,000 –

Other 44,636 36,975

Total deferred credits and other liabilities 570,195 485,464

Total equity and liabilities $ 4,937,320 $ 4,901,745

Commitments and Contingencies (Notes 1, 5, 9, 11 and 12)

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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OGLETHORPE POWER CORPORATION
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CAPITALIZATION
December 31, 2007 and 2006

(dollars in thousands)

2007 2006

Long-term debt:
Mortgage notes payable to the Federal Financing Bank (‘‘FFB’’) at interest rates varying from

3.89% to 8.43% (average rate of 5.67% at December 31, 2007) due in quarterly installments
through 2041 $ 1,661,751 $ 2,184,481

Mortgage notes payable to Rural Utilities Service (‘‘RUS’’) at an interest rate of 5% due in
monthly installments through 2020 9,872 10,445

Mortgage bonds payable:
• Series 2006

Term Bonds, 5.534% due 2031 through 2035 300,000 300,000
• Series 2007

Term Bonds, 6.191% due 2024 through 2031 500,000 –

Mortgage notes issued in conjunction with the sale by public authorities of pollution control
revenue bonds (‘‘PCBs’’):
• Series 1992A

Serial bonds, 6.65% to 6.80%, due serially from 2008 through 2012 45,696 53,195
• Series 1993A

Adjustable tender bonds, 3.52%, due 2008 through 2016 136,771 143,688
• Series 1994A

Adjustable tender bonds, 3.43%, due 2008 through 2019 85,314 88,502
• Series 2002A and 2002B

Auction rate bonds, fully redeemed December 2007 – 91,990
• Series 2002 and 2002C

Adjustable tender bonds, 3.49% to 3.74%, due 2018 30,075 30,075
• Series 2003A and 2003B

Auction rate bonds, 4.25% to 4.40%, due 2024 95,230 133,345
• Series 2004

Auction rate bonds, 4.19%, due 2020 11,525 11,525
• Series 2005

Auction rate bonds, 4.25% to 4.30%, due 2040 15,865 15,865
• Series 2006A, 2006B-1, 2006B-2, 2006B-3, and 200B-4

Adjustable tender bonds, 3.03% to 3.60%, due 2036 through 2041 197,945 197,945
• Series 2006B, 2006C-1, and 2006C-2

Auction rate bonds, 3.70% to 4.25%, due 2036 through 2037 133,550 133,550
• Series 2007 A through F

Auction rate bonds, 3.65% to 4.40%, due 2038 through 2040 178,228 –
CoBank, ACB notes payable:

• Transmission mortgage note payable: fixed at 4.57%  through March 2, 2008, due in
bimonthly installments through November 1, 2018 1,457 1,519

• Transmission mortgage note payable: fixed at 4.57% through  March 2, 2008, due in
bimonthly installments through September 1, 2019 5,759 5,969

Total long-term debt 3,409,038 3,402,094

Obligations under capital leases 286,729 313,821

Obligation under Rocky Mountain transactions, long-term 101,272 94,772

Patronage capital and membership fees 516,570 497,509

Accumulated other comprehensive deficit (32,691) (28,988)

Subtotal 4,280,918 4,279,208

Less: long-term debt and capital leases due within one year (143,400) (234,621)

Total capitalization $ 4,137,518 $ 4,044,587

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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OGLETHORPE POWER CORPORATION
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS
For the years ended December 31, 2007, 2006 and 2005

(dollars in thousands)

2007 2006 2005

Cash flows from operating activities:
Net margin $ 19,061 $ 18,201 $ 17,653

Adjustments to reconcile net margin to net cash provided by operating activities:
Depreciation and amortization, including nuclear fuel 222,808 234,156 225,366
Accretion cost 19,326 21,932 33,996
Amortization of deferred gains (5,660) (5,660) (5,660)
Allowance for equity funds used during construction (1,802) (904) (355)
Deferred outage costs (36,550) (31,594) (23,654)
Other (423) (1,024) (2,196)

Change in operating assets and liabilities:
Receivables 28,946 7,416 34,174
Inventories (13,875) (41,422) 6,353
Prepayments and other current assets (323) (221) 106
Accounts payable 1,050 (20,074) (15,908)
Accrued interest (34,336) 268 14,045
Accrued and withheld taxes (34,633) 12,714 19,096
Other current liabilities 8,051 (924) (2,201)

Total adjustments 152,579 174,663 283,162

Net cash provided by operating activities 171,640 192,864 300,815

Cash flows from investing activities:
Property additions (194,739) (134,518) (69,744)
Activity in decommissioning fund – Purchases (544,584) (746,779) (690,224)

– Proceeds 526,832 725,387 677,085
Activity in bond, reserve and construction funds – Purchases (5,616) (1,124) (1,064)

– Proceeds 6,502 2,067 1,777
Increase in restricted cash (29,812) (2,156) (4,375)
Decrease (increase) in other short-term investments – 231,798 (132,861)
Increase in investment in associated organizations (1,491) (3,869) (4,268)
Activity in other long-term investments – Purchases (649,694) (487,366) (471,276)

– Proceeds 660,956 418,056 483,525
(Decrease) increase in Members’ advances – (74,471) 74,471
Other (5,265) (894) (2,563)

Net cash used in investing activities (236,911) (73,869) (139,517)

Cash flows from financing activities:
Long-term debt proceeds 755,135 631,495 24,512
Long-term debt payments (775,573) (486,914) (149,697)
Debt related costs (51,693) (13,445) (2,905)
Other 4,575 2,892 3,857

Net cash provided by (used in) financing activities (67,556) 134,028 (124,233)

Net increase (decrease) in cash and temporary cash investments (132,827) 253,023 37,065

Cash and temporary cash investments at beginning of period 423,757 170,734 133,669

Cash and temporary cash investments at end of period $ 290,930 $ 423,757 $ 170,734

Supplemental cash flow information:
Cash paid for –

Interest (net of amounts capitalized) $ 241,632 $ 203,658 $ 190,719

Supplemental disclosure of non-cash investing and financing activities:
Plant expenditures included in ending accounts payable $ 10,099 $ (5,081) $ 5,321

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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OGLETHORPE POWER CORPORATION
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF PATRONAGE CAPITAL AND MEMBERSHIP FEES AND
ACCUMULATED OTHER COMPREHENSIVE DEFICIT
For the years ended December 31, 2007, 2006 and 2005

(dollars in thousands)

Patronage Accumulated
Capital and Other
Membership Comprehensive

Fees Deficit Total

Balance at December 31, 2004 $ 461,655 $ (46,760) $ 414,895

Components of comprehensive margin in 2005

Net margin 17,653 17,653

Unrealized gain on interest rate swap arrangements 10,344 10,344

Unrealized gain on available-for-sale securities 918 918

Total comprehensive margin 28,915

Balance at December 31, 2005 479,308 (35,498) 443,810

Components of comprehensive margin in 2006

Net margin 18,201 18,201

Unrealized gain on interest rate swap arrangements 6,326 6,326

Unrealized gain on available-for-sale securities 184 184

Total comprehensive margin 24,711

Balance at December 31, 2006 497,509 (28,988) 468,521

Components of comprehensive margin in 2007

Net margin 19,061 19,061

Unrealized loss on interest rate swap arrangements (4,222) (4,222)

Unrealized gain on available-for-sale securities 519 519

Total comprehensive margin 15,358

Balance at December 31, 2007 $ 516,570 $ (32,691) $ 483,879

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.

56



NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
For the years ended December 31, 2007, 2006 and 2005

1. Summary of significant accounting policies: c. Patronage capital and membership fees

a. Business description Oglethorpe is organized and operates as a
cooperative. The Members paid a total of $190 inOglethorpe Power Corporation (‘‘Oglethorpe’’) is an
membership fees. Patronage capital includes retained netelectric membership corporation incorporated in 1974
margin of Oglethorpe. Any excess of revenue overand headquartered in metropolitan Atlanta, GA.
expenditures from operations is treated as advances ofOglethorpe is owned by 38 retail electric distribution
capital by the Members and is allocated to each ofcooperative members (the ‘‘Members’’). The wholesale
them on the basis of the Members percentage capacityelectric power provided by Oglethorpe consists of a
responsibility. combination of generating units totaling 4,744

megawatts (‘‘MW’’) of capacity and power purchase Any distributions of patronage capital are subject to
agreements totaling 453 MW of capacity. These the discretion of the Board of Directors, subject to
Members in turn distribute energy on a retail basis to Mortgage Indenture requirements. Under the Mortgage
approximately 4.1 million people. Indenture, Oglethorpe is prohibited from making any

distribution of patronage capital to the Members if, at
b. Basis of accounting the time thereof or giving effect thereto, (i) an event of

default exists under the Mortgage Indenture,Oglethorpe’s consolidated financial statements as of,
(ii) Oglethorpe’s equity as of the end of theand for the periods ended December 31, 2007 include
immediately preceding fiscal quarter is less than 20% ofOglethorpe’s accounts and the accounts of
Oglethorpe’s total capitalization, or (iii) the aggregateOglethorpe’s majority-owned and controlled
amount expended for distributions on or after the datesubsidiaries. Oglethorpe has determined that there are
on which Oglethorpe’s equity first reaches 20% ofno accounts of variable interest entities for which it is
Oglethorpe’s total capitalization exceeds 35% ofthe primary beneficiary. This means that Oglethorpe’s
Oglethorpe’s aggregate net margins earned after suchaccounts are combined with the subsidiaries’ accounts.
date. This last restriction, however will not apply if,Oglethorpe has eliminated any intercompany profits
after giving effect to such distribution, Oglethorpe’sand transactions in consolidation.
equity as of the end of the immediately preceding fiscal

Oglethorpe follows generally accepted accounting quarter is not less than 30% of Oglethorpe’s total
principles and the practices prescribed in the Uniform capitalization.
System of Accounts of the Federal Energy Regulatory
Commission (‘‘FERC’’) as modified and adopted by the d. Accumulated comprehensive deficit
Rural Utilities Service (‘‘RUS’’). 

The table below provides a detail of the beginning
The preparation of financial statements in conformity and ending balance for each classification of other

with accounting principles generally accepted in the comprehensive deficit along with the amount of any
United States requires management to make estimates reclassification adjustments included in margin for each
and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of of the years presented in the Statement of Patronage
assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets Capital and Membership Fees and Accumulated Other
and liabilities as of December 31, 2007 and 2006 and Comprehensive Deficit (see Note 2). Oglethorpe’s
the reported amounts of revenues and expenses for each
of the three years ending December 31, 2007. Actual
results could differ from those estimates.
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effective tax rate is zero; therefore, all amounts below Revenues from Cobb EMC, Jackson EMC, and
are presented net of tax. Sawnee EMC, three of Oglethorpe’s Members,

accounted for 13.3%, 12.3% and 10.0% in 2007,
Accumulated Other Comprehensive Deficit respectively, of Oglethorpe’s total operating revenues.

(dollars in thousands)
Revenues from Cobb EMC, and Jackson EMCInterest Rate Available- Total

Swap for-sale accounted for 13.9% and 11.8% in 2006, and Cobb
Arrangements Securities EMC, Jackson EMC, and Sawnee EMC accounted for

12.8%, 13.0%, and 10.4% in 2005, respectively, ofBalance at December 31, 2004 $ (45,254) $ (1,506) $ (46,760)

Oglethorpe’s total operating revenues.Unrealized gain 10,344 918 11,262

Balance at December 31, 2005 (34,910) (588) (35,498)
g. ReceivablesUnrealized gain 6,326 184 6,510

Balance at December 31, 2006 (28,584) (404) (28,988) Substantially all of Oglethorpe’s receivables are
Unrealized gain (loss) (4,222) 519 (3,703) related to electricity sales to Members. The receivables
Balance at December 31, 2007 $ (32,806) $ 115 $ (32,691) are recorded at the invoiced amount and do not bear

interest. The Members of Oglethorpe are required
through the wholesale power contracts to reimbursee. Margin policy
Oglethorpe for all costs. The remainder of Oglethorpe’s

Oglethorpe is required under the Mortgage Indenture receivables are primarily related to transactions with
to produce a Margins for Interest (‘‘MFI’’) Ratio of at affiliated companies, electricity sales to non-Members
least 1.10. For the years 2005, 2006 and 2007, and to interest income on investments. Uncollectible
Oglethorpe achieved a MFI ratio of 1.10. amounts, if any, are identified on a specific basis and

charged to expense in the period determined to be
f. Operating revenues uncollectible.

Operating revenues consist primarily of electricity
h. Nuclear fuel costsales pursuant to long-term wholesale power contracts

which Oglethorpe maintains with each of its Members. The cost of nuclear fuel, including a provision for
These wholesale power contracts obligate each Member the disposal of spent fuel, is being amortized to fuel
to pay Oglethorpe for capacity and energy furnished in expense based on usage. The total nuclear fuel expense
accordance with rates established by Oglethorpe. Energy for 2007, 2006 and 2005 amounted to $50,138,000,
furnished is determined based on meter readings which $45,299,000, and $44,395,000, respectively. 
are conducted at the end of each month. Actual energy

Contracts with the U.S. Department of Energycosts are compared, on a monthly basis, to the billed
(‘‘DOE’’) have been executed to provide for theenergy costs, and an adjustment to revenues is made
permanent disposal of spent nuclear fuel. DOE failed tosuch that energy revenues are equal to actual energy
begin disposing of spent fuel in January 1998 ascosts. 
required by the contracts, and Georgia Power Company

Operating revenues from non-Members consisted (‘‘GPC’’), as agent for the co-owners of the plants, is
primarily from services provided to Oglethorpe’s former pursuing legal remedies against DOE for breach of
Member Flint EMC. In 2005, sales to non-Members contract. An on-site dry storage facility for Plant Hatch
were primarily from capacity and energy sales to is operational and can be expanded to accommodate
Alabama Electric Cooperative under an agreement to spent fuel through the life of the plant. Plant Vogtle’s
sell 100 MW of capacity for the period June 1998 spent fuel pool storage is expected to be sufficient for
through December 2005. In addition, Oglethorpe sold both units until 2015. Oglethorpe expects that
short-term energy to non-Members for the benefit of procurement of on-site dry storage at Plant Vogtle will
Members participating in its capacity and energy pool. commence in sufficient time to maintain full-core
The capacity and energy pool was discontinued effective discharge capability to the spent fuel pool. 
March, 2005. 
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On July 9, 2007, the U.S. Court of Federal Claims obligations to retire. Oglethorpe, in accordance with
found in favor of Southern Company and awarded regulatory treatment of these costs, continues to
damages in the amount of $59.9 million for Plant Hatch recognize the retirement costs for these other
and Plant Vogtle. Oglethorpe’s share of the award is obligations in depreciation rates. These costs are
$17.98 million. The decision has been appealed by the reflected on the balance sheet as ‘‘Accumulated
DOE. No amounts have been recognized in the financial retirement costs for other obligations’’ under the caption
statements as of December 31, 2007. The final outcome ‘‘Deferred credits and other liabilities.’’ 
of this matter cannot be determined at this time. In December 2006, GPC provided Oglethorpe with
Oglethorpe’s rate-making treatment of such future award revised asset retirement obligations studies associated
received would be passed on to its Members. with decommissioning at its nuclear plants. These 2006

studies were based on the completed plant
i. Asset retirement obligations decommissioning cost estimates and were in accordance

Asset retirement obligations are accounted and with the standards defined in SFAS No. 143. 
reported for under statement of Financial Accounting The following table reflects the details of the Asset
Standards (‘‘SFAS’’) No. 143, ‘‘Accounting for Asset Retirement Obligations included in the balance sheets.
Retirement Obligations’’ and Financial Accounting

(dollars in thousands)Standards Board (‘‘FASB’’) Interpretation No. 47,
Balance at Liabilities Accretion Balance at‘‘Accounting for Conditional Asset Retirement
12/31/06 Incurred 12/31/07

Obligations – an interpretation of FASB Statement (settled)
No. 143’’ (‘‘FIN 47’’). 

Nuclear decommissioning $ 240,793 $ – $ 15,615 $ 256,408
Other 8,782 (418) 554 8,918The liability recognized under SFAS No. 143 and

FIN 47 primarily relates to Oglethorpe’s nuclear Total $ 249,575 $ (418) $ 16,169 $ 265,326

facilities. Oglethorpe also recognized retirement
obligations for ash ponds, landfill sites and asbestos As previously discussed, Oglethorpe is deferring the
removal. timing differences between cost recognition under SFAS

No. 143 and cost recovery for rate making. For 2007Under SFAS No. 71, Oglethorpe may record an
and 2006, these timing differences resulted in aoffsetting regulatory asset or liability to reflect the
decrease to the regulatory liability of $3,159,000 anddifference in timing of recognition of the costs of
$4,581,000, respectively. Increases and decreases to thedecommissioning for financial statement purposes and
regulatory liability are reflected on the accompanyingfor ratemaking purposes for both the cumulative effect
balance sheets as ‘‘Deferred liability associated withof adoption and for future periods timing differences.
retirement obligations’’ under the caption ‘‘DeferredRUS has approved Oglethorpe’s implementation of the
credits and other liabilities.’’ provisions of SFAS No. 71 with respect to the

cumulative effect of adoption and with respect to timing Consistent with Oglethorpe’s ratemaking, unrealized
differences between cost recognition under SFAS gains and losses from the decommissioning trust fund
No. 143 or Interpretation No. 47 and cost recovery for are recorded as an increase or decrease to the regulatory
ratemaking purposes. Therefore, Oglethorpe had no liability.
cumulative effect to net margin resulting from the
adoption of Statement No. 143 or Interpretation No. 47. j. Nuclear decommissioning trust fund
Oglethorpe estimates an annual decrease of

The Nuclear Regulatory Commission (‘‘NRC’’)approximately $3,000,000 over the next several years of
requires all licensees operating commercial powerthe regulatory asset. 
reactors to establish a plan for providing, with

SFAS No. 143 does not permit non-regulated entities reasonable assurance, funds for decommissioning.
to continue accruing future retirement costs associated Oglethorpe has established external trust funds to
with long-lived assets for which there are no legal comply with the NRC’s regulations. The funds set aside
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for decommissioning are managed and invested in estimated costs of decommissioning co-owned nuclear
accordance with applicable requirements of Oglethorpe’s facilities is as follows:
Board of Directors and the NRC. Funds are invested in

(dollars in thousands)a diversified mix of equity and fixed income securities.
Hatch Hatch Vogtle VogtleAt December 31, 2007 and 2006, equity securities

Unit No. 1 Unit No. 2 Unit No. 1 Unit No. 2
comprised 51% and 50% of the external funds and

Year of site study 2006 2006 2006 2006fixed income securities comprised 49% and 50%,
Expected start date ofrespectively. The NRC’s minimum external funding

decommissioning 2034 2038 2027 2029requirements are based on a generic estimate of the cost
Estimated costs based onto decommission the radioactive portions of a nuclear

site study:unit based on the size and type of reactor. Oglethorpe
In year 2006 dollars $ 154,000 $ 199,000 $ 160,000 $ 198,000

has filed plans with the NRC to ensure that, over time,
the deposits and earnings of the external trust funds will

Oglethorpe has not recorded any provision forprovide the minimum funding amounts prescribed by
decommissioning during the years 2007, 2006 and 2005the NRC. Oglethorpe also maintains internal reserves
because the balance in the decommissioning trust fundthat can be transferred to the external trust fund as
at December 31, 2007 is expected to be sufficient toneeded. All realized gains (losses) and earned income
fund the nuclear decommissioning obligation in futureassociated with the nuclear decommissioning fund are
years. In projecting future costs, the escalation rate forreflected within the ‘‘Cash flows from operating
labor, materials and equipment was assumed to beactivities’’ section of Oglethorpe’s cash flow statement.
2.9%. Oglethorpe assumes a 7.0% earnings rate for itsPurchases, including reinvestments of earned income,
decommissioning trust fund assets. Since inceptionand sales are reflected in the ‘Activity in
(1990), the nuclear decommissioning trust fund hasdecommissioning fund’ line of the ‘‘Cash flows from
produced a return in excess of 8.0%. Oglethorpe’sinvesting activities’’ section of the cash flow statement.
management believes that any increase in cost estimatesFor the periods ending December 31, 2007 and 2006,
of decommissioning can be recovered in future rates.realized gains (losses) and earned income totaled

$18,870,000 and $22,451,000, respectively. 
k. Depreciation

Nuclear decommissioning cost estimates are based on
Depreciation is computed on additions when they aresite studies and assume prompt dismantlement and

placed in service using the composite straight-lineremoval of both the radiated and non-radiated portions
method. Annual depreciation rates, as approved by theof the plant from service. Actual decommissioning costs
RUS, in effect in 2007, 2006 and 2005 were as follows:may vary from these estimates because of changes in

the assumed date of decommissioning, changes in Range of 2007 2006 2005
Usefulregulatory requirements, changes in technology, and

Life in years*changes in costs of labor, materials and equipment.
Information with respect to Oglethorpe’s portion of the Steam production 49-55 1.47% 1.47% 1.97%

Nuclear production 37-52 2.42% 2.44% 2.54%
Hydro production 50 2.00% 2.00% 2.00%
Other production 27-33 3.00% 3.03% 3.03%
Transmission 36 2.75% 2.75% 2.75%
General 3-50 2.00-33.33% 2.00-33.33% 2.00-33.33%

* Calculated based on the composite depreciation rates in effect for 2007.

Depreciation expense for the years 2007, 2006 and
2005 was $131,436,000, $156,832,000, and
$152,558,000, respectively. In 2007, under the
provisions of SFAS No. 71, Oglethorpe began deferring
the difference between Plant Vogtle depreciation
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expenses based on the current 40-year operating license o. Restricted cash
versus depreciation expenses based on the applied for The balances at December 31, 2007 and 2006,
20-year license extension. For further discussion of the $48,124,000 and $18,312,000, respectively, were utilized
depreciation deferral, see Note 1(s). in January 2008 and 2007 for payment of principal on

certain PCBs, respectively.
l. Electric plant

Electric plant is stated at original cost, which is the p. Inventories
cost of the plant when first dedicated to public service, Oglethorpe maintains inventories of fossil fuels and
plus the cost of any subsequent additions. Cost includes spare parts for its generation plants. These inventories
an allowance for the cost of equity and debt funds used are stated at weighted average cost on the
during construction. The cost of equity and debt funds accompanying balance sheets. 
is calculated at the embedded cost of all such funds.

Inventories include principally spare parts and fossilFor the years ended December 31, 2007, 2006 and
fuel. The spare parts inventories primarily include the2005, the allowance for funds used during construction
direct cost of generating plant spare parts. Spare parts(‘‘AFUDC’’) rates used were 6.24%, 6.21% and 5.96%,
are charged to inventory when purchased and thenrespectively. 
expensed or capitalized, as appropriate, when installed.

Maintenance and repairs of property and The spare parts inventory is carried at weighted average
replacements and renewals of items determined to be cost and the parts are charged to expense or capital at
less than units of property are charged to expense. weighted average cost. The fossil fuel inventories
Replacements and renewals of items considered to be primarily include the direct cost of coal and related
units of property are charged to the plant accounts. At transportation charges. The cost of fossil fuel
the time properties are disposed of, the original cost, inventories is carried at weighted average cost and is
plus cost of removal, less salvage of such property, is charged to fuel expense as consumed based on weighted
charged to the accumulated provision for depreciation. average cost. 

At December 31, 2007 and 2006, fossil fuelsm. Bond, reserve and construction funds
inventories were $55,981,000 and $50,553,000,

Bond, reserve and construction funds for pollution respectively. Inventories for spare parts at December 31,
control revenue bonds (‘‘PCBs’’) are maintained as 2007 and 2006 were $93,890,000 and $85,443,000,
required by Oglethorpe’s bond agreements. Bond funds respectively.
serve as payment clearing accounts, reserve funds
maintain amounts equal to the maximum annual debt q. Deferred charges
service of each bond issue and construction funds hold

Oglethorpe accounts for both coal-fire outage andbond proceeds for which construction expenditures have
nuclear refueling outage costs as deferred outage costs.not yet been made. As of December 31, 2007 and
Beginning in 2006, Oglethorpe began deferring coal-fire2006, all of the funds were invested in either U.S.
outage costs at its fossil fuel facilities, which areGovernment securities or money market accounts.
accounted for as regulatory assets. The deferral of these
costs, are being amortized on a straight-line basis ton. Cash and cash equivalents
expense over an 18 to 24 month period. Nuclear

Oglethorpe considers all temporary cash investments refueling outage costs, accounted for as regulatory
purchased with a maturity of three months or less to be assets, are deferred and subsequently amortized to
cash equivalents. Temporary cash investments with expense over the 18-month and 24-month operating
maturities of more than three months are classified as cycles of each unit. 
other short-term investments.

Oglethorpe accounts for debt issuance costs as
deferred debt expense. Deferred debt expense is being
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amortized to expense on a straight-line basis over the caption ‘‘Deferred charges’’, in the line item ‘‘Other.’’
life of the respective debt issues, which approximates Derivative instruments below are classified as ‘‘Deferred
the effective interest rate method. credits and other liabilities’’ on the balance sheet in the

line item ‘‘Other.’’ Effective July 1, 2007, OglethorpePremium and loss on reacquired debt represents
under the provisions of SFAS No. 71 is deferring thepremiums paid, together with any unamortized
difference between Plant Vogtle depreciation expensestransaction costs, related to reacquired debt. This
based on the current 40-year operating license versusdeferred charge is being amortized in equal monthly
depreciation expenses based on the applied for 20-yearamounts over the amortization period for the refunding
license extension. The difference in the depreciationdebt. 
expenses is reflected in the ‘‘Deferred depreciation

As of December 31, 2007, the remaining expense’’ line item in the table below. The deferral
amortization periods for debt inssuance costs and amount will be amortized to deprecation expense over
premium and loss on reacquired debt range from the remaining life of Plant Vogtle beginning in the year
approximately 1 to 33 years. that the license extension is approved by the NRC. The

approval from the NRC is expected mid 2009 or later. 
(dollars in thousands)

Balance at Additions Amortization Balance at Oglethorpe’s rates are not set to produce revenues
12/31/06 12/31/07

that produce a ‘‘current return.’’ Oglethorpe operates on
Outage costs $ 25,782 $ 36,551 $ (32,500) $ 29,833 a not-for-profit basis. Under Mortgage Indenture
Debt issuance costs 30,072 9,565 (2,281) 37,356

requirements Oglethorpe is required to set ratesPremium (loss) on reacquired
debt 112,147 42,128 (13,446) 140,829 sufficient to achieve net margins that result in a Margin

for Interest Ratio of at least 1.10. The current and
future amortization of the costs of regulatory assets isr. Deferred credits
considered in determining the revenue requirements

As a result of the Rocky Mountain lease transactions, necessary to produce a Margin for Interest Ratio of at
Oglethorpe recorded a net benefit of $95,560,000 which least 1.10. 
was deferred and is being amortized to income over the

The following regulatory assets and liabilities are30-year lease-back period. For further discussion on the
reflected on the accompanying balance sheets as ofRocky Mountain lease transactions, see Note 2.
December 31, 2007 and 2006:

s. Regulatory assets and liabilities (dollars in thousands)

2007 2006
Oglethorpe is subject to the provisions of SFAS

Premium and loss on reacquired debt $ 140,829 $ 112,147No. 71. Regulatory assets represent certain costs that
Deferred amortization of capital leases 91,446 95,450are probable of recovery by Oglethorpe from its
Deferred outage costs 29,833 25,782Members in future revenues through rates under its
Deferred depreciation expense 14,318 –Wholesale Power Contracts with its Members extending
Other regulatory assets 1,981 2,401through December 31, 2050. Future revenues are
Derivative instruments (2,280) 833expected to provide for recovery of previously incurred
Asset retirement obligations (5,568) (11,085)costs and are not calculated to provide for expected
Accumulated retirement costs for other obligations (53,327) (56,220)levels of similar future costs. Regulatory liabilities
Net benefit of Rocky Mountain transactions (60,521) (63,707)represent certain items of income that are being retained

by Oglethorpe and that will be applied in the future to Total $ 156,711 $ 105,601

reduce revenues required to be recovered from
Members. In the event that competitive or other factors result in

cost recovery practices under which Oglethorpe can noThe regulatory assets ‘‘deferred depreciation
longer apply the provisions of SFAS No. 71, Oglethorpeexpense’’ and ‘‘other regulatory assets’’ in the table
would be required to eliminate all regulatory assets andbelow are included on the balance sheet, under the
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liabilities that could not otherwise be recognized as separate from parent’s equity; b) amount of consolidated
assets and liabilities by businesses in general. In net income attributable to parent and noncontrolling
addition, Oglethorpe would be required to determine interest be present on face of consolidated statement of
any impairment to other assets, including plant, and income; c) changes in parent’s ownership interest while
write-down those assets, if impaired, to their fair value. controlling financial interest in subsidiary is consistently

accounted for; d) retained noncontrolling equityAll of the regulatory assets and liabilities included in
investment in deconsolidated subsidiary be initiallythe table above are being recovered or refunded to
measured at fair value; e) sufficient disclosure clearlyOglethorpe’s Members on a current, ongoing basis in
identifies and distinguish between interests of parentOglethorpe’s rates. The remaining recovery period for
and noncontrolling owners. SFAS No. 160 is effectivethe regulatory assets ranges from approximately 1 to
for Oglethorpe January 1, 2009. Currently, the adoption33 years, except for the asset retirement obligations
of SFAS No. 160 is not expected to have any impact onregulatory assets which have a recovery period of 11 to
Oglethorpe’s results of operations or financial condition.38.5 years. The remaining refund period for the

regulatory liabilities are approximately 19 years for the In December 2007, the FASB issued SFAS No. 141
Rocky Mountain transactions and over the lives of the (revised 2007), ‘‘Business Combinations.’’ The
plants for accumulated retirement costs for other Statement establishes principles and requirements for
obligations. how the acquirer in a business combination:

a) recognizes and measures the identifiable assets
t. Other income (expense) acquired, liabilities assumed, and noncontrolling interest

in acquiree; b) recognizes and measures the goodwillThe components of the other income (expense) line
acquired in the business combination or a gain from aitem within the Consolidated Statement of Revenues
bargain purchase; c) determines what information toand Expenses were as follows:
disclose to enable users of financial statements to

(dollars in thousands) evaluate the nature and financial effects of the business
2007 2006 2005 combination. SFAS No. 141 (revised 2007) is effective

Capital credits from associated for Oglethorpe January 1, 2009. Currently, the adoption
companies (Note 2) $ 1,875 $ 1,961 $ 1,908 of SFAS No. 141 (revised 2007) is not expected to have

Net revenue from Georgia
any impact on Oglethorpe’s results of operations orTransmission Corporation

(‘‘GTC’’) & Georgia System financial condition. 
Operations Corporation (‘‘GSOC’’)
for shared A&G costs 1,667 1,496 1,501 In February 2007, the FASB issued SFAS No. 159,

Miscellaneous other 693 135 (361) ‘‘The Fair Value Option for Financial Assets and
Financial Liabilities’’, including an amendment of SFASTotal $ 4,235 $ 3,592 $ 3,048

No. 115, ‘‘Accounting for Certain Investments in Debt
and Equity Securities.’’ This statement permits entities

u. Presentation to choose to measure many financial instruments and
certain other items at fair value that are not currentlyCertain prior year amounts have been reclassified to
required to be measured at fair value. This statementconform with the current year presentation.
also establishes presentation and disclosure requirements
designed to facilitate comparison between entities thatv. New accounting pronouncements
choose different measurement attributes for similar

In December 2007, the FASB issued SFAS No. 160, types of assets and liabilities. The statement provides
‘‘Noncontrolling Interests in Consolidated Financial entities with the opportunity to mitigate volatility in
Statements – an amendment to ARB No. 51.’’ The reported earnings caused by measuring related assets
Statement establishes accounting and reporting standards and liabilities differently without having to apply
that require: a) ownership interests in subsidiaries be complex hedge accounting provisions. The provisions of
clearly identified and presented in consolidated this Statement apply only to entities that elect the fair
statement of financial position within equity but
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value option however, the amendment to SFAS No. 115 2. Fair value of financial instruments:
applies to all entities with available-for-sale and trading A detail of the estimated fair values of Oglethorpe’s
securities. SFAS No. 159 is effective for Oglethorpe financial instruments as of December 31, 2007 and
January 1, 2008. Oglethorpe will not elect the fair value 2006 is as follows:
option for any of its assets, except for assets accounted

(dollars in thousands)for under SFAS No. 115. 
2007 2006

Fair FairIn September 2006, the FASB issued SFAS No. 157,
Cost Value Cost Value‘‘Fair Value Measurements’’ which defines fair value,

establishes a framework for measuring fair value in Long-term investments:
Auction rate securities $ 47,000 $ 47,000 $ 61,025 $ 61,025generally accepted accounting principles (GAAP), and
Equity securities 24,117 28,326 23,560 26,220expands disclosures about fair value measurements. Bonds 33,062 33,447 29,796 29,578

SFAS No. 157 does not require any new fair value Other 397 397 1,458 1,458

measurements. However, the application of SFAS
Total $ 104,576 $ 109,170 $ 115,839 $ 118,281

No. 157 may change the current practice for measuring
Bond, reserve andfair value. Oglethorpe adopted SFAS No. 157 effective

construction funds:January 1, 2008 with no material effect on its results of U. S. Government
operations or financial condition. securities $ – $ – $ 5,413 $ 5,310

Money market
accounts 5,614 5,614 1,087 1,087

Total $ 5,614 $ 5,614 $ 6,500 $ 6,397

Decommissioning fund:
U. S. Government

securities $ 15,354 $ 15,626 $ 19,677 $ 19,599
Corporate bonds 63,781 61,473 77,971 77,624
Commercial paper – – 212 215
Real estate 150 161 150 162
Equity securities 118,806 123,277 104,034 117,180
Asset-backed

securities 4,716 4,502 9,152 9,134
Other bonds 29,486 28,872 5,732 5,719
Cash and money

market securities 6,063 6,063 3,676 3,676

Total $ 238,356 $ 239,974 $ 220,604 $ 233,309

Long-term debt $ 3,291,424 $ 3,503,861 $ 3,197,478 $ 3,354,257

Interest rate swaps $ – $ (30,526) $ – $ (29,417)

Oglethorpe uses the methods and assumptions
described below to estimate the fair value of each class
of financial instruments. For cash and cash equivalents,
restricted cash and receivables the carrying amount
approximates fair value because of the short-term
maturity of those instruments. The fair value of debt
and equity securities are based on the quoted market
prices for the same issues. The fair value of
Oglethorpe’s long-term debt is estimated based on
quoted market prices for the same or similar issues or
on the current rates offered to Oglethorpe for debt of
similar maturities. The fair value of the interest rate
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swap arrangements represents a mark-to-market estimate swap arrangements at December 31, 2007 was an
provided by the swap counterparty based on market unrealized loss of $32,806,000 representing the
levels at the close of business on December 31, 2007. estimated payment Oglethorpe would have paid if the

swap arrangements were terminated. In March 2008,
Derivative instruments Oglethorpe terminated the AIG-FP swaps. The

termination payment to AIG-FP of $36,611,000 hasOglethorpe accounts for derivatives under SFAS
been recorded as a regulatory asset in accordance withNo. 133 as amended. The standard establishes
SFAS No. 71 and will be amortized to expense over theaccounting and reporting requirements for derivative
remaining life of the Series 1993A notes andinstruments, including certain derivative instruments
Series 1994A notes, or 2016 and 2019, respectively. embedded in other contracts, and hedging activities. It

requires the recognition of certain derivatives as assets Oglethorpe entered into swap arrangements with
or liabilities on Oglethorpe’s balance sheet and JPMorgan Chase Bank (‘‘JPMC’’) in 2006. These swaps
measurement of those instruments at fair value. The use as notional principal, Oglethorpe’s 83.14% share of
accounting treatment of changes in fair value is the Series 1993A and Series 1994A bonds
dependent upon whether or not a derivative instrument ($136,771,000 and $85,314,000 respectively at
is classified as a hedge and if so, the type of hedge. December 31, 2007) and are designed to convert the

contractual variable rate of interest Oglethorpe receivedIn 1993, Oglethorpe entered into two interest rate
under the swaps with AIG-FP to a longer-termswap arrangements with AIG Financial Products Corp.
contractual variable rate of interest Oglethorpe received(‘‘AIG-FP’’), for the purpose of securing a fixed rate
from JPMC. The estimated fair value of the JPMClower than otherwise would have been available to
swap arrangements at December 31, 2007 was anOglethorpe had it issued fixed rate bonds at that time.
unrealized gain of $2,280,000, representing theUnder these swap arrangements, Oglethorpe made
estimated payment Oglethorpe would have received ifpayments to the counterparty based on the notional
the swap arrangements were terminated on that date. Inprincipal at a contractual fixed rate and the counterparty
March 2008, Oglethorpe terminated the JPMC swaps.made payments to Oglethorpe based on the notional
The termination payment received from JPMC ofprincipal at the existing variable rate of the refunding
$2,840,000 has been recorded as a regulatory liability inbonds. The differential paid or received was accrued as
accordance with SFAS No. 71 and will be amortized tointerest rates changed and was recognized as an
expense over the remaining life of the Series 1993Aadjustment to interest expense. For the Series 1993A
notes and Series 1994A notes, or 2016 and 2019,notes, the notional principal at December 31, 2007 was
respectively. $164,515,000 and the fixed swap rate was 5.67% (the

variable rate at December 31, 2007 and 2006 was In accordance with SFAS No. 133, Oglethorpe
3.52% and 3.93%, respectively). With respect to the classifies a cash-flow hedge as a hedge of an exposure
Series 1994A notes, the notional principal at to variability in cash flows that are attributable to a
December 31, 2007 was $102,620,000 and the fixed particular risk. There are numerous prescriptive criteria
swap rate was 6.01% (the variable rate at December 31, that must be met in order for a hedging relationship to
2007 and 2006 was 3.43% and 3.95%, respectively). qualify as a cash-flow hedge. Some of the criteria are
The notional principal amount was used to measure the as follows:
amount of the swap payments and did not represent

At inception of the hedge, there is formaladditional principal due to the counterparty. 
documentation of the hedging relationship and the

A portion (16.86%) of the AIG-FP interest rate swap entity’s risk-management objective and strategy for
arrangements were assumed by GTC in connection with undertaking the hedge, including identification of the
a corporate restructuring. Oglethorpe classified its hedging instrument, the hedged cash-flow transaction,
portion of the two interest rate swap arrangements, the nature of the risk that is being hedged, and how the
pursuant to SFAS No. 133, as cash flow hedges. hedging instrument’s effectiveness will be assessed.
Oglethorpe’s portion of the estimated fair value of the
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There must be a reasonable basis for how the entity Oglethorpe may be exposed to losses in the event of
plans to assess the hedging instrument’s effectiveness. nonperformance of the counterparties to its derivative

instruments, but does not anticipate suchBoth at the inception of the hedge and on an
nonperformance. on-going basis, the hedging relationship is expected to

be highly effective in offsetting the variability of cash All activities associated with derivative instruments
flows that are attributable to the hedged risk during the are included as a component of cash flows from
term of the hedge. operating activities in Oglethorpe’s consolidated

statements of cash flows when realized.The forecasted transaction is specifically identified as
a single transaction or a series of individual Investments in debt and equity securities
transactions. If aggregated, the individual transactions

Under SFAS No. 115, ‘‘Accounting for Certainmust share the same risk exposure for which they are
Investments in Debt and Equity Securities,’’ investmentdesignated as being hedged. 
securities held by Oglethorpe are classified as either

The occurrence of the forecasted transaction is available-for-sale or held-to-maturity. Available-for-sale
probable. securities are carried at market value with unrealized

gains and losses, net of any tax effect, added to orThe forecasted transaction presents an exposure to
deducted from patronage capital. Unrealized gains andvariations in cash flows for the hedged risk, which
losses from investment securities held in thecould affect reported earnings. 
decommissioning fund, which are also classified as

Settlement amounts related to cash flow hedges are available-for-sale, are directly added to or deducted
reclassified from other comprehensive margin (‘‘OCM’’) from deferred asset retirement obligations costs.
and recorded in the Statement of Revenues and Held-to-maturity securities are carried at cost. There
Expenses when the hedged item affects margins, in the were no held-to-maturity securities as of December 31,
same accounts as the item being hedged. Oglethorpe 2007 and 2006. All realized and unrealized gains and
will discontinue hedge accounting prospectively if it losses are determined using the specific identification
determines that the derivative no longer qualifies as an method. Approximately 44% of these gross unrealized
effective hedge, or if it is no longer probable that the losses were in effect for less than one year. These
hedged transaction will occur. If hedge accounting is losses were primarily due to investments in fixed
discontinued because the derivative no longer qualifies income securities held in the nuclear decommissioning
as an effective hedge, the derivative will continue to be fund. Consistent with Oglethorpe’s ratemaking,
carried on the balance sheet at its fair value, with unrealized gains and losses from the decommissioning
subsequent changes in its fair value recognized in trust fund are recorded as an increase or decrease to the
current-period margins. Gains and losses related to regulatory asset. 
discontinued hedges that were previously accumulated

Oglethorpe also had $47 million invested in auctionin OCM will remain in OCM until the hedged item is
rate securities of other companies at December 31,reflected in margin, unless it is no longer probable that
2007. These securities have maturities in excess of onethe hedged transaction would occur. Gains and losses
year and as such are classified as long-term investments.that were accumulated in OCM will be immediately
Auction rate securities re-price in Dutch auctions thatrecognized in current-period margins if it is no longer
occur every 7 to 35 days, and Oglethorpe can seek toprobable that the hedged transaction will occur. 
liquidate these securities at the end of any auction

As of December 31, 2007, the amount of after-tax period. Recently, however, Oglethorpe has experienced
deferred losses in OCM that are expected to be failed auctions on some of its auction rate securities
reclassified to margins during the next 12 months as the investments, requiring Oglethorpe to hold the investment
hedged interest payments occur are expected to be during the subsequent auction period. Auction rate
immaterial. securities held for investment by Oglethorpe have AA

and AAA credit ratings. Oglethorpe was not expecting
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the current lack of marketability when it made the The following table summarizes the realized gains
decision to invest in the securities, but believes that as and losses and proceeds from sales of securities for the
of December 31, 2007, there was no impairment to years ended December 31, 2007, 2006 and 2005:
auction rates securities. 

(dollars in thousands)

For the years ended December 31,The following table summarizes the unrealized gains
2007 2006 2005

and losses on the available-for-sale investments as of
Gross realized gains $ 15,492 $ 20,491 $ 11,366December 31, 2007 and 2006:
Gross realized losses (6,882) (7,502) (4,010)
Proceeds from sales 533,334 727,454 678,862(dollars in thousands)

As of December 31,
2007 2006

Investment in associated companies, at cost
Gross unrealized gains $ 17,044 $ 19,102
Gross unrealized losses (10,832) (4,058) Investments in associated companies were as follows

at December 31, 2007 and 2006:
For those securities considered to be

(dollars in thousands)available-for-sale, the following table summarizes the
2007 2006

activities for those securities as of December 31:
National Rural Utilities Cooperative

Finance Corp. (‘‘CFC’’) $ 13,977 $ 13,977(dollars in thousands)

Gross Unrealized CoBank, ACB 4,070 4,288
2007 Cost Gains Losses Fair Value

CT Parts, LLC 5,928 5,924

Equity $ 142,923 $ 14,785 $ (6,105) $ 151,603 Georgia Transmission Corporation
(‘‘GTC’’) 13,100 11,682Debt 193,399 2,248 (4,727) 190,920

Georgia System OperationsOther 12,224 11 – 12,235
Corporation (‘‘GSOC’’) 8,214 6,305

Total $ 348,546 $ 17,044 $ (10,832) $ 354,758 Other 1,160 1,155

Gross Unrealized Total $ 46,449 $ 43,331
2006 Cost Gains Losses Fair Value

Equity $ 127,594 $ 17,229 $ (1,423) $ 143,400 The CFC investments are primarily in the form of
Debt 211,311 1,858 (2,635) 210,534

capital term certificates and are required in conjunctionOther 4,038 15 – 4,053

with Oglethorpe’s membership in CFC. Accordingly,Total $ 342,943 $ 19,102 $ (4,058) $ 357,987

there is no market for these investments. The
All of the available-for-sale investments are marked investments in CoBank and GTC represent capital

to market in the accompanying balance sheets, credits. Any distributions of capital credits are subject
therefore, the carrying value equals the fair value. to the discretion of the Board of Directors of CoBank

and GTC. The investments in GSOC represent loanThe contractual maturities of debt securities
advances. The loan repayment schedule ends inavailable-for-sale, which are included in the estimated
December 2013. fair value table above, at December 31, 2007 and 2006

are as follows: CT Parts, LLC is an affiliated organization formed by
Oglethorpe and Smarr EMC for the purpose of

(dollars in thousands)

purchasing and maintaining a spare parts inventory and2007 2006
Fair Fair administration of contracted services for combustion

Cost Value Cost Value turbine generation facilities. Such investment is recorded
Due within one year $ 22,645 $ 22,022 $ 42,317 $ 41,910 at cost.
Due after one year through

five years 59,544 58,688 53,163 52,994
Due after five years through

ten years 8,787 8,749 9,282 9,381
Due after ten years 102,423 101,461 106,549 106,249

Total $ 193,399 $ 190,920 $ 211,311 $ 210,534
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Rocky Mountain transactions principally due to the high credit rating of the payment
undertaker. In December 1996 and January 1997, Oglethorpe

entered into six long-term lease transactions for its The assets of RMLC are not available to pay
74.61% undivided interest in Rocky Mountain pumped creditors of Oglethorpe or its affiliates. 
storage hydro facility (‘‘Rocky Mountain’’), through a

Provisions in the Rocky Mountain lease transactionswholly owned subsidiary of Oglethorpe, Rocky
could require Oglethorpe to post surety bonds or lettersMountain Leasing Corporation (‘‘RMLC’’). RMLC
of credit in the amount of $50 million if Oglethorpeleases from six owner trusts the undivided interest in
fails to maintain at least two ‘‘triple-B’’ ratings on itsRocky Mountain and subleases it back to Oglethorpe.
senior secured debt (if any and if rated) and at least twoThe Deposit on Rocky Mountain transactions, which is
‘‘triple-B minus’’ ratings on its senior unsecured debtcarried at cost, was made in connection with these
(if any and if rated) from S&P, Moody’s and Fitch, orlease transactions and is invested in a guaranteed
if it fails to maintain at least $50 million in availableinvestment contract which will be held to maturity (the
liquidity.end of the 30-year lease-back period). At the end of

the base lease term, Oglethorpe intends, through
3. Income taxes:RMLC, to repurchase tax ownership and to retain all

other rights of ownership with respect to the facility if Oglethorpe is a not-for-profit membership corporation
it is advantageous to do so. If Oglethorpe does elect to subject to federal and state income taxes. As a taxable
repurchase the facility, the funds in the guaranteed electric cooperative, Oglethorpe has annually allocated
investment contract will be used to pay a portion its income and deductions between patronage and
($371,850,000) of the fixed purchase price. non-patronage activities. 

In addition, from the proceeds of the Rocky Although Oglethorpe believes that its treatment of
Mountain lease transactions, RMLC paid $640,611,000 non-member sales as patronage-sourced income is
to fund payment undertaking agreements with a third appropriate, this treatment has not been examined by
party financial institution whose senior debt obligations the Internal Revenue Service. If this treatment was not
are rated ‘‘AAA’’ by S&P and ‘‘Aaa’’ by Moody’s. In sustained, Oglethorpe believes that the amount of taxes
return, this financial institution undertook to pay all of on such non-member sales, after allocating related
RMLC’s periodic basic rent payments under the leases expenses against the revenues from such sales, would
and to pay the remaining portion of the fixed purchase not have a material adverse effect on its financial
price ($714,923,000) should Oglethorpe, through condition or results of operations and cash flows. 
RMLC, elect to repurchase the facility at the end of the Oglethorpe accounts for its income taxes pursuant to
base lease term. Both RMLC’s interest in this payment SFAS No. 109, ‘‘Accounting for Income Taxes.’’ SFAS
undertaking agreement and the corresponding lease No. 109 requires the recognition of deferred tax assets
obligations have been extinguished for financial and liabilities for the expected future tax consequences
reporting purposes. In 2008, RMLC will be required to of events that have been included in the financial
make basic rent payments totaling $53,838,000 to the statements or tax returns. 
owner trusts. RMLC remains liable for all payments of

There is no income tax provision for the year endedbasic rent under the leases if the payment undertaker
December 31, 2007. fails to make such payments, although the owner trusts

have agreed to use due diligence to pursue the payment The difference between the statutory federal income
undertaker before pursuing payment from RMLC or tax rate on income before income taxes and
Oglethorpe. The fair value amount relating to the
guarantee of basic rent payments is immaterial
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Oglethorpe’s effective income tax rate is summarized as The change in the valuation allowance from 2006 to
follows: 2007 was the result of the reduction in deferred tax

assets due to the expiration of tax credits, net operating
2007 2006 2005 losses and the implementation of FIN 48. It is not

Statutory federal income tax rate 35.0% 35.0% 35.0% likely that the remaining AMT credit will be realized. 
Patronage exclusion (32.3%) (34.0%) (35.0%)
Tax credits 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% In July 2006, the FASB issued Financial
Other (2.7%) (1.0%) 0.0% Interpretation No. 48, ‘‘Accounting for Uncertainty in
Effective income tax rate 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% Income Taxes – an Interpretation of Financial

Accounting Standards No. 109 Positions’’ (FIN 48).
The components of the net deferred tax assets as of The interpretation addresses the determination of

December 31, 2007 and 2006 were as follows: whether tax benefits claimed or expected to be claimed
on a tax return should be recorded in the financial(dollars in thousands)

2007 2006 statements. Under FIN 48, Oglethorpe may recognize
the tax benefit from an uncertain tax position only if itDeferred tax assets
is more likely than not that the tax position will beNet operating losses $ 134,478 $ 168,235

Tax credits (alternative minimum tax and sustained on examination by the taxing authorities,
other) 1,848 1,848 based on the technical merits of the position. The tax

136,326 170,083 benefits recognized in the financial statements from
Less: Valuation allowance (64,326) (170,083)

such a position should be measured based on the largest
Net deferred tax assets $ 72,000 $ –

benefit that has a greater than fifty percent likelihood of
being realized upon ultimate settlement. FIN 48 also

Deferred tax liabilities
provides guidance on derecognition, classification,Depreciation $ – $ –
interest and penalties on income taxes, accounting in– –
interim periods and requires increased disclosures.Net deferred tax liabilities $ – $ –
Oglethorpe adopted the provisions of FIN 48 effective
January 1, 2007. As of December 31, 2007, Oglethorpe has federal tax

net operating loss carryforwards (‘‘NOLs’’) and Oglethorpe and its subsidiaries file a U.S. federal
alternative minimum tax credits (‘‘AMT’’) as follows: consolidated income tax return. The U.S. federal statute

(dollars in thousands) of limitations remains open for the year 2004 forward.
State jurisdictions have statutes of limitations generallyMinimum

Alternative ranging from three to five years from the filing of an
Expiration Date Tax Credits Tax Credits NOLs income tax return. The state impact of any federal

2008 $ – $ – $ 94,927 changes remains subject to examination by various
2009 – – 96,394 states for a period of up to one year after formal
2010 – – 77,970 notification to the states. Years still open to examination
2018 – – 61,533

by tax authorities in major state jurisdictions include2019 – – 10,516
2020 – – 4,362 2004 forward. 
2021 – – –

As a result of the adoption of FIN 48, OglethorpeNone 1,848 – –

recognized a $96 million increase in the liability for
$ 1,848 $ – $ 345,702 unrecognized tax benefits. This change in the liability

resulted in no decrease to the January 1, 2007 balance
The NOL expiration dates start in the year 2008 and of patronage capital as the effects were offset by

end in the year 2021. Due to the tax basis method for recognition of deferred tax assets. During the third
allocating patronage and as shown by the above quarter of 2007, one of the four open years expired.
valuation allowance, it is not likely that the deferred tax Accordingly, this liability and related deferred tax asset
assets related to tax credits and NOLs will be realized. was reduced by $24 million during the third quarter.
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Oglethorpe is carrying forward significant regular tax minimum lease payments as of December 31, 2007 are
and alternative minimum tax (AMT) net operating as follows:
losses (NOLs). Therefore, any regular tax liability in the

Year Ending December 31, (dollars in thousands)open years related to the uncertain tax position would
Schererbe offset by regular NOLs. However, Oglethorpe would

Unit No. 2 Doyle Totalbe liable for the portion of AMT for this period that is
2008 $ 31,897 $ 12,447 $ 44,344not allowed to be offset by the AMT NOLs. In the
2009 31,882 12,447 44,329

current open years, Oglethorpe’s exposure is not 2010 31,860 12,447 44,307
material to its consolidated results of operations, cash 2011 31,859 12,447 44,306

2012 31,772 12,447 44,219flows or financial position. 
2013-2021 154,703 43,191 197,894

Oglethorpe recognizes accrued interest with uncertain
Total minimum lease payments 313,973 105,426 419,399tax positions in interest expense in the condensed

statements of revenues and expenses. As of
Less: Amount representingDecember 31, 2007, Oglethorpe has recorded interest (109,903) (22,767) (132,670)

approximately $549,440 for interest in the
accompanying balance sheet. It is expected that the Present value of net
amount of unrecognized tax benefits will change in the minimum lease payments 204,070 82,659 286,729

next twelve months; however, Oglethorpe does not
Less: Current portion (18,090) (7,696) (25,786)expect the change to have a significant impact on its

results of operations, its financial position or its
Long-term balance $ 185,980 $ 74,963 $ 260,943effective tax rate. 

The unrecognized tax benefit reconciliation from The interest rate on the Scherer No. 2 lease
beginning balance to ending balance is as follows: obligation is 6.97%. For Doyle, the lease payments vary

to the extent the interest rate on the lessor’s debt varies
(dollars in thousands)

from 6.00%. At December 31, 2007, the weighted
Unrecognized tax benefit at beginning of year (January 1, 2007) $ 96,000 average interest rate on the Doyle lease obligation was

Reduction of tax positions as a result of statue of limitation 5.95%. 
expiration (24,000)

The Scherer No. 2 lease and the Doyle AgreementUnrecognized tax benefits at year end (December 31, 2007) $ 72,000

meet the definitional criteria to be reported as capital
leases. For rate-making purposes, however, Oglethorpe

4. Capital leases: includes the actual lease payments in its cost of service.
The difference between lease payments and theIn 1985, Oglethorpe sold and subsequently leased
aggregate of the amortization on the capital lease assetback from four purchasers its 60% undivided ownership
and the interest on the capital lease obligation isinterest in Scherer Unit No. 2. The gain from the sale is
recognized as a regulatory asset on the balance sheetbeing amortized over the 36-year term of the leases. 
pursuant to SFAS No. 71.

In 2000, Oglethorpe entered into a power purchase
and sale agreement with Doyle I, LLC (‘‘Doyle 5. Long-term debt:
Agreement’’) to purchase all of the output from a

Long-term debt consists of mortgage notes payable tofive-unit generation facility (‘‘Doyle’’) for a period of
the United States of America acting through the FFB15 years. Oglethorpe has the option to purchase Doyle
and the RUS, mortgage bonds payable, mortgage notesat the end of the 15 year term for $10,000,000, which
issued in conjunction with the sale by public authoritiesis considered a bargain purchase price. 
of PCBs, and mortgage notes payable to CoBank.

The minimum lease payments under the capital Substantially all of the owned tangible and certain of
leases together with the present value of the net the intangible assets of Oglethorpe are pledged as

collateral for the FFB and RUS notes, the mortgage
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bonds, the CoBank mortgage notes and the mortgage Maturities for long-term debt and amortization of the
notes issued in conjunction with the sale of PCBs. capital lease obligations through 2012 are as follows:

(dollars in thousands)In October 2007, Oglethorpe issued $500,000,000 of
2008 2009 2010 2011 2012first mortgage bonds and used the proceeds to prepay

$442,000,000 of existing FFB debt and for general FFB $ 68,578 $ 71,969 $ 74,289 $ 77,837 $ 81,513
RUS 603 634 666 700 736corporate purposes. Redemptions on the new fixed rate
CoBank 305 344 387 435 490debt occur in 2024 to 2030 with a final maturity of
PCBs (1) 48,128 13,414 32,215 36,268 33,674

2031. 
117,614 86,361 107,557 115,240 116,413

Capital leases (2) 25,786 24,876 27,121 29,657 32,508Also in October 2007, Oglethorpe completed a
Total $143,400 $111,237 $134,678 $144,897 $148,921refunding transaction whereby $181,890,000 of PCBs

were issued. The proceeds were used to make PCB (1) Amounts reflect only Oglethorpe’s 83.14% share of the PCB maturities. The 2008 maturities were
refinanced in an October 2007 transaction, and a plan is in place to refinance all future PCB annualprincipal payments in the amount of $21,715,000 due
maturities in the 4th quarter of the year prior to maturity.on January 1, 2008 and to refinance $160,180,000 of

(2) Amounts reflect the debt portion of annual amortization of capitalized lease obligations as reflected onPCB bullet maturities. The PCBs were refinanced for
the balance sheet. 

the purpose of extending the maturity dates on the debt,
The weighted average interest rate for long-term debtwhich are now scheduled to mature in 2038 through

and capital leases was 5.45% at December 31, 2007. 2040. 

Oglethorpe has a $50,000,000 committed line ofIn conjunction with the payment of PCB principal
credit with CFC and another $50,000,000 committeddue on January 1, 2008, $1,076,000 was released from
line of credit with CoBank. Both of these credita debt service reserve fund and applied to the payment
facilities are for general working capital purposes. Noof principal and interest due on the bonds being
balance was outstanding on either of these two lines ofrefunded. 
credit at either December 31, 2007 or 2006. 

In connection with a 1997 corporate restructuring,
Oglethorpe has a commercial paper program under16.86% of the then outstanding PCBs were assumed by

which it is authorized to issue commercial paper inGTC, including approximately $3,662,000 of the PCBs
amounts that do not exceed the amount of itsthat were refinanced in October 2007. As it has the
committed backup lines of credit, thereby providingright to do so pursuant to an agreement between the
100% dedicated support for any paper outstanding.companies, GTC participated in the refinancing and
Oglethorpe periodically assesses its needs to determineassumed an obligation for $3,662,000 of the PCB
the appropriate amount to maintain in its backuprefunding debt issued in October 2007. 
facility, and currently has in place a $450,000,000

The annual interest requirement for 2008 is estimated committed backup line of credit that expires in July
to be $223,038,000. 2012. In addition to providing dedicated support for

commercial paper, the facility may also be used for
working capital and for general corporate purposes and
to issue letters of credit in an aggregate amount up to
$50,000,000. However, any amounts drawn under the
facility for working capital or general purposes or for
purposes of supporting issued letters of credit will
reduce the amount of commercial paper that Oglethorpe
is authorized to issue. No balance was outstanding on
this line of credit at either December 31, 2007 or 2006.

6. Electric plant and related agreements:

Oglethorpe and GPC have entered into agreements
providing for the purchase and subsequent joint
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operation of certain of GPC’s electric generating plants. participation, either partially or completely. As of
The plant investments disclosed in the table below December 31, 2007, the total capitalized costs to date
represent Oglethorpe’s undivided interest in each were $18,402,000.
co-owned plant, and each co-owner is responsible for

7. Employee benefit plans:providing its own financing. A summary of
Oglethorpe’s plant investments and related accumulated Effective January 1, 2005 Oglethorpe merged its
depreciation as of December 31, 2007 is as follows: money purchase pension plan and its contributory

(dollars in thousands) 401(k) plan into one plan the OPC Retirement Plan.
Accumulated The merged plan is a 401(k) plan. The money purchase

Plant Investment Depreciation pension feature of the merged plan is now known as the
In-service employer retirement contribution. Under the merged

Owned property plan, in 2005 and 2006, Oglethorpe contributed 5%
Vogtle Units No. 1 & No. 2

subject to IRS limitations of each employee’s eligible(Nuclear – 30% ownership) $ 2,728,456 $ (1,366,024)
Hatch Units No. 1 & No. 2 annual compensation and at its discretion, matched as
(Nuclear – 30% ownership) 584,815 (333,472) much as three-quarters of the first 6% of the employee’s

Wansley Units No. 1 & No. 2
contribution. Effective 2007, Oglethorpe’s contribution(Fossil – 30% ownership) 233,685 (109,397)

Scherer Unit No. 1 is 8% to the employer retirement contribution feature. 
(Fossil – 60% ownership) 487,814 (248,394)

Oglethorpe’s retirement plan is a contributory 401(k)Rocky Mountain Units No. 1,
No. 2 & No. 3 that covers substantially all employees. An employee
(Hydro – 75% ownership) 557,367 (139,971) may contribute, subject to IRS limitations, up to 60% of

Talbot (Combustion Turbine –
their eligible annual compensation. Oglethorpe, at its100% ownership) 279,046 (44,203)

Chattahoochee (Combined cycle – discretion, may match the employee’s contribution and
100% ownership) 296,782 (43,377) has done so each year of the plan’s existence.

Wansley (Combustion Turbine –
Oglethorpe’s current policy is to match the employee’s30% ownership) 3,606 (2,541)

Transmission plant 63,107 (35,454) contribution as long as there is sufficient margin to do
Other 88,957 (45,754) so. The match, which is calculated each pay period,

currently can be equal to as much as three-quarters of
Property under capital lease:

the first 6% of an employee’s eligible compensation,Plant Doyle (Combustion Turbine –
100% leasehold) 126,990 (62,582) depending on the amount and timing of the employee’s

Scherer Unit No. 2 (Fossil – 60% contribution. Oglethorpe’s contributions to the matching
leasehold) 341,851 (199,353) feature of the plan were approximately $665,000 in

2007, $644,000 in 2006 and $630,000 in 2005.Total in-service $ 5,792,476 $ (2,630,522)

Oglethorpe’s contributions to the employer retirement
Construction work in progress contribution feature of the 401(k) plan were

Generation improvements $ 188,863
approximately $1,300,000 in 2007, $775,000 in 2006Other 239
and $758,000 in 2005.

Total construction work in progress $ 189,102

8. Nuclear insurance:
Oglethorpe’s proportionate share of direct expenses

GPC, on behalf of all the co-owners of Plants Hatchof joint operation of the above plants is included in the
and Vogtle, is a member of Nuclear Electriccorresponding operating expense captions (e.g., fuel,
Insurance, Ltd. (‘‘NEIL’’), a mutual insurer establishedproduction or depreciation) on the accompanying
to provide property damage insurance coverage in anstatements of revenues and expenses. 
amount up to $500,000,000 for members’ nuclear

Oglethorpe has the option to participate in up to 30% generating facilities. In the event that losses exceed
of up to two additional nuclear units at Plant Vogtle. accumulated reserve funds, the members are subject to
Oglethorpe is currently participating in 30% of the retroactive assessments (in proportion to their
development costs, with the option to reduce
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premiums). The portion of the current maximum annual $300,000,000, a licensee of a nuclear power plant could
assessment for GPC that would be payable by be assessed a deferred premium of up to $100,590,000
Oglethorpe, based on ownership share, is limited to per incident for each licensed reactor operated by it, but
approximately $8,627,000 for each nuclear incident. not more than $15,000,000 per reactor per incident to

be paid in a calendar year. On the basis of itsGPC, on behalf of all the co-owners of Plants Hatch
ownership interest in four nuclear reactors, Oglethorpeand Vogtle, has coverage under NEIL II, which provides
could be assessed a maximum of $120,708,000 perinsurance to cover decontamination, debris removal and
incident, but not more than $18,000,000 in any onepremature decommissioning as well as excess property
year. Both the maximum assessment per reactor and thedamage to nuclear generating facilities for an additional
maximum yearly assessment are adjusted for inflation at$2,250,000,000 for losses in excess of the $500,000,000
least every five years. The next scheduled adjustment isprimary coverage described above. Under the NEIL
due on or before August 31, 2008. policies, members are subject to retroactive assessments

in proportion to their premiums if losses exceed the All retrospective assessments, whether generated for
accumulated funds available to the insurer under the liability or property, may be subject to applicable state
policy. The portion of the current maximum annual premium taxes. 
assessment for GPC that would be payable by Claims resulting from terrorist acts are covered under
Oglethorpe, based on ownership share, is limited to both the ANI and NEIL policies (subject to normal
approximately $10,483,000. policy limits). The aggregate, however, that NEIL will

For all on-site property damage insurance policies for pay for all claims resulting from terrorist acts in any
commercial nuclear power plants, the NRC requires that 12 month period is $3.24 billion plus such additional
the proceeds of such policies shall be dedicated first for amounts NEIL can recover through reinsurance,
the sole purpose of placing the reactor in a safe and indemnity, or other sources.
stable condition after an accident. Any remaining

9. Commitments:proceeds are next to be applied toward the costs of
decontamination and debris removal operations ordered a. Power purchase and sale agreements
by the NRC, and any further remaining proceeds are to

Oglethorpe has entered into long-term powerbe paid either to the company or to its bond trustees as
purchase agreements. As of December 31, 2007,may be appropriate under the policies and applicable
Oglethorpe’s minimum purchase commitment undertrust indentures. 
these agreements, without regard to capacity reductions

The Price-Anderson Act, as amended in 1988, limits or adjustments for changes in costs, for the next five
public liability claims that could arise from a single years and thereafter are as follows:
nuclear incident to $10,761,000,000 which amount is to
be covered by private insurance and a mandatory Year Ending December 31, (dollars in thousands)

program of deferred premiums that could be assessed 2008 $ 76,516
against all owners of nuclear power reactors. Such 2009 28,417

2010 28,759private insurance provided by American Nuclear
2011 29,104Insurers (‘‘ANI’’) (in the amount of $300,000,000 for
2012 29,453

each plant, the maximum amount currently available) is Thereafter 216,308
carried by GPC for the benefit of all the co-owners of
Plants Hatch and Vogtle. Agreements of indemnity have Oglethorpe’s power purchases from these agreements
been entered into by and between each of the amounted to approximately $89,244,000 in 2007,
co-owners and the NRC. In the event of a nuclear $102,646,000 in 2006 and $163,122,000 in 2005.
incident involving any commercial nuclear facility in the
country involving total public liability in excess of
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b. Operating leases in proceeds from these sales, respectively. Oglethorpe
offset $0.4 million, $29.3 million, and $61.9 million ofAs of December 31, 2007, Oglethorpe’s estimated
this income by reducing amounts collected from itsminimum rental commitments for these operating leases
Members during 2007, 2006 and 2005, respectively. Theover the next five years and thereafter are as follows:
remaining $10.2 million of income in 2006 and
$21.2 million in 2005 was offset by amortizingYear Ending December 31, (dollars in thousands)

$10.2 million and $21.2 million of deferred asset
2008 $ 4,932

retirement obligations costs. As a result, there was no2009 4,832
2010 5,086 net change to net margin in 2007, 2006 or 2005.
2011 5,420
2012 5,817 11. Guarantees:Thereafter 32,041

As of December 31, 2007 and 2006, Oglethorpe’s
Rental expenses totaled $5,299,000 in 2007, guarantees included those disclosed in Note 5 for PCBs

$5,227,000 in 2006 and $5,252,000 in 2005. The rental assumed by GTC in connection with a corporate
expenses for the leases are added to the cost of the restructuring and in Note 2 for rental payments due
fossil inventories. under the terms of the Rocky Mountain transactions.

See Note 2 for discussion of Rocky Mountain
10. Sale of emission allowances transactions. 

The Clean Air Act Amendments of 1990 established The amount of the fair value of Oglethorpe’s
SO2 allowances to manage the achievement of SO2 guarantee related to the PCBs assumed by GTC is
emissions requirements. The legislation also established immaterial due to the small amount of assumed
a market-based SO2 allowance trading component. principal outstanding and the high credit rating of GTC.

An allowance authorizes a utility to emit one ton of
12. Environmental matters:SO2 during a given year. The Environmental Protection

Agency (‘‘EPA’’) allocates allowances to utilities based Set forth below are environmental matters that could
on mandated emissions reductions. At the end of each have an effect on Oglethorpe’s financial condition or
year, a utility must hold an amount of allowances at results of operations. At this time, the resolution of
least equal to its annual emissions. Allowances are fully these matters is uncertain, and Oglethorpe has made no
marketable commodities. Once allocated, allowances accruals for such contingencies and cannot reasonably
may be bought, sold, traded, or banked for use in future estimate the possible loss or range of loss with respect
years. Allowances may not be used for compliance to these matters.
prior to the calendar year for which they are allocated.
Oglethorpe accounts for these using an inventory model a. General
with a zero basis for those allowances allocated to

As is typical for electric utilities, Oglethorpe isOglethorpe and recognizes a gain at the time of sale. 
subject to various federal, state and local air and water

Over the years, Oglethorpe has acquired allowances quality requirements which, among other things,
through EPA allocations. Also, over time, Oglethorpe regulate emissions of pollutants, such as particulate
has sold excess allowances based on compliance needs matter, sulfur dioxide and nitrogen oxides into the air
and allowances available. Oglethorpe currently receives and discharges of other pollutants, including heat, into
allowances annually to cover its emissions. This waters of the United States. Oglethorpe is also subject
allocation will continue through 2009 and will change to federal, state and local waste disposal requirements
beginning in 2010 in accordance with the EPA’s SO2 that regulate the manner of transportation, storage and
allowance program. disposal of various types of waste. 

During 2007, 2006, and 2005, Oglethorpe sold SO2 In general, environmental requirements are becoming
allowances in excess of its needs to various parties and increasingly stringent. New requirements may
received $0.4 million, $39.5 million, and $83.1 million substantially increase the cost of electric service by
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requiring changes in the design or operation of existing behalf of EPA in the case and that motion was granted.
facilities. Failure to comply with these requirements Briefing on the case was completed in December 2007,
could result in the imposition of civil and criminal and oral argument has been scheduled in the case for
penalties as well as the complete shutdown of March 31, 2008. A decision is expected from the Court
individual generating units not in compliance. Certain of later in 2008.
our debt instruments require us to comply in all

13. Ad valorem tax matters:material respects with laws, rules, regulations and orders
imposed by applicable governmental authorities, which Monroe County Appeal
include current or future environmental laws and

2003 Appeal. On October 28, 2003, the Monroeregulations. Should we fail to be in compliance with
County Board of Assessors issued its assessment ofthese requirements, it would constitute a default under
Oglethorpe’s interest in Plant Scherer for the 2003 taxsuch debt instruments. Oglethorpe cannot provide
year. While the state valued this interest atassurance that it will always be in compliance with
$330,538,885, Monroe County’s assessment used acurrent and future regulations.
valuation of $898,722,327. On December 11, 2003,
Oglethorpe appealed Monroe County’s valuation byb. Clean Air Act
filing a notice of arbitration with the Monroe County

In January 2003, the Sierra Club appealed an Board of Tax Assessors.
unsuccessful challenge to the air operating permit for
the Chattahoochee combined cycle facility to the U.S. 2004 Appeal. On July 8, 2004, the Monroe County
Court of Appeals for the Eleventh Circuit. Oglethorpe Board of Assessors issued its assessment of
acquired this facility when it merged with Oglethorpe’s interest in Plant Scherer for the 2004 tax
Chattahoochee EMC in May 2003. Oglethorpe year. While the state valued this interest for the 2004
intervened in the appeal on behalf of the U.S. tax year at $362,685,639, Monroe County’s assessment
Environmental Protection Agency (EPA). In May 2004, used a valuation of $817,826,084. On August 20, 2004,
the Court ruled in favor of the Sierra Club, invalidating Oglethorpe appealed Monroe County’s valuation by
EPA’s denial of the petition and remanding the matter to filing a notice of arbitration with the Monroe County
EPA for further consideration. In November 2005, EPA Board of Tax Assessors.
issued an order denying Sierra Club’s petition to object

2005 Appeal. On January 4, 2006, the Monroe Countyto the permit. In January 2006, the Sierra Club filed an
Board of Assessors issued its assessment ofappeal of that order to the U.S. Court of Appeals for
Oglethorpe’s interest in Plant Scherer for the 2005 taxthe Eleventh Circuit. Oglethorpe again intervened in the
year. While the state valued this interest atappeal on behalf of EPA, and on June 26, 2007, the
$344,902,128, Monroe County’s assessment used aCourt ruled in favor of EPA, upholding its decision not
valuation of $981,199,888. On February 10, 2006,to object to the permit. As the time for appeal of the
Oglethorpe appealed Monroe County’s valuation bycase has run, Sierra Club’s challenge to this permit has
filing a notice of arbitration with the Monroe Countyended. 
Board of Tax Assessors.

In April 2007, the Sierra Club and the Coosa River
2006 Appeal. On January 3, 2007, the Monroe CountyBasin Initiative appealed two unsuccessful permit

Board of Assessors issued its assessment ofchallenges involving operating permit renewals for
Oglethorpe’s interest in Plant Scherer for the 2006 taxPlants Scherer (co-owned by Oglethorpe), Bowen,
year. While the state valued this interest atHammond and Branch to the U.S. Court of Appeals for
$343,262,927, Monroe County’s assessment used athe Eleventh Circuit. The remaining challenge in the
valuation of $728,850,596. On January 31, 2007,appeal is that the permits for Scherer and Bowen do not
Oglethorpe appealed Monroe County’s valuation byinclude compliance schedules to bring the sources into
filing a notice of arbitration with the Monroe Countycompliance with Prevention of Significant Deterioration
Board of Tax Assessors.requirements. Oglethorpe filed a motion to intervene on
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2007 Appeal. On October 23, 2007, the Monroe below their historical triple-A rating levels or have had
County Board of Assessors issued its assessment of negative outlooks assigned to their triple-A ratings,
Oglethorpe’s interest in Plant Scherer for the 2007 tax including three insurers that provide guarantees on a
year. While the state valued this interest at significant portion of Oglethorpe’s outstanding variable
$367,122,431, Monroe County’s assessment used a rate PCB indebtedness. 
valuation of $728,850,596. On November 29, 2007, Bond insurer downgrades have been most material as
Oglethorpe appealed Monroe County’s valuation by it relates to their impact on auction rate securities
filing a notice of arbitration with the Monroe County

(ARS) guaranteed by the insurer, leading to increased
Board of Tax Assessors. 

focus on the underlying issuer credit, wider credit
The arbitrations for all five appeals were on hold spreads, and failed auctions. A bond insurer downgrade

pending the outcome of a related case filed by Georgia can also affect the credit spread of insured variable rate
Power Company (GPC), which challenged the authority demand bonds (VRDB), but currently less than ARS
of Monroe County to change the values determined by due to bank liquidity support on a VRDB which allows
the Georgia Department of Revenue. On January 8, bonds to be put to the liquidity facility in the event of a
2008, the Georgia Supreme Court issued its final failed remarketing. 
decision in that related case, holding that Monroe

Oglethorpe currently has outstanding $434 million of
County did not have the authority to increase the values

PCBs in the ARS mode and $410 million of PCBs in
determined by the Georgia Department of Revenue. 

the VRDB mode. Oglethorpe has recently seen some of
Oglethorpe and Monroe County are now in the its ARS auctions fail due to investors moving away

process of documenting the final tax amounts for all of from this market, and has also had VRDBs put to the
the years on appeal as a result of the Georgia Supreme supporting bank liquidity facilities due to the
Court’s decision in favor of Georgia Power. Oglethorpe remarketing agents’ inability to remarket the bonds as a
and Monroe County previously entered a Settlement result of a downgrade of the bond insurer. These events
Agreement and Release, agreeing that Oglethorpe would have resulted in higher variable rates of interest on the
not owe any additional taxes for the tax years 2003, bonds, in some instances as high as 12%. The weighted
2004, and 2005 if the Georgia Supreme Court decided average interest rate on Oglethorpe’s PCBs in the ARS
the case in favor of Georgia Power. For the tax years mode was approximately 4% and 7% at December 31,
2006 and 2007, Oglethorpe has paid Monroe County 2007 and March 19, 2008, respectively. 
the tax amounts due based on the state’s value

In light of these events, in a remarketing expected todeterminations. Accordingly, the final documentation
close in April 2008, Oglethorpe plans to convertshould show that Oglethorpe does not owe any
$312 million of its PCBs from the ARS mode toadditional property taxes to Monroe County for the
another interest rate mode as it has the option to doyears 2003 through 2007. Once Oglethorpe receives this
pursuant to the underlying bond documents. Oglethorpefinal documentation, the five arbitration appeals will be
also plans to refinance the balance of its PCBs in thedismissed. As a result of the GPC decision and the
ARS mode ($123 million) in a transaction that iscontemplated dismissal of the arbitration appeals, there
expected to close in October 2008. is no longer an amount accrued for Monroe County ad

valorem taxes. Previously, the disputed additional taxes In a transaction expected to close in May 2008,
accrued were $22.7 million. Oglethorpe expects to refinance $255 million of PCBs

that are currently in a weekly VRDB mode (due to a
14. Subsequent event downgrade of the existing bond insurer) through the

issuance of $255 million of Series 2008 refundingThe three major credit rating agencies are in the
bonds. While this transaction is being undertakenprocess of an on-going review of the monoline bond
mainly to replace the bond insurer, this transaction willinsurers as a result of the exposure some insurers have
also provide for an immediate extension of theto financial guarantees provided on structured finance
maturities, rather than over time as the principal on thisobligations backed by subprime residential mortgages.
PCB debt was set to mature each year.Several bond insurers have already been downgraded
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC
ACCOUNTING FIRM

To the Board of Directors and Members of Oglethorpe
Power Corporation:

In our opinion, the accompanying consolidated
balance sheets, consolidated statements of capitalization
and the related consolidated statements of revenues and
expenses, patronage capital and membership fees and
accumulated other comprehensive deficit and cash flows
present fairly, in all material respects, the financial
position of Oglethorpe Power Corporation and its
subsidiaries (an Electric Membership Cooperative) at
December 31, 2007 and 2006, and the results of their
operations and their cash flows for each of the three years
in the period ended December 31, 2007 in conformity
with accounting principles generally accepted in the
United States of America. These financial statements are
the responsibility of the Company’s management. Our
responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial
statements based on our audits. We conducted our audits
of these statements in accordance with the standards of
the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United
States). Those standards require that we plan and perform
the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the
financial statements are free of material misstatement. An
audit includes examining, on a test basis, evidence
supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial
statements, assessing the accounting principles used and
significant estimates made by management, and evaluating
the overall financial statement presentation. We believe
that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.

As discussed in Note 3, effective January 1, 2007 the
Company changed its method of accounting for uncertain
tax positions.

/s/ PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP
Atlanta, Georgia
March 26, 2008
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ITEM 9. CHANGES IN AND DISAGREEMENTS WITH including its principal executive officer and principal
ACCOUNTANTS ON ACCOUNTING AND financial officer, as appropriate to allow timely
FINANCIAL DISCLOSURE decisions regarding required disclosure.

None.
Management’s Report on Internal Control Over Financial
ReportingITEM 9A. CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES

Oglethorpe’s management is responsible forManagement’s Responsibility for Financial Statements
establishing and maintaining adequate internal control

The management of Oglethorpe Power Corporation over financial reporting, as such term is defined in
has prepared this report and is responsible for the Exchange Act Rule 13a-15(f). Under the supervision
financial statements and related information. These and with the participation of its management, including
statements were prepared in accordance with generally its principal executive officer and principal financial
accepted accounting principles and necessarily include officer, Oglethorpe conducted an evaluation of the
amounts that are based on best estimates and effectiveness of its internal control over financial
judgments of management. Financial information reporting based on the framework in Internal Control –
throughout this Annual Report on Form 10-K is Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of
consistent with the financial statements. Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission

(‘‘COSO’’). Management believes that its policies and procedures
provide reasonable assurance that Oglethorpe’s Based on Oglethorpe’s evaluation under the
operations are conducted with a high standard of framework in Internal Control – Integrated Framework
business ethics. In management’s opinion, the financial issued by COSO, its management concluded that its
statements present fairly, in all material respects, the internal control over financial reporting was effective as
financial position, results of operations, and cash flows of December 31, 2007 in providing reasonable
of Oglethorpe. assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting

and the preparation of financial statements for external
Conclusions Regarding the Effectiveness of Disclosure purposes in accordance with generally accepted
Controls and Procedures accounting principles. This Annual Report on

Under the supervision and with the participation of Form 10-K does not include an attestation report of
Oglethorpe’s management, including its principal Oglethorpe’s registered public accounting firm regarding
executive officer and principal financial officer, internal control over financial reporting. Management’s
Oglethorpe conducted an evaluation of its disclosure report was not subject to attestation by Oglethorpe’s
controls and procedures, as such term is defined under registered public accounting firm pursuant to temporary
Rule 13a-15(e) promulgated under the Securities rules of the SEC that permit Oglethorpe to provide only
Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the ‘‘Exchange management’s report in this Annual Report on
Act’’). Based on this evaluation, Oglethorpe’s principal Form 10-K.
executive officer and principal financial officer

Changes in Internal Control over Financial Reportingconcluded that its disclosure controls and procedures
were effective as of December 31, 2007 in providing a There were no changes in Oglethorpe’s internal
reasonable level of assurance that information control over financial reporting identified in connection
Oglethorpe’s required to disclose in reports that with the above-referenced evaluation by management of
Oglethorpe files or submits under the Exchange Act is the effectiveness of its internal control over financial
recorded, processed, summarized and reported within reporting that occurred during the fourth quarter ended
the time periods in SEC rules and forms, including a December 31, 2007, that have materially affected, or are
reasonable level of assurance that information required reasonably likely to materially affect, its internal control
to be disclosed by Oglethorpe in such reports is over financial reporting.
accumulated and communicated to its management,
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ITEM 9B. OTHER INFORMATION

Oglethorpe is not required to file reports pursuant to
Section 13 or Section 15(d) of the Securities Exchange
Act of 1934. Recent changes in securities laws and
regulations impose new requirements on SEC filers.
Oglethorpe is evaluating these requirements and the
related cost of compliance. Preliminary indications are
that it may not be cost-justified for Oglethorpe to
continue as a voluntary SEC filer. Oglethorpe will
monitor changes in these requirements and will continue
to evaluate the cost-justification of complying with these
requirements.
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PART III

ITEM 10. DIRECTORS, EXECUTIVE OFFICERS AND who is appointed by the Board of Directors. The
CORPORATE GOVERNANCE Executive Officers and Directors of Oglethorpe are as

follows:Oglethorpe has a thirteen member Board of
Directors consisting of eleven directors elected from Name Age Position
the Members (the ‘‘Member Directors’’) and two

Executive Officers:independent outside directors (the ‘‘Outside
Thomas A. Smith 53 President and Chief Executive Officer

Directors’’). Five of the Member Directors must be a Michael W. Price 47 Chief Operating Officer
Elizabeth B. Higgins 39 Chief Financial Officergeneral manager of a Member located in each of five
William F. Ussery 43 Senior Vice President, Member and External Relationsgeographical regions of the State of Georgia. An
W. Clayton Robbins 61 Senior Vice President, Government Relations and

additional five Member Directors must be a director of Chief Administrative Officer
a Member located in each of five geographical regions Jami G. Reusch 45 Vice President, Human Resources

of the State of Georgia. The eleventh Member Director Directors:
Benny W. Denham 77 Chairman of the Board, Member Director, Southwestmust be a director of a Member. A Member may not

Regionhave both its general manager and one of its directors
J. Sam L. Rabun 76 Vice Chairman of the Board, Member Director, Central

serve as a Director of Oglethorpe at the same time. Region
Larry N. Chadwick 67 Member Director, Northwest Region

No person may simultaneously serve as a director of Marshall S. Millwood 58 Member Director, Northeast Region
Oglethorpe and either GTC or GSOC, and the Outside M. Anthony Ham 56 Member Director, Southeast Region

H.B. Wiley, Jr. 63 Member Director, StatewideDirectors may not be a director, officer or employee of
Jeffrey W. Murphy 44 Manager Director, Northeast RegionGTC, GSOC or any Member or an officer or employee Gary A. Miller 47 Manager Director, Northwest Region

of Oglethorpe. The directors are nominated by C. Hill Bentley 60 Manager Director, Central Region
Gary W. Wyatt 55 Manager Director, Southwest Regionrepresentatives from each Member whose weighted
Wm. Ronald Duffey 66 Outside Directornomination is based on the number of retail customers
John S. Ranson 78 Outside Director

served by each Member, and after nomination, elected
Robert E. Rentfrow served on the Board of Directors of Oglethorpe as a Manager Director from theby a majority vote of the Members, voting on a
Southeast Region since 2002, but ceased serving as a Director on February 4, 2008.one-Member, one-vote basis. The directors serve

staggered three-year terms. 

Oglethorpe is managed and operated under the
direction of a President and Chief Executive Officer,
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Executive Officers Elizabeth B. Higgins is the Chief Financial Officer
of Oglethorpe and has served in that office since JulyThomas A. Smith is the President and Chief
2004. Ms. Higgins served as Senior Vice President,Executive Officer of Oglethorpe and has served in that
Finance & Planning of Oglethorpe from July 2003 tocapacity since September 1999. He previously served as
July 2004. Ms. Higgins served as Vice President ofSenior Vice President and Chief Financial Officer of
Oglethorpe with various responsibilities includingOglethorpe from September 1998 to August 1999,
strategic planning, rates, analysis and member relationsSenior Financial Officer from 1997 to August 1998,
from September 2000 to July 2003. Ms. Higgins servedVice President, Finance from 1986 to 1990, Manager of
as the Vice President and Assistant to the ChiefFinance from 1983 to 1986 and Manager, Financial
Executive Officer of Oglethorpe from October 1999 toServices from 1979 to 1983. From 1990 to 1997,
September 2000 and served in other capacities forMr. Smith was Senior Vice President of the Rural
Oglethorpe from April 1997 to September 1999. PriorUtility Banking Group of CoBank, where he managed
to that, Ms. Higgins served as Project Manager atthe bank’s eastern division, rural utilities. Mr. Smith is a
Southern Engineering from October 1995 to April 1997,Certified Public Accountant, has a Master of Science
as Senior Consultant at Deloitte & Touche, LLP fromdegree in Industrial Management-Finance from the
April 1995 to October 1995, and as Senior ConsultantGeorgia Institute of Technology, a Master of Science
at Energy Management Associates from June 1991 todegree in Analytical Chemistry from Purdue University
April 1995. In these positions, Ms. Higgins wasand a Bachelor of Arts degree in Mathematics and
responsible for competitive bidding analyses, rateChemistry from Catawba College. Mr. Smith is a
designs, integrated resource planning studies,Director of ACES Power Marketing, and as Treasurer of
operational/dispatch studies, bulk power market analysis,the Board, also serves as the Chairman of their Risk
merger analyses and litigation support. Ms. Higgins hasOversight and Audit Committee. He is a Director of the
a Bachelor of Industrial Engineering degree from theGeorgia Chamber of Commerce and is also a member
Georgia Institute of Technology and a Master ofof the Advisory Board of Mid-South
Business Administration degree from Georgia StateTelecommunications, Inc. Mr. Smith previously served
University. as a director of En-Touch Systems, Inc. from 2001-2006

and as a member of the NERC Stakeholders Committee William F. Ussery is the Senior Vice President,
from 2005-2006. Member and External Relations of Oglethorpe and has

served in that office since October 2005. Mr. UsseryMichael W. Price is the Chief Operating Officer of
previously served as Vice President and Assistant ChiefOglethorpe and has served in that office since
Operating Officer of Oglethorpe from November 2003February 1, 2000. Mr. Price was employed by GSOC
to October 2005. Prior to joining Oglethorpe in 2001,from January 1999 to January 2000, first as Senior Vice
Mr. Ussery held several key positions, including ChiefPresident and then as Chief Operating Officer. He
Operating Officer, Vice President of Engineering andserved as Vice President of System Planning and
System Engineer at Sawnee EMC. Mr. Ussery holds aConstruction of GTC from May 1997 to December
bachelor’s degree in Electrical Engineering from Auburn1998. He served as a manager of system control of
University and an associate degree in Science fromGSOC from January to May 1997. From 1986 to 1997,
Middle Georgia College. Mr. Price was employed by Oglethorpe in the areas of

control room operations, system planning, construction W. Clayton Robbins is the Senior Vice President,
and engineering, and energy management systems. Prior Government Relations and Chief Administrative Officer
to joining Oglethorpe, he was a field test engineer with of Oglethorpe and has served in the office since July
the Tennessee Valley Authority from 1983 to 1986. 2006. Mr. Robbins served as Chief Administrative
Mr. Price has a Bachelor of Science degree in Electrical Officer of Oglethorpe from January 2006 to June 2006;
Engineering from Auburn University. Mr. Price is a served as Senior Vice President, Administration and
Director of SERC Reliability Corporation, ACES Power Risk Management of Oglethorpe from October 2002 to
Marketing, the Research Advisory Committee of December 2006; and served as Senior Vice President,
Electric Power Research Institute and serves on the Finance and Administration of Oglethorpe from
Advisory Board of Garrard Construction. November 1999 to September 2002. Mr. Robbins served

as Senior Vice President and General Manager of
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Intellisource, Inc. from February 1997 to October 1999. 1974. He currently serves as Chairman of the Board of
Prior to that, Mr. Robbins has held several positions at Jefferson Energy Cooperative. Mr. Rabun is
Oglethorpe since 1986, including Senior Vice President, Vice-Chairman of the Board of the Georgia Energy
Support Services from December 1991 to January 1997 Cooperative. 
and Vice President, Market Research and Analysis from Larry N. Chadwick is the Member Director from
December 1989 to November 1991. Before joining the Northwest Region. He has served on the Board of
Oglethorpe, Mr. Robbins spent 18 years with Stearns- Directors of Oglethorpe since July 1989. His present
Catalytic World Corporation, a major engineering and term will expire on March 31, 2008. He is also a
construction firm, including 13 years in management member of the Compensation Committee.
positions responsible for human resources, information Mr. Chadwick is an engineer, with experience in the
systems, contracts, insurance, accounting, and project design of hydrogen gas plants. He is Chairman of the
development. Mr. Robbins has a Bachelor of Arts Board of Cobb EMC. 
degree in Business Administration from the University

Marshall S. Millwood is the Member Director fromof North Carolina at Charlotte. Mr. Robbins serves on
the Northeast Region. He became a member of thethe Advisory Board of FM Global Insurance Company
Board of Directors of Oglethorpe in March 2003, andand on the Board of Directors of Niner Wine Estates,
his present term will expire in March 2009. He is also aPaso Robles, California. 
member of the Audit Committee. He has been the

Jami G. Reusch is the Vice President, Human owner and operator of Marjomil Inc., a poultry and
Resources and has served in that office since July 2004. cattle farm in Forsyth County, Georgia, since 1998. He
Ms. Reusch served as Oglethorpe’s Director of Human is a Director of Sawnee EMC. 
Resources and held several other management and staff

M. Anthony Ham is the Member Director from thepositions in Human Resources prior to July 2004. Prior
Southeast Region. He became a member of the Boardto joining Oglethorpe in 1994, Ms. Reusch was a senior
of Directors of Oglethorpe in March 2004, and his termofficer in the banking industry in Georgia, where she
will expire on March 31, 2008. He is also a member ofheld various leadership roles. Ms. Reusch has a
the Compensation Committee. Mr. Ham is the Clerk ofBachelor of Education degree and a Master of Human
the Superior and Juvenile Courts in Brantley County,Resource Development degree from Georgia State
Georgia. He is a Director of Okefenoke Rural EMC andUniversity. She also has a Senior Professional in Human
was appointed Secretary and Treasurer in 2007. Resources certification.

H.B. Wiley, Jr. is the Member Director elected
Board of Directors statewide. He became a member of the Board of

Benny W. Denham is Chairman of the Board and Directors of Oglethorpe in March 2003 and his present
Member Director from the Southwest Region. He has term will expire in March 2009. He is also a member
served on the Board of Directors of Oglethorpe since of the Audit Committee. Mr. Wiley previously served as
December 1988. His present term will expire in March a member of the Board of Directors from July 1994
2010. Mr. Denham has been co-owner of Denham until March 1997. Mr. Wiley has been an associate
Farms in Turner County, Georgia since 1980. broker in real estate since 1994. Prior to that time, he
Mr. Denham is a Director of Irwin EMC. owned and operated a dairy farm in Oconee County,

Georgia from 1973 to 1994. During that time he servedJ. Sam L. Rabun is the Vice-Chairman of the Board
on the board of Atlanta Dairies Cooperative andand is the Member Director from the Central Region.
Georgia Milk Producers Board. He has been a directorHe has served on the Board of Directors of Oglethorpe
of Walton EMC since June 1993, and served as itssince March 1993. His present term will expire in
Chairman of the Board from June 2000 to June 2003.March 2010. He is also the Chairman of the
Mr. Wiley has a Bachelor of Science degree from theCompensation Committee. He has been the owner and
University of Georgia. Mr. Wiley served in the U.S.operator of a farm in Jefferson County, Georgia since
Army Engineers from 1968 to 1971, and is a Vietnam1979. Mr. Rabun served as the President of the Board
veteran. of Jefferson Energy Cooperative from 1993 to 1996,

was employed as General Manager from 1974 to 1979 Jeffrey W. Murphy is the Manager Director from
and as Office Manager and Accountant from 1970 to the Northeast Region. He became a member of the
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Board of Directors of Oglethorpe in March 2004, and University of Nebraska. He is on the Board of Directors
his present term will expire in March 2009. He is also a of Georgia Electric Membership Corporation and is a
member of the Audit Committee. Mr. Murphy has been past Vice Chairman of the Services Committee.
the President and CEO of Hart EMC since May 2002. Mr. Wyatt is the past President of the Georgia
He is also the Secretary of the Georgia Energy Managers Association, past Vice Chairman of the
Cooperative. Albany Technical College Board of Directors and past

President of the Randolph Cuthbert Chamber ofGary A. Miller is the Manager Director from the
Commerce. Northwest Region. Mr. Miller became a member of the

Board of Directors of Oglethorpe in March 2004, and Wm. Ronald Duffey is an Outside Director. He has
his present term will expire in March 2009. He is also a served on the Board of Directors of Oglethorpe since
member of the Compensation Committee. Mr. Miller March 1997. His present term will expire in March
has been the President and CEO of GreyStone Power 2009. He is also the Chairman of the Audit Committee.
Corporation since January 1999. Mr. Miller is the Mr. Duffey is the Chairman of the Board of Directors
Treasurer of the Development Authority of Douglas of Peachtree National Bank in Peachtree City, Georgia,
County. He is a past President of the Georgia Rural a wholly owned subsidiary of Synovus Financial Corp.
Electric Managers Association and is also a past Prior to his employment in 1985 with Peachtree
Chairman of the Douglas County Chamber of National Bank, Mr. Duffey served as Executive Vice
Commerce. Mr. Miller is a member of the Board of President and Member of the Board of Directors for
Directors of CoBank where he also serves on the Audit First National Bank in Newnan, Georgia. He holds a
Committee. Mr. Miller also currently serves on the Bachelor of Business Administration from Georgia State
Board of Trustees of WellStar Health System where he College with a concentration in finance and has
is on both the Audit and Finance Committees. completed banking courses at the School of Banking of

the South, Louisiana State University, the AmericanC. Hill Bentley is the Manager Director from the
Bankers Association School of Bank Investments, andCentral Region. He became a member of the Board of
The Stonier Graduate School of Banking, RutgersDirectors of Oglethorpe in March 2004, and his present
University. Mr. Duffey is a Director of Piedmont-term will expire in March 2010. He is also a member
Fayette Hospital, Piedmont-Newnan Hospital and Theof the Audit Committee. He is the CEO of Tri-County
Georgia Economic Development Corp. Mr. Duffey isEMC. He is a member of the Boards of Directors of
also a member of the Board of Directors of the Georgiathe Georgia Cooperative Council and the Central
Chamber of Commerce and of the Audit Committee ofGeorgia Technical College Foundation. Mr. Bentley is a
Piedmont Healthcare. member of the Bibb County Chamber of Commerce

and the Georgia Chamber of Commerce, and is past John S. Ranson is an Outside Director. He has
President of the Jones County Chamber of Commerce. served on the Board of Directors of Oglethorpe since
Mr. Bentley is a member, and a past President, of the March 1997. His present term will expire on March 31,
Georgia Rural Electric Managers Association and is on 2008. He is also a member of the Compensation
the Business Advisory Council for Georgia College and Committee. He has been the President of Ranson
State University. Municipal Consultants, L.L.C., a financial advisor in

Wichita, Kansas, since 1994. From 1990 to 1994,Gary W. Wyatt is the Manager Director from the
Mr. Ranson was Chairman of Ranson Capital Corp., anSouthwest Region. He has served on the Board of
investment banking firm. Mr. Ranson has been in theDirectors of Oglethorpe since March 2004. His present
investment banking business since 1953. His publicterm will expire in March 2010. He is also a member
finance clients have included the Kansas Turnpikeof the Compensation Committee. He started his career
Authority, the Kansas Municipal Energy Agency, thein 1973 with Coosa Valley Electric Co-op in Talladega,
Kansas Municipal Gas Agency, and the Kansas CityAlabama where he held the position of Operations
(Kansas) Board of Public Utilities. Mr. Ranson receivedManager. He assumed the position of President/CEO of
his Bachelor of Science in Business AdministrationPataula EMC in 1986. Mr. Wyatt received an A.S.
from the University of Kansas (Lawrence, Kansas) anddegree in management from Darton College. He is also
attended the Navy Supply Corps School in Bayonne,a graduate of the National Rural Electric Cooperative
New Jersey.Association Management Internship program at the
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Committees of the Board of Directors ITEM 11. EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION

Director CompensationThe Board of Directors of Oglethorpe has established
an Audit Committee and a Compensation Committee. The following table sets forth the total compensation
The Audit Committee and the Compensation Committee paid or earned by each of Oglethorpe’s directors for the
each operate pursuant to a committee charter and/or fiscal year ended December 31, 2007.
policy. Oglethorpe does not have a Nominating and

Total Fees EarnedCorporate Governance Committee; directors are
Name or Paid in Cashnominated by representatives from each Member whose

weighted nomination is based on the number of retail Member Directors
Benny W. Denham, Chairman $ 13,810customers served by each Member, and after
J. Sam L. Rabun 19,000nomination, elected by a majority vote of the Members, Marshall S. Millwood 12,250

voting on a one-Member, one-vote basis. During 2007, Larry N. Chadwick 11,750
M. Anthony Ham 9,450the Board of Directors held nine Board meetings and
H.B. Wiley, Jr. 12,550nine committee meetings.
Gary A. Miller 10,050
Jeffrey W. Murphy 10,850Audit Committee. The Audit Committee is responsible C. Hill Bentley 10,850

for assisting the Board of Directors in its oversight of Gary W. Wyatt 10,050
Robert E. Rentfrow (1) 10,850all material aspects of the Company’s financial reporting
Outside Directorsfunctions. Its responsibilities include selecting
Wm. Ronald Duffey 31,250

Oglethorpe’s independent accountants, reviewing the John S. Ranson 19,750
plans, scope and results of the audit engagement with

(1) Mr. Rentfrow ceased serving as an Oglethorpe Director on February 4, 2008. As Mr. Rentfrow was aOglethorpe’s independent accountants, reviewing the
Director of Oglethorpe throughout the fiscal year ended December 31, 2007, his compensation is

independence of Oglethorpe’s independent accountants included in this table. 

and reviewing the adequacy of our internal accounting
During 2006, Oglethorpe paid its Outside Directors acontrols. The members of the Audit Committee are

fee of $5,500 per Board meeting for four meetings acurrently Wm. Ronald Duffey, Jeffrey W. Murphy,
year and a fee of $1,000 per Board meeting for theMarshall S. Millwood, C. Hill Bentley and H. B. Wiley,
remaining other Board meetings held during the year.Jr. Mr. Duffey is the Chairman of the Audit Committee.
Outside Directors were also paid $1,000 per day forThe Board of Directors has determined that Mr. Duffey
attending committee meetings, annual meetings of thequalifies as an independent audit committee financial
Members or other official business of Oglethorpe.expert.
Member Directors were paid a fee of $1,200 per Board
meeting and $800 per day for attending committeeCompensation Committee. The Compensation
meetings, other meetings except annual meetings of theCommittee is responsible for monitoring adherence with
Members, or other official business of OglethorpeOglethorpe’s compensation programs and recommending
approved by the Chairman of the Board. Memberchanges to its compensation programs as needed. The
Directors are paid $600 per day for attending themembers of the Compensation Committee are J. Sam L.
Annual Meeting of Members and Member AdvisoryRabun, John S. Ranson, Gary A. Miller, Gary W.
Board meetings. In addition, Oglethorpe reimburses allWyatt, M. Anthony Ham and Larry N. Chadwick.
Directors for out-of-pocket expenses incurred in

Code of Ethics attending a meeting. All Directors are paid $100 per
day when participating in meetings by conference call.Oglethorpe has adopted a Code of Ethics that applies
The Chairman of the Board is paid an additionalto the Executive Officers and the Controller of
20 percent of his Director’s fee per Board meeting forOglethorpe. Oglethorpe’s Code of Ethics is attached as
time involved in preparing for the meetings. Thean exhibit to this Form 10-K.
Chairman of the Audit Committee is paid an additional
$400 per Audit Committee meeting for the time
involved in fulfilling that role. Neither Oglethorpe’s
Outside Directors nor Member Directors receive any
perquisites or other personal benefits.
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Compensation Discussion and Analysis Each of Oglethorpe’s Executive Officers has an
employment agreement that provides for a minimumOverview of the Compensation Program
annual base salary and performance pay. See the

The Compensation Committee of the Board has narrative disclosure following the ‘‘Summary
responsibility for establishing, implementing and Compensation Table’’ for additional information on the
monitoring adherence with Oglethorpe’s compensation terms of the employment agreements.
programs.

Performance Pay. Performance pay is designed to
Compensation Philosophy and Objectives. The reward Executive Officers based on Oglethorpe’s

compensation and benefits program of Oglethorpe is success in achieving the corporate goals discussed
designed to establish and maintain competitive total below. Each Executive Officer has the potential to earn
compensation programs that will attract, motivate and 20 percent of their base pay in performance pay. Each
retain the qualified and skilled work force necessary for Executive Officer’s performance pay award for 2007
the continued success of Oglethorpe. To help align was based 100 percent on the achievement of corporate
compensation paid to executive officers with the goals, as determined by the Board of Directors upon the
achievement of corporate goals, Oglethorpe has Compensation Committee’s recommendation.
designed a significant portion of its cash compensation

Benefits. The Benefits Program is designed to allowprogram as a pay for performance based system that
Executive Officers to choose the benefit options thatrewards Executive Officers based on Oglethorpe’s
best meet their needs. The President and Chiefsuccess in achieving the corporate goals discussed
Executive Officer recommends changes to the benefitsbelow. To remain competitive, each component of total
program or level of benefits that all Executive Officers,compensation is validated relative to market values on
including the President and Chief Executive Officer,an annual basis through the assessment of market data
receive to the Compensation Committee. Theand benchmarking of compensation.
Compensation Committee then reviews and recommends

Components of Total Compensation. The Compensation changes to the Board of Directors for its approval. To
Committee determined that compensation packages for meet the health and welfare needs of its Executive
the fiscal year ended December 31, 2007 for Officers at a reasonable cost, Oglethorpe pays for
Oglethorpe’s Executive Officers should be comprised of 80-85 percent of an Executive Officer’s health and
the following three primary components: welfare benefits. The President and Chief Executive

Officer decides the exact cost sharing percentage to be• Annual base salary
borne by Oglethorpe. 

• Performance pay, which is a cash award given
Oglethorpe also provides retirement benefits thatannually based on the achievement of corporate

allow Executive Officers the opportunity to develop angoals
investment strategy that best meets their retirement

• Benefits, which consist primarily of health and needs. Oglethorpe will contribute up to $0.75 of every
welfare benefits and retirement benefits dollar an Executive Officer contributes to his or her

retirement plan, up to 6 percent of an ExecutiveBase Salary. Base salary is designed to attract and
Officer’s pay per period, and will contribute anretain executives who can assist Oglethorpe in meeting
additional amount equal to 8 percent of an Executiveits corporate goals. Oglethorpe believes that Executive
Officer’s pay per period. See ‘‘Nonqualified DeferredOfficer base salaries should be compared to the median
Compensation’’ for additional information regardingof the range of salaries for executives in similar
Oglethorpe’s contributions to its Executive Officers’positions and with similar responsibilities at comparable
retirement plans.companies. Base salary is established, in part, by

surveying the external market. The Compensation Perquisites. Oglethorpe provides its Executive
Committee and Oglethorpe’s President and Chief Officers with perquisites that Oglethorpe and the
Executive Officer also factor in corporate performance Compensation Committee believe are reasonable and
and changes in individuals’ roles and responsibilities consistent with its overall compensation program. The
when making decisions regarding Executive Officers’ most significant perquisite provided to Oglethorpe’s
base salaries. Executive Officers is a monthly car allowance, the
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amount of which is based upon the Executive Officer’s Officer, and in certain circumstances provides an
position. The President and Chief Executive Officer upward adjustment to the Executive Officers’ base
approves the Executive Officers eligible for car salary. The President and Chief Executive Officer
allowances and reports this information to the reports the Executive Officers’ salaries to the
Compensation Committee. The car allowance for the Compensation Committee annually. The President and
President and Chief Executive Officer is included in his Chief Executive Officer’s compensation is approved by
employment agreement. The Compensation Committee the Board of Directors upon recommendation of the
periodically reviews the levels of perquisites provided to Compensation Committee.
Executive Officers.

Role of the Compensation Consultant. Oglethorpe engages
a compensation consultant to assist it in reviewing itsEstablishing Compensation Levels
compensation program on a periodic basis. During

Role of the Compensation Committee. The Compensation 2006, Oglethorpe engaged Hewitt Associates, an outside
Committee reviews changes to Oglethorpe’s global human resources consulting firm, to conduct a
compensation program for its officers, directors and review of its compensation program. Hewitt Associates
employees and recommends such changes to the Board provided Oglethorpe with relevant market data that was
of Directors for approval. Specifically, the used to analyze Oglethorpe’s compensation program in
Compensation Committee approves Oglethorpe’s light of the compensation programs of its peers and also
performance pay program, including the corporate goals to ensure that Oglethorpe’s compensation program
related to such program. The Compensation Committee aligned with its stated compensation philosophy and
receives a comprehensive report on an annual basis objectives. Oglethorpe did not engage a compensation
regarding all facets of Oglethorpe’s compensation consultant during 2007.
program. 

Assessment of Market Data and Benchmarking of CompensationThe Compensation Committee operates pursuant to a
Statement of Functions that sets forth the Committee’s To remain competitive, Oglethorpe annually validates
objectives and responsibilities. The Compensation each component of total compensation paid to the
Committee’s objective is to review and recommend to Executive Officers relative to market values for
the Board of Directors for approval any changes to compensation paid to similarly situated executives at
various compensation related matters, as well as any companies Oglethorpe considers to be its peers.
significant changes in benefits cost or level of benefits, Oglethorpe refers to this practice as benchmarking and
for the members of the Board of Directors, the does not consider it the determinative factor in setting
Executive Officers, and employees of Oglethorpe. The Executive Officers’ compensation. Rather, Oglethorpe
Compensation Committee annually reviews the intends for benchmarking to supplement its other
Statement of Functions and makes any necessary internal analyses regarding individual’s performance in
revisions to ensure its responsibilities are accurately prior years and achievement of corporate goals that
stated. Oglethorpe considers when determining the performance

pay component of Executive Officers’ compensation. Role of Management. The key member of management
involved in the compensation process is the President Oglethorpe’s management establishes its peer group
and Chief Executive Officer. The President and Chief of companies by reviewing surveys of market data that
Executive Officer, together with the other Executive focus on the utility industry. Management annually
Officers, identifies corporate performance objectives that reviews the peer group’s composition to ensure the
are used to determine performance pay amounts. The companies included are relevant for comparative
President and Chief Executive Officer and the Vice purposes. 
President, Human Resources present these goals to the For 2007, Oglethorpe’s peer group was composed of
Compensation Committee. The Compensation the companies included in the utilities industry sector
Committee then reviews and approves the goals and reported in the U.S. Mercer Benchmark Survey, the
presents them to the Board of Directors for review and 2007 Towers Perrin Executive Energy Survey, the
approval. The President and Chief Executive Officer companies included in the Utilities & Energy industry
approves the compensation of Oglethorpe’s Executive sector of the Watson Wyatt Top Management Report
Officers, other than the President and Chief Executive
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and the 2006 NRECA G&T Compensation Survey. arms-length basis, and the Compensation Committee
Although there is a large variance in the size of the determined that the terms of each agreement are
companies included in these surveys, Oglethorpe reasonable and necessary to ensure that Oglethorpe’s
believes they serve as appropriate comparisons to it Executive Officers’ goals are aligned with those of
because they are in the utility industry. Therefore, these Oglethorpe and that each performs his or her respective
companies likely have operations similar to Oglethorpe role while acting solely in the best interests of
and executives who have responsibilities and perform Oglethorpe. See ‘‘Severance Arrangements’’ below for a
roles similar to its executives. In addition, these are the discussion of the terms of each of the President and
companies with whom Oglethorpe primarily competes Chief Executive Officer’s and other Executive Officers’
for executive talent. agreements. 

The Mercer Benchmark Executive Survey includes The Compensation Committee last reviewed the
2,501 participants from a broad range of industry President and Chief Executive Officer’s employment
sectors with annual revenues ranging from $238 million agreement in November 2007. In determining that the
to $21 billion annually. Oglethorpe focuses its President and Chief Executive Officer’s employment
comparison on Utilities sector participants with annual agreement was appropriate and necessary, the
revenues ranging from $1 billion to $3 billion annually. Compensation Committee considered Mr. Smith’s role
Oglethorpe focused its comparison on these companies and responsibility within Oglethorpe in relation to the
because they are most similar to Oglethorpe in terms of total amount of severance pay he would receive upon
industry sector and revenues. the occurrence of a severance event. The Committee

also considered whether the amount Mr. Smith wouldThe Towers Perrin Executive Energy Survey includes
receive upon severance was appropriate given his total91 participant companies with revenues ranging from
annual compensation. less than $1 billion to greater than $6 billion annually.

Oglethorpe typically focuses on the 29 participant Upon review, the Compensation Committee
companies that have revenues ranging from $1 billion to determined that a maximum amount of severance
$3 billion when reviewing executive level compensation. compensation equal to a maximum of two year’s
Oglethorpe chooses to focus on these companies compensation, plus benefits as described below, was an
because their revenues are most similar to those of appropriate amount of severance compensation for
Oglethorpe. Mr. Smith. The Compensation Committee believes that

entering into a severance agreement with Oglethorpe’sThe Watson Wyatt Top Management Report includes
President and Chief Executive Officer is beneficial1,375 participants from a variety of industries.
because it gives Oglethorpe a measure of stability inOglethorpe focuses on the participant companies from
this position while affording it the flexibility to changethe Utilities and Energy Sectors. 
management with minimal disruption, should

The 2006 NRECA G&T Compensation Survey Oglethorpe’s Board of Directors ever determine such a
includes 50 companies, including Oglethorpe, all of change to be necessary and in the best interests of
whom are members of the National Rural Electric Oglethorpe. The Compensation Committee considered
Cooperative Association. Although Oglethorpe believes an amount equal to up to two years of compensation
compensation paid to executives at other electric and benefits to be an appropriate amount to address
cooperatives is a relevant comparison tool, Oglethorpe competitive concerns and offset any potential risk
does not focus exclusively on these companies when Mr. Smith faces in his role as Oglethorpe’s President
benchmarking compensation because it is larger than and Chief Executive Officer. Furthermore, it should be
most of the other companies included in this survey. noted that Oglethorpe does not compensate its President

and Chief Executive Officer using options or other
Assessment of Severance Arrangements forms of equity compensation that typically lead

executives to accumulate large amounts of wealthEach of Oglethorpe’s Executive Officers is entitled to
during employment. certain severance payments and benefits in the event

they are terminated not for cause or they resign for The Compensation Committee also reviewed the
good reason. Oglethorpe negotiated each employment terms of each of the other Executive Officers’
agreement with the Executive Officers on an agreements. In its review, the Compensation Committee
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considered the total amount of compensation each identified above. At the end of each fiscal year,
Executive Officer would receive upon the occurrence of Oglethorpe determines goal achievement for each of the
a severance event. The Compensation Committee five categories. Based on the achievement for each
determined that it was also appropriate for Oglethorpe’s category, Oglethorpe assigns a percentage, up to the
other Executive Officers to receive severance maximum percentage allowed for each category, to
compensation equal to one year’s compensation, plus determine the amount of performance pay available to
benefits as described below, because such agreements its Executive Officers. For each Executive Officer,
provide a measure of stability for both Oglethorpe and Oglethorpe then multiplies 20 percent of his or her base
its other Executive Officers. In addition, like its salary by the goal achievement percentage amount. For
President and Chief Executive Officer, Oglethorpe’s example, if Oglethorpe had a 90 percent corporate goal
other Executive Officers are not compensated using achievement rate in a given year, each Executive
options or other forms of equity compensation that lead Officer’s performance pay would equal (base
to significant wealth accumulation. Therefore, the salary � 20%) � (90%).Set forth below is a chart
Compensation Committee believed such severance summarizing Oglethorpe’s corporate goal weighting
compensation is necessary to address competitive system for 2007 as approved by its Board of Directors
concerns and offset any potential risk Oglethorpe’s in February 2007:
Executive Officers face in the course of their
employment. Weighted

Goal Percentage
The Compensation Committee will continue to

Operations 35%review these agreements annually. Financial 35%
Quality 15%
Environmental Compliance 10%Assessment of Corporate and Executive Officer Performance
Safety 5%

Each year Oglethorpe drafts a comprehensive set of
corporate goals which are approved by the Board of Oglethorpe measures goal achievement in each of the
Directors. For 2007, Oglethorpe’s corporate goals above categories as follows: Oglethorpe bases its
primarily involved the following: (i) the operation of operations achievements on how well each of its
Oglethorpe’s plants by facility type, (ii) Oglethorpe’s operating plants respond to system requirements. In
financial performance for the year, including cost reviewing Oglethorpe’s success in meeting its financial
savings and risk reduction programs, (iii) environmental goals, Oglethorpe considers what cost savings and cost
compliance, (iv) quality of performance and (v) safety. reduction programs are implemented in a given year

that will result in cost savings either in the current yearOglethorpe chose to tie performance compensation to
or on a long-term basis. Oglethorpe also considersthese corporate goals because they most appropriately
whether any programs were implemented that may notmeasure what it aims to accomplish. For Oglethorpe to
have resulted in cost savings in the current year, butbe successful it must perform sound asset management
nonetheless increased the value of its assets or reducedby acquiring and managing the power supply resources
potential risk. Oglethorpe measures its quality goalnecessary to serve its customers effectively. To do this,
performance based on the performance appraisal of theOglethorpe must operate efficiently, safely, and in a
Members, as represented by the Board of Directors.financially sound manner that meets the expectations of
Environmental compliance is measured by consideringits Members, as represented by its Board of Directors.
whether Oglethorpe received notices of violation orOglethorpe reviews these corporate goals annually and
letters of noncompliance, or had any spills at any of itsmakes adjustments as needed to ensure that it is
facilities. Safety performance is measured by reviewingconsistently stretching its goal expectations. 
Oglethorpe’s standards and the safety of its work

Performance pay paid to Oglethorpe’s Executive environment against those of other electric utilities.
Officers is determined based on Oglethorpe’s success in
achieving each of the goals identified above. Analysis of 2007 Compensation paid to Executive Officers
Oglethorpe’s Board of Directors annually approves a

As explained above, in identifying prevailing marketweighted system for determining performance pay
compensation for similarly situated companies,whereby it assigns a percentage to each of the goals
Oglethorpe considers market data as well as

88



achievement of corporate and individual goals. In her base salary. Set forth below is a table showing 2007
determining individual compensation for Oglethorpe’s performance pay figures for each of Oglethorpe’s
Executive Officers, the Compensation Committee Executive Officers:
considers the total compensation awarded to each
individual, and a percentage of each Executive Officer’s Performance

Executive Officer Pay *annual compensation is based on corporate performance.
This approach allows Oglethorpe to maintain the Smith $77,425

Price $45,640flexibility necessary to differentiate pay in recognition
Higgins $44,825of corporate performance. Ussery $31,622
Robbins $28,036Executive Officers’ performance pay is based solely
Reusch $25,428

on the achievement of corporate goals. The
* Performance pay was calculated based on base salaries as of December 31, 2007. Actual compensationCompensation Committee believes it is appropriate to

earned in 2007 is reported in the Summary Compensation Table below.consider only corporate goal achievement when
determining Executive Officers’ performance pay

Compensation Committee Interlocks and Insiderbecause Oglethorpe’s corporate philosophy focuses on
Participationteamwork, and Oglethorpe believes that better results

evolve from mutual work towards common goals. J. Sam L. Rabun, John S. Ranson, Gary A. Miller,
Furthermore, the Compensation Committee believes that Gary W. Wyatt, M. Anthony Ham, C. Hill Bentley and
Oglethorpe’s achievement of the corporate goals Larry N. Chadwick served as members of the
identified above will correspond to high company Oglethorpe Power Corporation Compensation
performance, and Oglethorpe’s Executive Officers are Committee in 2007. Mr. Bentley served on the
responsible for directing the work and making the Compensation Committee through March 31, 2007.
strategic decisions necessary to successfully meet these Mr. Wyatt began serving on the Compensation
goals. Committee on March 31, 2007. J. Sam L. Rabun served

as the Vice Chairman of the Board in 2007. In 2007, Oglethorpe’s corporate goal achievement
was 81.5 percent. Goal achievement rate by category Gary A. Miller is a Director of Oglethorpe and the
based on the weighted system identified above was as President and Chief Executive Officer of GreyStone
follows: Power Corporation. GreyStone Power Corporation is a

Member of Oglethorpe and has a Wholesale Power
Contract with Oglethorpe. GreyStone PowerWeighted

Goal Percentage Corporation’s payments of $83.9 million to Oglethorpe
Operations 19.2% in 2007 under the Wholesale Power Contract accounted
Financial 35.0% for approximately 7.3 percent of Oglethorpe’s total
Quality 12.3% revenues. Environmental Compliance 10.0%
Safety 5.0% C. Hill Bentley is a Director of Oglethorpe and the
Total 81.5%

Chief Executive Officer of Tri-County EMC. Tri-County
EMC is a Member of Oglethorpe and has a WholesaleOglethorpe achieved 81.5 percent of its corporate
Power Contract with Oglethorpe. Tri-County EMC’sgoals for 2007 primarily because it met all of its
payments of $13.4 million to Oglethorpe in 2007 underfinancial, environmental compliance, and safety goals.
the Wholesale Power Contract accounted forWith respect to operations, Oglethorpe did not meet all
approximately 1.2 percent of Oglethorpe’s totalof its goals primarily because two of the operating
revenues. plants it used to measure its operations goal

achievement had successful plant start rates during the Gary W. Wyatt is a Director of Oglethorpe and the
peak season that fell below the goals set for those President and Chief Executive Officer of Pataula EMC.
plants. As a result of achieving 81.5 percent of Pataula EMC is a Member of Oglethorpe and has a
Oglethorpe’s corporate goals for 2007, each of its Wholesale Power Contract with Oglethorpe. Pataula
Executive Officers received performance pay in an EMC’s payments of $2.4 million to Oglethorpe in 2007
amount equal to 81.5 percent of 20 percent of his or under the Wholesale Power Contract accounted for
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approximately less than 1 percent of Oglethorpe’s total fiscal year ended December 31, 2007 for filing with the
revenues. SEC.

Respectfully Submitted,Compensation Committee Report
The Compensation CommitteeThe Compensation Committee of Oglethorpe Power

J. Sam L. RabunCorporation has reviewed and discussed the
John S. RansonCompensation Discussion and Analysis required by
Gary A. MillerItem 402(b) of Regulation S-K with management and,
Gary W. Wyattbased on such review and discussions, the
M. Anthony HamCompensation Committee recommended to the Board
Larry N. Chadwickthat the Compensation Discussion and Analysis be

included in this Annual Report on Form 10-K for the

Summary Compensation Table

The following table sets forth the total compensation paid or earned by each of Oglethorpe’s Executive Officers
for the fiscal years ended December 31, 2007 and 2006.

Non-Equity
Incentive Plan All Other

Name and Principal Position Year Salary Compensation Compensation (1) Total

Thomas A. Smith 2007 $469,313 $77,425 $68,332 $615,070
President and Chief Executive Officer 2006 438,043 72,126 51,582 561,751

Michael W. Price 2007 275,853 45,640 57,261 378,754
Chief Operating Officer 2006 253,481 44,059 35,925 333,465

Elizabeth B. Higgins 2007 270,314 44,825 44,722 359,861
Chief Financial Officer 2006 245,304 42,637 35,112 323,053

William F. Ussery 2007 190,283 31,622 36,087 257,992
Senior Vice President, Member and External Relations 2006 171,417 29,653 27,697 228,767

W. Clayton Robbins 2007 170,667 28,036 64,126 262,829
Senior Vice President, Chief Administrative Officer 2006 154,487 26,273 73,550 254,310

Jami G. Reusch 2007 154,766 25,428 32,081 212,275
Vice President, Human Resources 2006 147,643 23,805 27,341 198,789

(1) Figures for 2007 consist of customary holiday gifts, matching contributions made by Oglethorpe under the 401(k) Retirement Savings Plan on behalf of Mr. Smith, Mr. Price, Ms. Higgins, Mr. Ussery, Mr. Robbins and
Ms. Reusch of $10,115, $10,125, $10,125, $8,563, $9,987, and $8,036, respectively; [contributions made by Oglethorpe under the 401(k) Retirement Savings Plan on behalf of Mr. Smith, Mr. Price Ms. Higgins,
Mr. Ussery, Mr. Robbins and Ms. Reusch of $19,385, $18,000, $18,000, $17,595, $17,755, and $14,286, respectively;] contributions by Oglethorpe to a nonqualified deferred compensation plan on behalf of Mr. Smith,
Mr. Price and Ms. Higgins of $25,514, $8,456, and $7,036, respectively; a transition payment of $25,000 for services rendered by Mr. Robbins as Chief Administrative Officer; a payment to Mr. Price for unused paid
leave time accrued; a car allowance of $12,000, $9,000, $9,000, $9,000, $9,000, and $9,000 for Mr. Smith, Mr. Price, Ms. Higgins, Mr. Ussery, Mr. Robbins and Ms. Reusch respectively; and insurance premiums paid
on term life insurance on behalf of Mr. Smith, Mr. Price, Ms. Higgins, Mr. Ussery, Mr. Robbins and Ms. Reusch of $1,242, $810, $485, $854, $2,307, $683, respectively.

Figures for 2006 consist of matching contributions made by Oglethorpe under the 401(k) Retirement Savings Plan on behalf of Mr. Smith, Mr. Price, Ms. Higgins, Mr. Ussery, Mr. Robbins and Ms. Reusch and of $9,895,
$9,658, $9,707, $7,395, $9,900, and $8,382, respectively; contributions made by Oglethorpe under the 401(k) Retirement Savings Plan on behalf of Mr. Smith, Mr. Price Ms. Higgins, Mr. Ussery, Mr. Robbins and
Ms. Reusch of $11,000, $11,000, $11,000, $10,428, $11,000, and $9,313, respectively; contributions by Oglethorpe to a nonqualified deferred compensation plan on behalf of Mr. Smith, Mr. Price, Ms. Higgins and
Mr. Robbins of $17,445, $5,460, $4,929, and $1,610, respectively; a transition payment of $40,000 for services rendered by Mr. Robbins as Chief Administrative Officer; a car allowance of $12,000, $9,000, $9,000,
$9,000, $9,000, and $9,000 for Mr. Smith, Mr. Price, Ms. Higgins, Mr. Ussery, Mr. Robbins and Ms. Reusch respectively; and insurance premiums paid on term life insurance on behalf of Mr. Smith, Mr. Price,
Ms. Higgins, Mr. Ussery, Mr. Robbins and Ms. Reusch of $1,242, $807, $475, $874, $2,040, $645, respectively.

Oglethorpe entered into an employment agreement November 30, 2007 (for the initial term) or twenty-five
with Thomas A. Smith, Oglethorpe’s President and months before the expiration of any extended term. No
Chief Executive Officer, effective March 15, 2002. such notice has been provided. Mr. Smith’s minimum
Oglethorpe entered into a restated employment annual base salary under the 2007 agreement is
agreement with Mr. Smith effective January 1, 2007. $440,870, and is subject to review and possible upward
The initial term of the 2007 agreement extends until adjustment by the Board of Directors. Mr. Smith is
December 31, 2009, and automatically renews for eligible for an annual bonus or other incentive
successive one-year periods unless either party provides compensation plans generally available to similarly
written notice not to renew the agreement on or before situated employees, determined by Oglethorpe’s Board
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of Directors in its sole discretion. Mr. Smith is also Grants of Plan-Based Award Table
entitled to an automobile or an automobile allowance The following table sets forth certain information
during the term of the 2007 agreement. Mr. Smith’s with respect to the performance pay for the fiscal year
employment agreement contains severance pay ended December 31, 2007 awarded to the Executive
provisions. Details regarding the severance pay Officers listed in the Summary Compensation Table.
provisions of the agreement are provided under
‘‘Severance Arrangements’’. 

Estimated Future Payouts
Under Non-EquityEffective January 1, 2007, Oglethorpe entered into

Incentive Plan Awardsemployment agreements with Mr. Price, Ms. Higgins,
Name Grant Date Threshold (1) Target (2)

Mr. Ussery, Mr. Robbins and Ms. Reusch. Each
Thomas A. Smith N/A $23,655 $95,000agreement extends through December 31, 2008, and
President and Chief Executive Officerautomatically renews for successive one-year periods
Michael W. Price N/A 13,944 56,000unless either party provides written notice not to renew
Chief Operating Officerthe agreement on or before November 30, 2007 (for the
Elizabeth B. Higgins N/A 13,695 55,000initial term) or thirteen months before the expiration of
Chief Financial Officer

any extended term. No such notices have been provided.
William F. Ussery N/A 9,661 38,800

Minimum annual base salaries under the 2007 Senior Vice President, Member and
agreements are $255,116 for Mr. Price, $246,887 for External Relations

Ms. Higgins, $171,700 for Mr. Ussery, $164,000 for W. Clayton Robbins N/A 8,566 34,400
Senior Vice President, ChiefMr. Robbins, and $148,596 for Ms. Reusch. Salaries are
Administrative Officersubject to review and possible upward adjustment as
Jami G. Reusch N/A 7,769 31,200determined by the President and the Chief Executive
Vice President, Human Resources

Officer. Each executive is also eligible for an annual
bonus or other incentive compensation plans generally (1) These figures represent the amount each Executive Officer would receive if the threshold goal

achievement percentages were reached in each of the goal categories identified above. Seeavailable to similarly situated employees, determined by
‘‘Compensation Discussion and Analysis – Assessment of Corporate and Executive Officer Performance –

Oglethorpe in its sole discretion. The employment Performance Pay.’’

(2) This amount represents 20 percent of the Executive Officer’s base salary. See ‘‘Compensationagreements with Mr. Price, Ms. Higgins, Mr. Ussery,
Discussion and Analysis – Assessment of Corporate and Executive Officer Performance – PerformanceMr. Robbins, and Ms. Reusch contain severance pay
Pay’’ for additional information. 

provisions. Details regarding the severance pay
For an explanation of the criteria and formula used toprovisions of the agreements are provided under

determine the awards listed above, please refer to the‘‘Severance Arrangements’’.
discussion entitled ‘‘Assessment of Corporate and
Executive Officer Performance’’ included in the
Compensation Discussion and Analysis.

Nonqualified Deferred Compensation

Oglethorpe maintains a Fidelity Non-Qualified
Deferred Compensation Program. The Nonqualified
Deferred Compensation Program serves as a vehicle
through which Oglethorpe can continue contributions to
its Executive Officers via its Employer Retirement
Contribution to its Executive Officers beyond the IRS
salary limits on the retirement plan ($220,000 as
indexed). The following table sets forth contributions by
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Oglethorpe for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2007 maximum of two years’ pay), and is payable within
along with aggregate earnings for the same period. 30 days of termination, subject to the provisions of

Internal Revenue Code Section 409A. In addition,
Registrant Aggregate Aggregate Mr. Smith will be entitled to outplacement services

Contributions Earnings in Balance
provided by Oglethorpe and an amount equal toName in Last FY (1) Last FY (2) at Last FYE
Mr. Smith’s costs for medical and dental continuation

Thomas A. Smith
coverage under COBRA, each for the longer of onePresident and Chief Executive

Officer $25,514 $3,454 $47,576 year or the remaining term of the agreement. Severance
is payable only if Mr. Smith signs a form releasing allMichael W. Price

Chief Operating Officer 8,456 710 14,844 claims against Oglethorpe within 45 days after his
Elizabeth B. Higgins termination date. The maximum severance that would
Chief Financial Officer 7,036 246 12,427 be payable to Mr. Smith in the circumstances described
William F. Ussery above is $1,157,221. 
Senior Vice President, Member and
External Relations – – – Pursuant to the terms of their employment
W. Clayton Robbins agreements, Mr. Price, Ms. Higgins, Mr. Ussery,
Senior Vice President, Chief Mr. Robbins, and Ms. Reusch will each be entitled to a
Administrative Officer – 88 1,701

lump-sum severance payment if Oglethorpe terminates
Jami G. Reusch the executive without cause or if the executive resignsVice President, Human Resources – – –

after a demotion or material reduction of his or her
(1) All registrant contribution amounts shown have been included in the ‘‘All Other Compensation’’ column position or responsibilities, a reduction of his or her

of the Summary Compensation Table above. base salary, or a relocation of his or her principal office
(2) A participant’s account under the Fidelity Non-Qualified Deferred Compensation Program is invested in

by more than 50 miles. The severance payment willthe investment options selected by the participant. The account is credited with gains or losses actually
experienced by the investments. equal the one year of the executive’s base salary,

payable six months after the executive’s termination
Severance Arrangements date. In addition, the executive will be entitled to six

months of outplacement services provided byPursuant to the terms of his employment agreement,
Oglethorpe and an amount equal to the executive’s costMr. Smith will be entitled to a lump-sum severance
for medical and dental continuation coverage underpayment upon the occurrence of any of the following
COBRA for six months. Severance is payable only ifevents: (1) Oglethorpe terminates Mr. Smith’s
the executive signs a form releasing all claims againstemployment without cause; or (2) Mr. Smith resigns
Oglethorpe within 45 days after his or her terminationdue to a demotion or material reduction of his position
date. The maximum severance that would be payable toor responsibilities, reduction of his base salary, or a
Mr. Price, Ms. Higgins, Mr. Ussery, Mr. Robbins andrelocation of Mr. Smith’s principal office by more than
Ms. Reusch in the circumstances described above is50 miles. The severance payment will equal Mr. Smith’s
$331,110, $331,110, $240,108, $200,672 and $179,693,base salary through the rest of the term of the
respectively.agreement (with a minimum of one year’s pay and a
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ITEM 12. SECURITY OWNERSHIP OF CERTAIN under the Wholesale Power Contract accounted for
BENEFICIAL OWNERS AND MANAGEMENT approximately less than 1 percent of Oglethorpe’s total
AND RELATED STOCKHOLDER MATTERS revenues and. Pataula EMC is owned by another

Member of Oglethorpe, Cobb EMC. Not Applicable.
Herbert J. Short served as Oglethorpe’s General

ITEM 13. CERTAIN RELATIONSHIPS AND RELATED Counsel during 2007. Mr. Short is a partner with
TRANSACTIONS, AND DIRECTOR Sutherland Asbill & Brennan LLP. Sutherland Asbill &
INDEPENDENCE Brennan LLP provides legal services to Oglethorpe on a

regular basis. Certain Relationships and Related Transactions

Oglethorpe has a Standards of Conduct/ Conflict ofDuring 2007, Robert E. Rentfrow was a Director of
Interest policy (the ‘‘Policy’’) that sets forth guidelinesOglethorpe and the President and Chief Executive
that its employees and directors must follow in order toOfficer of Satilla Rural EMC. Satilla Rural EMC is a
avoid conflicts of interest, or any appearance ofMember of Oglethorpe and has a Wholesale Power
conflicts of interest, between an individual’s personalContract with Oglethorpe. Satilla Rural EMC’s payment
interests and the interests of Oglethorpe. Pursuant to theof $28.9 million to Oglethorpe in 2007 under the
Policy, each employee and director must disclose anyWholesale Power Contract accounted for approximately
conflicts of interest, actions or relationships that might2.5 percent of Oglethorpe’s total revenue. 
give rise to a conflict. The President and Chief

Jeffrey W. Murphy is a Director of Oglethorpe and Executive Officer is responsible for taking reasonable
the President and Chief Executive Officer of Hart EMC. steps to ensure that the employees are complying with
Hart EMC is a Member of Oglethorpe and has a the Policy and the Audit Committee is responsible for
Wholesale Power Contract with Oglethorpe. Hart taking reasonable steps to ensure that the directors are
EMC’s payments of $21.9 million to Oglethorpe in complying with the Policy. The Audit Committee is
2007 under the Wholesale Power Contract accounted charged with monitoring compliance with the Policy
for approximately 1.9 percent of Oglethorpe’s total and making recommendations to the Board of Directors
revenues. regarding the Policy. Certain actions or relationships

Gary A. Miller is a Director of Oglethorpe and the that might give rise to a conflict of interest are reviewed
President and Chief Executive Officer of GreyStone and approved by the Board of Directors.
Power Corporation. GreyStone Power Corporation is a

Director IndependenceMember of Oglethorpe and has a Wholesale Power
Contract with Oglethorpe. GreyStone Power Because Oglethorpe is an electric cooperative, the
Corporation’s payments of $83.9 million to Oglethorpe members it serves own and manage Oglethorpe.
in 2007 under the Wholesale Power Contract accounted Oglethorpe’s Bylaws set forth specific requirements
for approximately 7.3 percent of Oglethorpe’s total regarding the composition of its Board of Directors.
revenues. Specifically, Oglethorpe has a thirteen member Board of

Directors consisting of eleven directors elected from theC. Hill Bentley is a Director of Oglethorpe and the
Members (the ‘‘Member Directors’’) and twoChief Executive Officer of Tri-County EMC. Tri-County
independent outside directors (the ‘‘Outside Directors’’).EMC is a Member of Oglethorpe and has a Wholesale
Five Member Directors must be a general manager ofPower Contract with Oglethorpe. Tri-County EMC’s
an Oglethorpe Member located in each of the fivepayments of $13.4 million to Oglethorpe in 2007 under
geographical regions of the State of Georgia and anthe Wholesale Power Contract accounted for
additional five Member Directors must be a director ofapproximately 1.2 percent of Oglethorpe’s total
an Oglethorpe Member located in each of the fiverevenues. 
geographical regions of the State of Georgia. The

Gary W. Wyatt is a Director of Oglethorpe and the eleventh Member Director must be a director of an
President and Chief Executive Officer of Pataula EMC. Oglethorpe Member. An Oglethorpe Member must not
Pataula EMC is a Member of Oglethorpe and has a have both its general manager and one of its directors
Wholesale Power Contract with Oglethorpe. Pataula serve as a director of Oglethorpe at the same time. 
EMC’s payments of $2.4 million to Oglethorpe in 2007
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In addition to meeting the requirements set forth in In considering the nature of the services provided by
its Bylaws, all directors, with the exception of Gary A. the independent auditor, the Audit Committee
Miller, satisfy the definition of director independence as determined that such services are compatible with the
prescribed by the NASDAQ Stock Market and provision of independent audit services. The Audit
otherwise meet the requirements set forth in Committee discussed these services with management to
Oglethorpe’s Bylaws. Gary A. Miller does not qualify determine that they are permitted under the rules and
as an independent director because he is the President regulations concerning auditor independence
and Chief Executive Officer of GreyStone Power promulgated by the Securities and Exchange
Corporation, which accounted for approximately Commission to implement the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of
7.5 percent of Oglethorpe’s revenues for the fiscal year 2002, as well as the American Institute of Certified
ended December 31, 2007. Although Oglethorpe does Public Accountants.
not have any securities listed on the NASDAQ Stock

Pre-Approval PolicyMarket, Oglethorpe has used the NASDAQ Stock
Market’s independence criteria in making this The services performed by Pricewaterhouse
determination in accordance with applicable SEC rules. Coopers LLP in 2007 were pre-approved in accordance

with the pre-approval policy and procedures adopted by
ITEM 14. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTANT FEES AND the Audit Committee. The policy requires that requests

SERVICES for all services must be submitted to the Audit
For 2007 and 2006, fees for services provided by Committee for specific pre-approval and cannot

Oglethorpe’s principal accountants, commence until such approval has been granted.
PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP were as follows: Normally, pre-approval is provided at regularly

scheduled meetings.(dollars in thousands)

2007 2006

Audit Fees (1) $ 341 $ 358
Tax Fees (2) 25 27
Audit-Related Fees (3) – 4
All Other Fees – –

Total $ 366 $ 389

(1) Audit of annual financial statements and review of financial statements included in SEC filings and
services rendered in connection with financings.

(2) Professional tax services including tax consultation and tax return preparation.

(3) Audit related services rendered in connection with future Section 404 compliance requirements.
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PART IV

ITEM 15. EXHIBITS AND FINANCIAL STATEMENT SCHEDULES

(a) List of Documents Filed as a Part of This Report.
Page

(1) Financial Statements (Included under ‘‘Financial Statements and Supplementary Data’’)
Consolidated Statements of Revenues and Expenses, For the Years Ended December 31, 2007,

2006 and 2005 . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 51
Consolidated Balance Sheets, As of December 31, 2007 and 2006 . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 52
Consolidated Statements of Capitalization, As of December 31, 2007 and 2006 . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 54
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows, For the Years Ended December 31, 2007, 2006 and 2005 . 55
Consolidated Statements of Patronage Capital and Membership Fees And Accumulated Other

Comprehensive Deficit For the Years Ended December 31, 2007, 2006 and 2005 . . . . . . . . . . . . 56
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 57
Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 77

(2) Financial Statement Schedules

None applicable.

(3) Exhibits

Exhibits marked with an asterisk (*) are hereby incorporated by reference to exhibits previously filed by the
Registrant as indicated in parentheses following the description of the exhibit.

Number Description

*2.1 – Second Amended and Restated Restructuring Agreement, dated February 24, 1997, by and
among Oglethorpe, Georgia Transmission Corporation (An Electric Membership Corporation)
and Georgia System Operations Corporation. (Filed as Exhibit 2.1 to the Registrant’s
Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended December 31, 1996, File No. 33-7591.)

*2.2 – Member Agreement, dated August 1, 1996, by and among Oglethorpe, Georgia Transmission
Corporation (An Electric Membership Corporation), Georgia System Operations Corporation
and the Members of Oglethorpe. (Filed as Exhibit 2.2 to the Registrant’s Form 10-K for the
fiscal year ended December 31, 1996, File No. 33-7591.)

*3.1(a) – Restated Articles of Incorporation of Oglethorpe, dated as of July 26, 1988. (Filed as
Exhibit 3.1 to the Registrant’s Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended December 31, 1988, File
No. 33-7591.)

*3.1(b) – Amendment to Articles of Incorporation of Oglethorpe, dated as of March 11, 1997. (Filed as
Exhibit 3(i)(b) to the Registrant’s Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended December 31, 1996,
File No. 33-7591.)

*3.2 – Bylaws of Oglethorpe, as amended and restated, as of March 21, 2005. (Filed as Exhibit 3.2
to the Registrant’s Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2004, File
No. 33-7591.)

*4.1 – Form of Serial Facility Bond Due June 30, 2011 (included in Collateral Trust Indenture filed
as Exhibit 4.2.)

*4.2 – Collateral Trust Indenture, dated as of December 1, 1997, between OPC Scherer 1997 Funding
Corporation A, Oglethorpe and SunTrust Bank, Atlanta, as Trustee. (Filed as Exhibit 4.2 to the
Registrant’s Form S-4 Registration Statement, File No. 333-42759.)

*4.3 – Nonrecourse Promissory Lessor Note No. 2, with a Schedule identifying three other
substantially identical Nonrecourse Promissory Lessor Notes and any material differences.
(Filed as Exhibit 4.3 to the Registrant’s Form S-4 Registration Statement, File No. 333-42759.)
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*4.4 – Amended and Restated Indenture of Trust, Deed to Secure Debt and Security Agreement
No. 2, dated December 1, 1997, between Wilmington Trust Company and NationsBank, N.A.
collectively as Owner Trustee, under Trust Agreement No. 2, dated December 30, 1985, with
DFO Partnership, as assignee of Ford Motor Credit Company, and The Bank of New York
Trust Company of Florida, N.A. as Indenture Trustee, with a Schedule identifying three other
substantially identical Amended and Restated Indentures of Trust, Deeds to Secure Debt and
Security Agreements and any material differences. (Filed as Exhibit 4.4 to the Registrant’s
Form S-4 Registration Statement, File No. 333-42759.)

*4.5(a) – Lease Agreement No. 2 dated December 30, 1985, between Wilmington Trust Company and
William J. Wade, as Owner Trustees under Trust Agreement No. 2, dated December 30, 1985,
with Ford Motor Credit Company, Lessor, and Oglethorpe, Lessee, with a Schedule identifying
three other substantially identical Lease Agreements. (Filed as Exhibit 4.5(b) to the
Registrant’s Form S-1 Registration Statement, File No. 33-7591.)

*4.5(b) – First Supplement to Lease Agreement No. 2 (included as Exhibit B to the Supplemental
Participation Agreement No. 2 listed as 10.1.1(b)).

*4.5(c) – First Supplement to Lease Agreement No. 1, dated as of June 30, 1987, between The Citizens
and Southern National Bank as Owner Trustee under Trust Agreement No. 1 with IBM Credit
Financing Corporation, as Lessor, and Oglethorpe, as Lessee. (Filed as Exhibit 4.5(c) to the
Registrant’s Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended December 31, 1987, File No. 33-7591.)

*4.5(d) – Second Supplement to Lease Agreement No. 2, dated as of December 17, 1997, between
NationsBank, N.A., acting through its agent, The Bank of New York, as an Owner Trustee
under the Trust Agreement No. 2, dated December 30, 1985, among DFO Partnership, as
assignee of Ford Motor Credit Company, as the Owner Participant, and the Original Trustee,
as Lessor, and Oglethorpe, as Lessee, with a Schedule identifying three other substantially
identical Second Supplements to Lease Agreements and any material differences. (Filed as
Exhibit 4.5(d) to the Registrant’s Form S-4 Registration Statement, File No. 333-42759.)

*4.6 – Third Amended and Restated Loan Contract, dated as of July 25, 2007, between Oglethorpe
and the United States of America, together with two notes executed and delivered pursuant
thereto. (Filed as Exhibit 4.6 to the Registrant’s Form 10-Q for the quarterly period ended
June 30, 2007, File No. 33-7591.)

*4.7.1(a) – Indenture, dated as of March 1, 1997, made by Oglethorpe to SunTrust Bank, Atlanta, as
trustee. (Filed as Exhibit 4.8.1 to the Registrant’s Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended
December 31, 1996, File No. 33-7591.)

*4.7.1(b) – First Supplemental Indenture, dated as of October 1, 1997, made by Oglethorpe to SunTrust
Bank, Atlanta, as trustee, relating to the Series 1997B (Burke) Note. (Filed as Exhibit 4.8.1(b)
to the Registrant’s Form 10-Q for the quarterly period ended September 30, 1997, File
No. 33-7591.)

*4.7.1(c) – Second Supplemental Indenture, dated as of January 1, 1998, made by Oglethorpe to SunTrust
Bank, as trustee, relating to the Series 1997C (Burke) Note. (Filed as Exhibit 4.7.1(c) to the
Registrant’s Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended December 31, 1997, File No. 33-7591.)

*4.7.1(d) – Third Supplemental Indenture, dated as of January 1, 1998, made by Oglethorpe to SunTrust
Bank, as trustee, relating to the Series 1997A (Monroe) Note. (Filed as Exhibit 4.7.1(d) to the
Registrant’s Form 10-K for the fiscal year December 31, 1997, File No. 33-7591.)

*4.7.1(e) – Fourth Supplemental Indenture, dated as of March 1, 1998, made by Oglethorpe to SunTrust
Bank, Atlanta, as trustee, relating to the Series 1998A (Burke) and 1998B (Burke) Notes.
(Filed as Exhibit 4.7.1(e) to the Registrant’s Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended
December 31, 1998, File No. 33-7591.)

*4.7.1(f) – Fifth Supplemental Indenture, dated as of April 1, 1998, made by Oglethorpe to SunTrust
Bank, Atlanta, as trustee, relating to the Series 1998 CFC Note. (Filed as Exhibit 4.7.1(f) to
the Registrant’s Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended December 31, 1998, File No. 33-7591.)
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*4.7.1(g) – Sixth Supplemental Indenture, dated as of January 1, 1999, made by Oglethorpe to SunTrust
Bank, Atlanta, as trustee, relating to the Series 1998C (Burke) Note. (Filed as Exhibit 4.7.1(g)
to the Registrant’s Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended December 31, 1998, File
No. 33-7591.)

*4.7.1(h) – Seventh Supplemental Indenture, dated as of January 1, 1999, made by Oglethorpe to SunTrust
Bank, Atlanta, as trustee, relating to the Series 1998A (Monroe) Note. (Filed as
Exhibit 4.7.1(h) to the Registrant’s Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended December 31, 1998,
File No. 33-7591.)

*4.7.1(i) – Eighth Supplemental Indenture, dated as of November 1, 1999, made by Oglethorpe to
SunTrust Bank, Atlanta, as trustee, relating to the Series 1999B (Burke) Note. (Filed as
Exhibit 4.7.1(i) to the Registrant’s Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended December 31, 1999,
File No. 33-7591.)

*4.7.1(j) – Ninth Supplemental Indenture, dated as of November 1, 1999, made by Oglethorpe to
SunTrust Bank, Atlanta, as trustee, relating to the Series 1999B (Monroe) Note. (Filed as
Exhibit 4.7.1(j) to the Registrant’s Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended December 31, 1999,
File No. 33-7591.)

*4.7.1(k) – Tenth Supplemental Indenture, dated as of December 1, 1999, made by Oglethorpe to
SunTrust Bank, Atlanta, as trustee, relating to the Series 1999 Lease Notes. (Filed as
Exhibit 4.7.1(k) to the Registrant’s Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended December 31, 1999,
File No. 33-7591.)

*4.7.1(l) – Eleventh Supplemental Indenture, dated as of January 1, 2000, made by Oglethorpe to
SunTrust Bank as trustee, relating to the Series 1999A (Burke) Note. (Filed as Exhibit 4.7.1(l)
to the Registrant’s Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended December 31, 1999, File
No. 33-7591.)

*4.7.1(m) – Twelfth Supplemental Indenture, dated as of January 1, 2000, made by Oglethorpe to SunTrust
Bank as trustee, relating to the Series 1999A (Monroe) Note. (Filed as Exhibit 4.7.1(m) to the
Registrant’s Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended December 31, 1999, File No. 33-7591.)

*4.7.1(n) – Thirteenth Supplemental Indenture, dated as of January 1, 2001, made by Oglethorpe to
SunTrust Bank, as trustee, relating to the Series 2000 (Burke) Note. (Filed as Exhibit 4.7.1(n)
to the Registrant’s Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2000, File
No. 33-7591.)

*4.7.1(o) – Fourteenth Supplemental Indenture, dated as of January 1, 2001, made by Oglethorpe to
SunTrust Bank, as trustee, relating to the Series 2000 (Monroe) Note. (Filed as
Exhibit 4.7.1(o) to the Registrant’s Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2000,
File No. 33-7591.)

*4.7.1(p) – Fifteenth Supplemental Indenture, dated as of January 1, 2002, made by Oglethorpe to
SunTrust Bank, as trustee, relating to the Series 2001 (Burke) Note. (Filed as Exhibit 4.7.1(p)
to the Registrant’s Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2001, File
No. 33-7591.)

*4.7.1(q) – Sixteenth Supplemental Indenture, dated as of January 1, 2002, made by Oglethorpe to
SunTrust Bank, as trustee, relating to the Series 2001 (Monroe) Note. (Filed as
Exhibit 4.7.1(q) to the Registrant’s Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2001,
File No. 33-7591.)

*4.7.1(r) – Seventeenth Supplemental Indenture, dated as of October 1, 2002, made by Oglethorpe to
SunTrust Bank, as trustee, relating to the Series 2002A (Burke) Note. (Filed as Exhibit 4.7.1(r)
to the Registrant’s Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2002, File
No. 33-7591.)
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*4.7.1(s) – Eighteenth Supplemental Indenture, dated as of October 1, 2002, made by Oglethorpe to
SunTrust Bank, as trustee, relating to the Series 2002B (Burke) Note. (Filed as Exhibit 4.7.1(s)
to the Registrant’s Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2002, File
No. 33-7591.)

*4.7.1(t) – Nineteenth Supplemental Indenture, dated as of January 1, 2003, made by Oglethorpe to
SunTrust Bank, as trustee, relating to the Series 2002C (Burke) Note. (Filed as Exhibit 4.7.1(t)
to the Registrant’s Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2002, File
No. 33-7591.)

*4.7.1(u) – Twentieth Supplemental Indenture, dated as of January 1, 2003, made by Oglethorpe to
SunTrust Bank, as trustee, relating to the Series 2002 (Monroe) Note. (Filed as
Exhibit 4.7.1(u) to the Registrant’s Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2002,
File No. 33-7591.)

*4.7.1(v) – Twenty-First Supplemental Indenture, dated as of January 1, 2003, made by Oglethorpe to
SunTrust Bank, as trustee, relating to the Series 2002 (Appling) Note. (Filed as
Exhibit 4.7.1(v) to the Registrant’s Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2002,
File No. 33-7591.)

*4.7.1(w) – Twenty-Second Supplemental Indenture, dated as of March 1, 2003, made by Oglethorpe to
SunTrust Bank, as trustee, relating to the Series 2003 (FFB M-8) Note and Series 2003
(RUS M-8) Reimbursement Note. (Filed as Exhibit 4.7.1(w) to the Registrant’s Form 10-Q for
the quarterly period ended September 30, 2003, File No. 33-7591.)

*4.7.1(x) – Twenty-Third Supplemental Indenture, dated as of March 1, 2003, made by Oglethorpe to
SunTrust Bank, as trustee, relating to the Series 2003 (FFB N-8) Note and Series 2003
(RUS N-8) Reimbursement Note. (Filed as Exhibit 4.7.1(x) to the Registrant’s Form 10-Q for
the quarterly period ended September 30, 2003, File No. 33-7591.)

*4.7.1(y) – Twenty-Fourth Supplemental Indenture, dated as of December 1, 2003, made by Oglethorpe to
SunTrust Bank, as trustee, relating to the Series 2003A (Appling) Note. (Filed as
Exhibit 4.7.1(y) to the Registrant’s Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2003,
File No. 33-7591.)

*4.7.1(z) – Twenty-Fifth Supplemental Indenture, dated as of December 1, 2003, made by Oglethorpe to
SunTrust Bank, as trustee, relating to the Series 2003A (Burke) Note. (Filed as
Exhibit 4.7.1(z) to the Registrant’s Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2003,
File No. 33-7591.)

*4.7.1(aa) – Twenty-Sixth Supplemental Indenture, dated as of December 1, 2003, made by Oglethorpe to
SunTrust Bank, as trustee, relating to the Series 2003B (Burke) Note. (Filed as
Exhibit 4.7.1(aa) to the Registrant’s Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2003,
File No. 33-7591.)

*4.7.1(bb) – Twenty-Seventh Supplemental Indenture, dated as of December 1, 2003, made by Oglethorpe
to SunTrust Bank, as trustee, relating to the Series 2003A (Heard) Note. (Filed as
Exhibit 4.7.1(bb) to the Registrant’s Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2003,
File No. 33-7591.)

*4.7.1(cc) – Twenty-Eighth Supplemental Indenture, dated as of December 1, 2003, made by Oglethorpe to
SunTrust Bank, as trustee, relating to the Series 2003A (Monroe) Note. (Filed as
Exhibit 4.7.1(cc) to the Registrant’s Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2003,
File No. 33-7591.)

*4.7.1(dd) – Twenty-Ninth Supplemental Indenture, dated as of December 1, 2004, made by Oglethorpe to
SunTrust Bank, as trustee, relating to the Series 2004 (Burke) Note. (Filed as Exhibit 4.7.1(dd)
to the Registrant’s Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2004, File
No. 33-7591.)
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*4.7.1(ee) – Thirtieth Supplemental Indenture, dated as of December 1, 2004, made by Oglethorpe to
SunTrust Bank, as trustee, relating to the Series 2004 (Monroe) Note. (Filed as
Exhibit 4.7.1(ee) to the Registrant’s Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2004,
File No. 33-7591.)

*4.7.1(ff) – Thirty-First Supplemental Indenture, dated as of November 1, 2005, made by Oglethorpe to
SunTrust Bank, as trustee, relating to the Series 2005 (Burke) Note. (Filed as Exhibit 4.7.1(ff)
to the Registrant’s Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2005, File
No. 33-7591.)

*4.7.1(gg) – Thirty-Second Supplemental Indenture, dated as of November 1, 2005, made by Oglethorpe to
SunTrust Bank, as trustee, relating to the Series 2005 (Monroe) Note. (Filed as
Exhibit 4.7.1(gg) to the Registrant’s Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2005,
File No. 33-7591.)

*4.7.1(hh) – Thirty-Third Supplemental Indenture, dated as of May 1, 2006, made by Oglethorpe to
SunTrust Bank, as trustee, relating to the Series 2006 (FFB P-8) Note and Series 2006
(RUS P-8) Reimbursement Note. (Filed as Exhibit 4.7.1(hh) to the Registrant’s Form 10-Q for
the quarterly period ended June 30, 2006, File No. 33-7591.)

*4.7.1(ii) – Thirty-Fourth Supplemental Indenture, dated as of September 22, 2006, made by Oglethorpe to
SunTrust Bank, as trustee, relating to the Amendment of Section 9.9 of the Original Indenture.
(Filed as Exhibit 4.7.1(ii) to the Registrant’s Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended
December 31, 2006, File No. 33-7591.)

*4.7.1(jj) – Thirty-Fifth Supplemental Indenture, dated as of October 1, 2006, made by Oglethorpe to U.S.
Bank National Association, as trustee, relating to the Oglethorpe Power Corporation First
Mortgage Bonds, Series 2006. (Filed as Exhibit 4.7.1(jj) to the Registrant’s Form 10-K for the
fiscal year ended December 31, 2006, File No. 33-7591.)

*4.7.1(kk) – Thirty-Sixth Supplemental Indenture, dated as of October 1, 2006, made by Oglethorpe to U.S.
Bank National Association, as trustee, relating to the Series 2006A (Burke) Note,
Series 2006B-1 (Burke) Note, Series 2006B-2 (Burke) Note, Series 2006B-3 (Burke) Note,
Series 2006B-4 (Burke) Note and Series 2006A (Monroe) Note. (Filed as Exhibit 4.7.1(kk) to
the Registrant’s Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2006, File No. 33-7591.)

*4.7.1(ll) – Thirty-Seventh Supplemental Indenture, dated as of October 1, 2006, made by Oglethorpe to
U.S. Bank National Association, as trustee, relating to the Series 2006C-1 (Burke) Note,
Series 2006C-2 (Burke) Note and Series 2006B (Monroe) Note. (Filed as Exhibit 4.7.1(ll) to
the Registrant’s Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2006, File No. 33-7591.)

*4.7.1(mm) Thirty-Eighth Supplemental Indenture, dated as of May 1, 2007, made by Oglethorpe to U.S.
Bank National Association, as trustee, relating to the Amendments to the Retained
Indebtedness Note. (Filed as Exhibit 4.7.1(mm) to the Registrant’s Form 10-Q for the quarterly
period ended June 30, 2007, File No. 33-7591.)

*4.7.1(nn) Thirty-Ninth Supplemental Indenture, dated as of July 1, 2007, made by Oglethorpe to U.S.
Bank National Association, as trustee, relating to the Series 2007 (FFB R-8) Note and
Series 2007 (RUS R-8) Reimbursement Note. (Filed as Exhibit 4.7.1(nn) to the Registrant’s
Form 10-Q for the quarterly period ended June 30, 2007, File No. 33-7591.)

*4.7.1(oo) Fortieth Supplemental Indenture, dated as of October 1, 2007, made by Oglethorpe to U.S.
Bank National Association, as trustee, relating to the Oglethorpe Power Corporation First
Mortgage Bonds, Series 2007. (Filed as Exhibit 4.7.1(oo) to the Registrant’s Form 10-Q for
the quarterly period ended September 30, 2007, File No. 33-7591.)
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*4.7.1(pp) Forty-First Supplemental Indenture, dated as of October 1, 2007, made by Oglethorpe to U.S.
Bank National Association, as trustee, relating to the Series 2007A (Appling) Note,
Series 2007B (Appling) Note, Series 2007A (Burke) Note, Series 2007B (Burke) Note,
Series 2007C (Burke) Note, Series 2007D (Burke) Note, Series 2007E (Burke) Note,
Series 2007F (Burke) Note and Series 2007A (Monroe) Note. (Filed as Exhibit 4.7.1(pp) to
the Registrant’s Form 10-Q for the quarterly period ended September 30, 2007, File
No. 33-7591.)

4.7.1(qq) – Forty-Second Supplemental Indenture, dated as of February 5, 2008, made by Oglethorpe to
U.S. Bank National Association, as trustee, providing for the Amendment of Section 1.1 of the
Original Indenture.

*4.7.2 – Security Agreement, dated as of March 1, 1997, made by Oglethorpe to SunTrust Bank,
Atlanta, as trustee. (Filed as Exhibit 4.8.2 to the Registrant’s Form 10-K for the fiscal year
ended December 31, 1996, File No. 33-7591.)

4.8.1(1) – Loan Agreement, dated as of October 1, 1992, between Development Authority of Monroe
County and Oglethorpe relating to Development Authority of Monroe County Pollution
Control Revenue Bonds (Oglethorpe Power Corporation Scherer Project), Series 1992A.

4.8.2(1) – Note, dated October 1, 1992, from Oglethorpe to Trust Company Bank, as trustee acting
pursuant to a Trust Indenture, dated as of October 1, 1992, between Development Authority of
Monroe County and Trust Company Bank relating to Development Authority of Monroe
County Pollution Control Revenue Bonds (Oglethorpe Power Corporation Scherer Project),
Series 1992A.

4.8.3(1) – Trust Indenture, dated as of October 1, 1992, between Development Authority of Monroe
County and Trust Company Bank, Trustee, relating to Development Authority of Monroe
County Pollution Control Revenue Bonds (Oglethorpe Power Corporation Scherer Project),
Series 1992A.

4.9.1(1) – Loan Agreement, dated as of December 1, 1992, between Development Authority of Burke
County and Oglethorpe relating to Development Authority of Burke County Adjustable Tender
Pollution Control Revenue Bonds (Oglethorpe Power Corporation Vogtle Project),
Series 1993A, and one other substantially identical (Swap Bonds) loan agreement.

4.9.2(1) – Note, dated December 1, 1992, from Oglethorpe to Trust Company Bank, as trustee acting
pursuant to a Trust Indenture, dated as of December 1, 1992, between Development Authority
of Burke County and Trust Company Bank, relating to Development Authority of Burke
County Adjustable Tender Pollution Control Revenue Bonds (Oglethorpe Power Corporation
Vogtle Project), Series 1993A, and one other substantially identical note.

4.9.3(1) – Trust Indenture, dated as of December 1, 1992, from Development Authority of Burke County
to Trust Company Bank, as trustee, relating to Development Authority of Burke County
Adjustable Tender Pollution Control Revenue Bonds (Oglethorpe Power Corporation Vogtle
Project), Series 1993A, and one other substantially identical trust indenture.

4.9.4(1) – Interest Rate Swap Agreement, dated as of December 1, 1992, by and between Oglethorpe and
AIG Financial Products Corp. relating to Development Authority of Burke County Adjustable
Tender Pollution Control Revenue Bonds (Oglethorpe Power Corporation Vogtle Project),
Series 1993A, and one other substantially identical agreement.

4.9.5(1) – Liquidity Guaranty Agreement, dated as of December 1, 1992, by and between Oglethorpe and
AIG Financial Products Corp. relating to Development Authority of Burke County Adjustable
Tender Pollution Control Revenue Bonds (Oglethorpe Power Corporation Vogtle Project),
Series 1993A, and one other substantially identical agreement.
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4.9.6(1) – Standby Bond Purchase Agreement, dated as of December 1, 1998, between Oglethorpe and
Bayerische Landesbank Girozentrale, and amended by the First Amendment to Standby Bond
Purchase Agreement, dated as of November 1, 2002, relating to Development Authority of
Burke County Adjustable Tender Pollution Control Revenue Bonds (Oglethorpe Power
Corporation Vogtle Project), Series 1993A, and one other substantially identical agreement.

4.10.1(1) – Loan Agreement, dated as of October 1, 2002, between Development Authority of Burke
County and Oglethorpe relating to Development Authority of Burke County Pollution Control
Revenue Bonds (Oglethorpe Power Corporation Vogtle Project), Series 2002A, and eight other
substantially identical (Auction Rate Bonds) loan agreements.

4.10.2(1) – Note, dated October 23, 2002, from Oglethorpe to SunTrust Bank, as trustee pursuant to a
Trust Indenture, dated as of October 1, 2002, between Development Authority of Burke
County and SunTrust Bank relating to Development Authority of Burke County Pollution
Control Revenue Bonds (Oglethorpe Power Corporation Vogtle Project), Series 2002A, and
eight other substantially identical notes.

4.10.3(1) – Trust Indenture, dated as of October 1, 2002, between Development Authority of Burke
County and SunTrust Bank, as trustee, relating to Development Authority of Burke County
Pollution Control Revenue Bonds (Oglethorpe Power Corporation Vogtle Project),
Series 2002A, and eight other substantially identical indentures.

4.11.1(1) – Lease Agreement, dated as of August 1, 2003, between Development Authority of Heard
County and Oglethorpe relating to Development Authority of Heard County Taxable Industrial
Development Revenue Bonds (Oglethorpe Power Corporation Project), Series 2003, and four
other substantially identical (Industrial Development Revenue Bonds) lease agreements.

4.11.2(1) – Guaranty Agreement, dated as of August 1, 2003, between Oglethorpe and SunTrust Bank, as
trustee pursuant to an Indenture of Trust, dated as of August 1, 2003, between Development
Authority of Heard County and SunTrust Bank relating to Development Authority of Heard
County Taxable Industrial Development Revenue Bonds (Oglethorpe Power Corporation
Project), Series 2003, and four other substantially identical guaranties.

4.11.3(1) – Indenture of Trust, dated as of August 1, 2003, between Development Authority of Heard
County and SunTrust Bank, as trustee, relating to Development Authority of Heard County
Taxable Industrial Development Revenue Bonds (Oglethorpe Power Corporation Project),
Series 2003, and four other substantially identical indentures.

4.12.1(1) – Loan Agreement, dated as of March 1, 1998, between Development Authority of Burke
County and Oglethorpe relating to Development Authority of Burke County Pollution Control
Revenue Bonds (Oglethorpe Power Corporation Vogtle Project), Series 1998A, and twelve
other substantially identical (Adjustable Rate Bonds) loan agreements.

4.12.2(1) – Note, dated March 17, 1998, from Oglethorpe to SunTrust Bank, Atlanta, as trustee pursuant
to a Trust Indenture, dated as of March 1, 1998, between Development Authority of Burke
County and SunTrust Bank, Atlanta relating to Development Authority of Burke County
Pollution Control Revenue Bonds (Oglethorpe Power Corporation Vogtle Project),
Series 1998A, and twelve other substantially identical notes.

4.12.3(1) – Trust Indenture, dated as of March 1, 1998, between Development Authority of Burke County
and SunTrust Bank, Atlanta, as trustee, relating to Development Authority of Burke County
Pollution Control Revenue Bonds (Oglethorpe Power Corporation Vogtle Project),
Series 1998A, and twelve other substantially identical indentures.

4.12.4(1) – Standby Bond Purchase Agreement, dated March 17, 1998, between Oglethorpe and
Coöperatieve Centrale Raiffeisen-Boerenleenbank B.A., ‘‘Rabobank Nederland,’’ acting through
its New York Branch, as amended on May 16, 2000 and July 22, 2002, relating to
Development Authority of Burke County Pollution Control Revenue Bonds (Oglethorpe Power
Corporation Vogtle Project), Series 1998A, and twelve other substantially identical standby
liquidity agreements.
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*4.13.1 – Indemnity Agreement, dated as of March 1, 1997, by and between Oglethorpe and Georgia
Transmission Corporation (An Electric Membership Corporation). (Filed as Exhibit 4.13.1 to
the Registrant’s Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended December 31, 1996, File No. 33-7591.)

*4.13.2 – Indemnification Agreement, dated as of March 11, 1997, by Oglethorpe and Georgia
Transmission Corporation (An Electric Membership Corporation) for the benefit of the United
States of America. (Filed as Exhibit 4.13.2 to the Registrant’s Form 10-K for the fiscal year
ended December 31, 1996, File No. 33-7591.)

4.14.1(1) – Master Loan Agreement, dated as of March 1, 1997, between Oglethorpe and CoBank, ACB,
MLA No. 0459.

4.14.2(1) – Consolidating Supplement, dated as of March 1, 1997, between Oglethorpe and CoBank, ACB,
relating to Loan No. ML0459T1.

4.14.3(1) – Promissory Note, dated March 1, 1997, in the original principal amount of $7,102,740.26,
from Oglethorpe to CoBank, ACB, relating to Loan No. ML0459T1.

4.14.4(1) – Consolidating Supplement, dated as of March 1, 1997, between Oglethorpe and CoBank, ACB,
relating to Loan No. ML0459T2.

4.14.5(1) – Promissory Note, dated March 1, 1997, in the original principal amount of $1,856,475.12,
made by Oglethorpe to CoBank, ACB, relating to Loan No. ML0459T2.

*10.1.1(a) – Participation Agreement No. 2 among Oglethorpe as Lessee, Wilmington Trust Company as
Owner Trustee, The First National Bank of Atlanta as Indenture Trustee, Columbia Bank for
Cooperatives as Loan Participant and Ford Motor Credit Company as Owner Participant, dated
December 30, 1985, together with a Schedule identifying three other substantially identical
Participation Agreements. (Filed as Exhibit 10.1.1(b) to the Registrant’s Form S-1 Registration
Statement, File No. 33-7591.)

*10.1.1(b) – Supplemental Participation Agreement No. 2. (Filed as Exhibit 10.1.1(a) to the Registrant’s
Form S-1 Registration Statement, File No. 33-7591.)

*10.1.1(c) – Supplemental Participation Agreement No. 1, dated as of June 30, 1987, among Oglethorpe as
Lessee, IBM Credit Financing Corporation as Owner Participant, Wilmington Trust Company
and The Citizens and Southern National Bank as Owner Trustee, The First National Bank of
Atlanta, as Indenture Trustee, and Columbia Bank for Cooperatives, as Loan Participant. (Filed
as Exhibit 10.1.1(c) to the Registrant’s Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended December 31,
1987, File No. 33-7591.)

*10.1.1(d) – Second Supplemental Participation Agreement No. 2, dated as of December 17, 1997, among
Oglethorpe as Lessee, DFO Partnership, as assignee of Ford Motor Credit Company, as Owner
Participant, Wilmington Trust Company and NationsBank, N.A. as Owner Trustee, The Bank
of New York Trust Company of Florida, N.A. as Indenture Trustee, CoBank, ACB as Loan
Participant, OPC Scherer Funding Corporation, as Original Funding Corporation, OPC Scherer
1997 Funding Corporation A, as Funding Corporation, and SunTrust Bank, Atlanta, as
Original Collateral Trust Trustee and Collateral Trust Trustee, with a Schedule identifying
three substantially identical Second Supplemental Participation Agreements and any material
differences. (Filed as Exhibit 10.1.1(d) to Registrant’s Form S-4 Registration Statement, File
No. 333-4275.)

*10.1.2 – General Warranty Deed and Bill of Sale No. 2 between Oglethorpe, Grantor, and Wilmington
Trust Company and William J. Wade, as Owner Trustees under Trust Agreement No. 2, dated
December 30, 1985, with Ford Motor Credit Company, Grantee, together with a Schedule
identifying three substantially identical General Warranty Deeds and Bills of Sale. (Filed as
Exhibit 10.1.2 to the Registrant’s Form S-1 Registration Statement, File No. 33-7591.)
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*10.1.3(a) – Supporting Assets Lease No. 2, dated December 30, 1985, between Oglethorpe, Lessor, and
Wilmington Trust Company and William J. Wade, as Owner Trustees, under Trust Agreement
No. 2, dated December 30, 1985, with Ford Motor Credit Company, Lessee, together with a
Schedule identifying three substantially identical Supporting Assets Leases. (Filed as
Exhibit 10.1.3 to the Registrant’s Form S-1 Registration Statement, File No. 33-7591.)

*10.1.3(b) – First Amendment to Supporting Assets Lease No. 2, dated as of November 19, 1987, together
with a Schedule identifying three substantially identical First Amendments to Supporting
Assets Leases. (Filed as Exhibit 10.1.3(a) to the Registrant’s Form 10-K for the fiscal year
ended December 31, 1987, File No. 33-7591.)

*10.1.3(c) – Second Amendment to Supporting Assets Lease No. 2, dated as of October 3, 1989, together
with a Schedule identifying three substantially identical Second Amendments to Supporting
Assets Leases. (Filed as Exhibit 10.1.3(c) to the Registrant’s Form 10-Q for the quarterly
period ended March 31, 1998, File No. 33-7591.)

*10.1.4(a) – Supporting Assets Sublease No. 2, dated December 30, 1985, between Wilmington Trust
Company and William J. Wade, as Owner Trustees under Trust Agreement No. 2 dated
December 30, 1985, with Ford Motor Credit Company, Sublessor, and Oglethorpe, Sublessee,
together with a Schedule identifying three substantially identical Supporting Assets Subleases.
(Filed as Exhibit 10.1.4 to the Registrant’s Form S-1 Registration Statement, File
No. 33-7591.)

*10.1.4(b) – First Amendment to Supporting Assets Sublease No. 2, dated as of November 19, 1987,
together with a Schedule identifying three substantially identical First Amendments to
Supporting Assets Subleases. (Filed as Exhibit 10.1.4(a) to the Registrant’s Form 10-K for the
fiscal year ended December 31, 1987, File No. 33-7591.)

*10.1.4(c) – Second Amendment to Supporting Assets Sublease No. 2, dated as of October 3, 1989,
together with a Schedule identifying three substantially identical Second Amendments to
Supporting Assets Subleases. (Filed as Exhibit 10.1.4(c) to the Registrant’s Form 10-Q for the
quarterly period ended March 31, 1998, File No. 33-7591.)

*10.1.5(a) – Tax Indemnification Agreement No. 2, dated December 30, 1985, between Ford Motor Credit
Company, Owner Participant, and Oglethorpe, Lessee, together with a Schedule identifying
three substantially identical Tax Indemnification Agreements. (Filed as Exhibit 10.1.5 to the
Registrant’s Form S-1 Registration Statement, File No. 33-7591.)

*10.1.5(b) – Amendment No. 1 to the Tax Indemnification Agreement No. 2, dated December 17, 1997,
between DFO Partnership, as assignee of Ford Motor Credit Company, as Owner Participant,
and Oglethorpe, as Lessee, with a Schedule identifying three substantially identical
Amendments No. 1 to the Tax Indemnification Agreements and any material differences. (Filed
as Exhibit 10.1.5(b) to the Registrant’s Form S-4 Registration Statement, File No. 333-42759.)

*10.1.6 – Assignment of Interest in Ownership Agreement and Operating Agreement No. 2, dated
December 30, 1985, between Oglethorpe, Assignor, and Wilmington Trust Company and
William J. Wade, as Owner Trustees under Trust Agreement No. 2, dated December 30, 1985,
with Ford Motor Credit Company, Assignee, together with Schedule identifying three
substantially identical Assignments of Interest in Ownership Agreement and Operating
Agreement. (Filed as Exhibit 10.1.6 to the Registrant’s Form S-1 Registration Statement, File
No. 33-7591.)

*10.1.7(a) – Consent, Amendment and Assumption No. 2 dated December 30, 1985, among Georgia Power
Company and Oglethorpe and Municipal Electric Authority of Georgia and City of Dalton,
Georgia and Gulf Power Company and Wilmington Trust Company and William J. Wade, as
Owner Trustees under Trust Agreement No. 2, dated December 30, 1985, with Ford Motor
Credit Company, together with a Schedule identifying three substantially identical Consents,
Amendments and Assumptions. (Filed as Exhibit 10.1.9 to the Registrant’s Form S-1
Registration Statement, File No. 33-7591.)
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*10.1.7(b) – Amendment to Consent, Amendment and Assumption No. 2, dated as of August 16, 1993,
among Oglethorpe, Georgia Power Company, Municipal Electric Authority of Georgia, City of
Dalton, Georgia, Gulf Power Company, Jacksonville Electric Authority, Florida Power & Light
Company and Wilmington Trust Company and NationsBank of Georgia, N.A., as Owner
Trustees under Trust Agreement No. 2, dated December 30, 1985, with Ford Motor Credit
Company, together with a Schedule identifying three substantially identical Amendments to
Consents, Amendments and Assumptions. (Filed as Exhibit 10.1.9(a) to the Registrant’s
Form 10-Q for the quarterly period ended September 30, 1993, File No. 33-7591.)

*10.2.1 – Section 168 Agreement and Election dated as of April 7, 1982, between Continental Telephone
Corporation and Oglethorpe. (Filed as Exhibit 10.2 to the Registrant’s Form S-1 Registration
Statement, File No. 33-7591.)

*10.2.2 – Section 168 Agreement and Election dated as of April 9, 1982, between Rollins, Inc. and
Oglethorpe. (Filed as Exhibit 10.4 to the Registrant’s Form S-1 Registration Statement, File
No. 33-7591.)

*10.3.1(a) – Plant Robert W. Scherer Units Numbers One and Two Purchase and Ownership Participation
Agreement among Georgia Power Company, Oglethorpe, Municipal Electric Authority of
Georgia and City of Dalton, Georgia, dated as of May 15, 1980. (Filed as Exhibit 10.6.1 to
the Registrant’s Form S-1 Registration Statement, File No. 33-7591.)

*10.3.1(b) – Amendment to Plant Robert W. Scherer Units Numbers One and Two Purchase and
Ownership Participation Agreement among Georgia Power Company, Oglethorpe, Municipal
Electric Authority of Georgia and City of Dalton, Georgia, dated as of December 30, 1985.
(Filed as Exhibit 10.1.8 to the Registrant’s Form S-1 Registration Statement, File
No. 33-7591.)

*10.3.1(c) – Amendment Number Two to the Plant Robert W. Scherer Units Numbers One and Two
Purchase and Ownership Participation Agreement among Georgia Power Company,
Oglethorpe, Municipal Electric Authority of Georgia and City of Dalton, Georgia, dated as of
July 1, 1986. (Filed as Exhibit 10.6.1(a) to the Registrant’s Form 10-K for the fiscal year
ended December 31, 1987, File No. 33-7591.)

*10.3.1(d) – Amendment Number Three to the Plant Robert W. Scherer Units Numbers One and Two
Purchase and Ownership Participation Agreement among Georgia Power Company,
Oglethorpe, Municipal Electric Authority of Georgia and City of Dalton, Georgia, dated as of
August 1, 1988. (Filed as Exhibit 10.6.1(b) to the Registrant’s Form 10-Q for the quarterly
period ended September 30, 1993, File No. 33-7591.)

*10.3.1(e) – Amendment Number Four to the Plant Robert W. Scherer Units Number One and Two
Purchase and Ownership Participation Agreement among Georgia Power Company,
Oglethorpe, Municipal Electric Authority of Georgia and City of Dalton, Georgia, dated as of
December 31, 1990. (Filed as Exhibit 10.6.1(c) to the Registrant’s Form 10-Q for the quarterly
period ended September 30, 1993, File No. 33-7591.)

*10.3.2(a) – Plant Robert W. Scherer Units Numbers One and Two Operating Agreement among Georgia
Power Company, Oglethorpe, Municipal Electric Authority of Georgia and City of Dalton,
Georgia, dated as of May 15, 1980. (Filed as Exhibit 10.6.2 to the Registrant’s Form S-1
Registration Statement, File No. 33-7591.)

*10.3.2(b) – Amendment to Plant Robert W. Scherer Units Numbers One and Two Operating Agreement
among Georgia Power Company, Oglethorpe, Municipal Electric Authority of Georgia and
City of Dalton, Georgia, dated as of December 30, 1985. (Filed as Exhibit 10.1.7 to the
Registrant’s Form S-1 Registration Statement, File No. 33-7591.)
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*10.3.2(c) – Amendment Number Two to the Plant Robert W. Scherer Units Numbers One and Two
Operating Agreement among Georgia Power Company, Oglethorpe, Municipal Electric
Authority of Georgia and City of Dalton, Georgia, dated as of December 31, 1990. (Filed as
Exhibit 10.6.2(a) to the Registrant’s Form 10-Q for the quarterly period ended September 30,
1993, File No. 33-7591.)

*10.3.3 – Plant Scherer Managing Board Agreement among Georgia Power Company, Oglethorpe,
Municipal Electric Authority of Georgia, City of Dalton, Georgia, Gulf Power Company,
Florida Power & Light Company and Jacksonville Electric Authority, dated as of
December 31, 1990. (Filed as Exhibit 10.6.3 to the Registrant’s Form 10-Q for the quarterly
period ended September 30, 1993, File No. 33-7591.)

*10.4.1(a) – Alvin W. Vogtle Nuclear Units Numbers One and Two Purchase and Ownership Participation
Agreement among Georgia Power Company, Oglethorpe, Municipal Electric Authority of
Georgia and City of Dalton, Georgia, dated as of August 27, 1976. (Filed as Exhibit 10.7.1 to
the Registrant’s Form S-1 Registration Statement, File No. 33-7591.)

*10.4.1(b) – Amendment Number One, dated January 18, 1977, to the Alvin W. Vogtle Nuclear Units
Numbers One and Two Purchase and Ownership Participation Agreement among Georgia
Power Company, Oglethorpe, Municipal Electric Authority of Georgia and City of Dalton,
Georgia. (Filed as Exhibit 10.7.3 to the Registrant’s Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended
December 31, 1986, File No. 33-7591.)

*10.4.1(c) – Amendment Number Two, dated February 24, 1977, to the Alvin W. Vogtle Nuclear Units
Numbers One and Two Purchase and Ownership Participation Agreement among Georgia
Power Company, Oglethorpe, Municipal Electric Authority of Georgia and City of Dalton,
Georgia. (Filed as Exhibit 10.7.4 to the Registrant’s Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended
December 31, 1986, File No. 33-7591.)

*10.4.2 – Plant Alvin W. Vogtle Additional Units Ownership Participation Agreement among Georgia
Power Company, Oglethorpe, Municipal Electric Authority of Georgia and City of Dalton,
Georgia, dated as of April 21, 2006. (Filed as Exhibit 10.4.4 to the Registrant’s Form 8-K,
filed April 27, 2006, File No. 33-7591.)

*10.4.3 – Plant Alvin W. Vogtle Nuclear Units Amended and Restated Operating Agreement among
Georgia Power Company, Oglethorpe, Municipal Electric Authority of Georgia and City of
Dalton, Georgia, dated as of April 21, 2006. (Filed as Exhibit 10.4.3 to the Registrant’s
Form 8-K, filed April 27, 2006, File No. 33-7591.)

*10.5.1 – Plant Hal Wansley Purchase and Ownership Participation Agreement between Georgia Power
Company and Oglethorpe, dated as of March 26, 1976. (Filed as Exhibit 10.8.1 to the
Registrant’s Form S-1 Registration Statement, File No. 33-7591.)

*10.5.2(a) – Plant Hal Wansley Operating Agreement between Georgia Power Company and Oglethorpe,
dated as of March 26, 1976. (Filed as Exhibit 10.8.2 to the Registrant’s Form S-1 Registration
Statement, File No. 33-7591.)

*10.5.2(b) – Amendment, dated as of January 15, 1995, to the Plant Hal Wansley Operating Agreements by
and among Georgia Power Company, Oglethorpe, Municipal Electric Authority of Georgia and
City of Dalton, Georgia. (Filed as Exhibit 10.5.2(a) to the Registrant’s Form 10-Q for the
quarterly period ended September 30, 1996, File No. 33-7591.)

*10.5.3 – Plant Hal Wansley Combustion Turbine Agreement between Georgia Power Company and
Oglethorpe, dated as of August 2, 1982 and Amendment No. 1, dated October 20, 1982.
(Filed as Exhibit 10.18 to the Registrant’s Form S-1 Registration Statement, File No. 33-7591.)

*10.6.1 – Edwin I. Hatch Nuclear Plant Purchase and Ownership Participation Agreement between
Georgia Power Company and Oglethorpe, dated as of January 6, 1975. (Filed as Exhibit 10.9.1
to the Registrant’s Form S-1 Registration Statement, File No. 33-7591.)
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*10.6.2 – Edwin I. Hatch Nuclear Plant Operating Agreement between Georgia Power Company and
Oglethorpe, dated as of January 6, 1975. (Filed as Exhibit 10.9.2 to the Registrant’s Form S-1
Registration Statement, File No. 33-7591.)

*10.7.1 – Rocky Mountain Pumped Storage Hydroelectric Project Ownership Participation Agreement,
dated as of November 18, 1988, by and between Oglethorpe and Georgia Power Company.
(Filed as Exhibit 10.22.1 to the Registrant’s Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended December 31,
1988, File No. 33-7591.)

*10.7.2 – Rocky Mountain Pumped Storage Hydroelectric Project Operating Agreement, dated as of
November 18, 1988, by and between Oglethorpe and Georgia Power Company. (Filed as
Exhibit 10.22.2 to the Registrant’s Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended December 31, 1988,
File No. 33-7591.)

*10.8.1 – Amended and Restated Wholesale Power Contract, dated as of January 1, 2003, between
Oglethorpe and Altamaha Electric Membership Corporation, together with a schedule
identifying 38 other substantially identical Amended and Restated Wholesale Power Contracts.
(Filed as Exhibit 10.31.1 to the Registrant’s Form 10-Q for the quarterly period ended
June 30, 2003, File No. 33-7591.)

*10.8.2 – First Amendment to Amended and Restated Wholesale Power Contract, dated as of June 1,
2005, between Oglethorpe and Altamaha Electric Membership Corporation, together with a
schedule identifying 37 other substantially identical First Amendments. (Filed as Exhibit 10.8.2
to the Registrant’s Form 10-Q for the quarterly period ended June 30, 2005, File
No. 33-7591.)

*10.8.3 – Amended and Restated Supplemental Agreement, dated as of January 1, 2003, by and among
Oglethorpe, Altamaha Electric Membership Corporation and the United States of America,
together with a schedule identifying 38 other substantially identical Amended and Restated
Supplemental Agreements. (Filed as Exhibit 10.31.2 to the Registrant’s Form 10-Q for the
quarterly period ended June 30, 2003, File No. 33-7591.)

*10.8.4 – Supplemental Agreement to the Amended and Restated Wholesale Power Contract, dated as of
January 1, 1997, by and among Georgia Power Company, Oglethorpe and Altamaha Electric
Membership Corporation, together with a Schedule identifying 38 other substantially identical
Supplemental Agreements. (Filed as Exhibit 10.8.3 to the Registrant’s Form 10-K for the fiscal
year ended December 31, 1996, File No. 33-7591.)

*10.8.5 – Supplemental Agreement to the Amended and Restated Wholesale Power Contract, dated as of
March 1, 1997, by and between Oglethorpe and Altamaha Electric Membership Corporation,
together with a Schedule identifying 36 other substantially identical Supplemental Agreements,
and an additional Supplemental Agreement that is not substantially identical. (Filed as
Exhibit 10.8.4 to the Registrant’s Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended December 31, 1996,
File No. 33-7591.)

*10.8.6 – Supplemental Agreement to the Amended and Restated Wholesale Power Contract, dated as of
March 1, 1997, by and between Oglethorpe and Coweta-Fayette Electric Membership
Corporation, together with a Schedule identifying 1 other substantially identical Supplemental
Agreement. (Filed as Exhibit 10.8.5 to the Registrant’s Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended
December 31, 1996, File No. 33-7591.)

*10.8.7 – Supplemental Agreement to the Amended and Restated Wholesale Power Contract, dated as of
May 1, 1997 by and between Oglethorpe and Altamaha Electric Membership Corporation,
together with a Schedule identifying 38 other substantially identical Supplemental Agreements.
(Filed as Exhibit 10.8.6 to the Registrant’s Form 10-Q for the quarterly period ended June 30,
1997, File No. 33-7591.)

*10.9(a) – Joint Committee Agreement among Georgia Power Company, Oglethorpe, Municipal Electric
Authority of Georgia and the City of Dalton, Georgia, dated as of August 27, 1976. (Filed as
Exhibit 10.14(b) to the Registrant’s Form S-1 Registration Statement, File No. 33-7591.)
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*10.9(b) – First Amendment to Joint Committee Agreement among Georgia Power Company, Oglethorpe,
Municipal Electric Authority of Georgia and the City of Dalton, Georgia, dated as of June 19,
1978. (Filed as Exhibit 10.14(a) to the Registrant’s Form S-1 Registration Statement, File
No. 33-7591.)

*10.10 – Letter of Commitment (Firm Power Sale) Under Service Schedule J – Negotiated Interchange
Service between Alabama Electric Cooperative, Inc. and Oglethorpe, dated March 31, 1994.
(Filed as Exhibit 10.11(b) to the Registrant’s Form 10-Q for the quarter ended June 30, 1994,
File No. 33-7591.)

*10.11.1 – Assignment of Power System Agreement and Settlement Agreement, dated January 8, 1975,
by Georgia Electric Membership Corporation to Oglethorpe. (Filed as Exhibit 10.20.1 to the
Registrant’s Form S-1 Registration Statement, File No. 33-7591.)

*10.11.2 – Power System Agreement, dated April 24, 1974, by and between Georgia Electric Membership
Corporation and Georgia Power Company. (Filed as Exhibit 10.20.2 to the Registrant’s
Form S-1 Registration Statement, File No. 33-7591.)

*10.11.3 – Settlement Agreement, dated April 24, 1974, by and between Georgia Power Company,
Georgia Municipal Association, Inc., City of Dalton, Georgia Electric Membership Corporation
and Crisp County Power Commission. (Filed as Exhibit 10.20.3 to the Registrant’s Form S-1
Registration Statement, File No. 33-7591.)

*10.12 – ITSA, Power Sale and Coordination Umbrella Agreement between Oglethorpe and Georgia
Power Company, dated as of November 12, 1990. (Filed as Exhibit 10.28 to the Registrant’s
Form 8-K, filed January 4, 1991, File No. 33-7591.)

*10.13 – Second Amended and Restated Nuclear Managing Board Agreement among Georgia Power
Company, Oglethorpe, Municipal Electric Authority of Georgia and City of Dalton, Georgia
dated as of April 21, 2006. (Filed as Exhibit 10.13(b) to the Registrant’s Form 8-K, filed
April 27, 2006, File No. 33-7591.)

*10.14 – Supplemental Agreement by and among Oglethorpe, Tri-County Electric Membership
Corporation and Georgia Power Company, dated as of November 12, 1990, together with a
Schedule identifying 38 other substantially identical Supplemental Agreements. (Filed as
Exhibit 10.30 to the Registrant’s Form 8-K, filed January 4, 1991, File No. 33-7591.)

*10.15 – Power Purchase Agreement between Oglethorpe and Hartwell Energy Limited Partnership,
dated as of June 12, 1992. (Filed as Exhibit 10.35 to the Registrant’s Form 10-K for the fiscal
year ended December 31, 1992, File No. 33-7591).

*10.16.1 – Participation Agreement (P1), dated as of December 30, 1996, among Oglethorpe, Rocky
Mountain Leasing Corporation, Fleet National Bank, as Owner Trustee, SunTrust Bank,
Atlanta, as Co-Trustee, the Owner Participant named therein and Utrecht-America Finance Co.,
as Lender, together with a Schedule identifying five other substantially identical Participation
Agreements. (Filed as Exhibit 10.32.1 to the Registrant’s Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended
December 31, 1996, File No. 33-7591.)

*10.16.2 – Rocky Mountain Head Lease Agreement (P1), dated as of December 30, 1996, between
Oglethorpe and SunTrust Bank, Atlanta, as Co-Trustee, together with a Schedule identifying
five other substantially identical Rocky Mountain Head Lease Agreements. (Filed as
Exhibit 10.32.2 to the Registrant’s Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended December 31, 1996,
File No. 33-7591.)

*10.16.3 – Ground Lease Agreement (P1), dated as of December 30, 1996, between Oglethorpe and
SunTrust Bank, Atlanta, as Co-Trustee, together with a Schedule identifying five other
substantially identical Ground Lease Agreements. (Filed as Exhibit 10.32.3 to the Registrant’s
Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended December 31, 1996, File No. 33-7591.)
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*10.16.4 – Rocky Mountain Agreements Assignment and Assumption Agreement (P1), dated as of
December 30, 1996, between Oglethorpe and SunTrust Bank, Atlanta, as Co-Trustee, together
with a Schedule identifying five other substantially identical Rocky Mountain Agreements
Assignment and Assumption Agreements. (Filed as Exhibit 10.32.4 to the Registrant’s
Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended December 31, 1996, File No. 33-7591.)

*10.16.5 – Facility Lease Agreement (P1), dated as of December 30, 1996, between SunTrust Bank,
Atlanta, as Co-Trustee and Rocky Mountain Leasing Corporation, together with a Schedule
identifying five other substantially identical Facility Lease Agreements. (Filed as
Exhibit 10.32.5 to the Registrant’s Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended December 31, 1996,
File No. 33-7591.)

*10.16.6 – Ground Sublease Agreement (P1), dated as of December 30, 1996, between SunTrust Bank,
Atlanta, as Co-Trustee and Rocky Mountain Leasing Corporation, together with a Schedule
identifying five other substantially identical Ground Sublease Agreements. (Filed as
Exhibit 10.32.6 to the Registrant’s Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended December 31, 1996,
File No. 33-7591.)

*10.16.7 – Rocky Mountain Agreements Re-assignment and Assumption Agreement (P1), dated as of
December 30, 1996, between SunTrust Bank, Atlanta, as Co-Trustee and Rocky Mountain
Leasing Corporation, together with a Schedule identifying five other substantially identical
Rocky Mountain Agreements Re-assignment and Assumption Agreements. (Filed as
Exhibit 10.32.7 to the Registrant’s Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended December 31, 1996,
File No. 33-7591.)

*10.16.8 – Facility Sublease Agreement (P1), dated as of December 30, 1996, between Oglethorpe and
Rocky Mountain Leasing Corporation, together with a Schedule identifying five other
substantially identical Facility Sublease Agreements. (Filed as Exhibit 10.32.8 to the
Registrant’s Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended December 31, 1996, File No. 33-7591.)

*10.16.9 – Ground Sub-sublease Agreement (P1), dated as of December 30, 1996, between Rocky
Mountain Leasing Corporation and Oglethorpe, together with a Schedule identifying five other
substantially identical Ground Sub-sublease Agreements. (Filed as Exhibit 10.32.9 to the
Registrant’s Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended December 31, 1996, File No. 33-7591.)

*10.16.10 – Rocky Mountain Agreements Second Re-assignment and Assumption Agreement (P1), dated
as of December 30, 1996, between Rocky Mountain Leasing Corporation and Oglethorpe,
together with a Schedule identifying five other substantially identical Rocky Mountain
Agreements Second Re-assignment and Assumption Agreements. (Filed as Exhibit 10.32.10 to
the Registrant’s Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended December 31, 1996, File No. 33-7591.)

*10.16.11 – Payment Undertaking Agreement (P1), dated as of December 30, 1996, between Rocky
Mountain Leasing Corporation and Coöperatieve Centrale Raiffeisen-Boerenleenbank B.A.,
New York Branch, as the Bank, together with a Schedule identifying five other substantially
identical Payment Undertaking Agreements. (Filed as Exhibit 10.32.11 to the Registrant’s
Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended December 31, 1996, File No. 33-7591.)

*10.16.12 – Payment Undertaking Pledge Agreement (P1), dated as of December 30, 1996, between Rocky
Mountain Leasing Corporation, Fleet National Bank, as Owner Trustee, and SunTrust Bank,
Atlanta, as Co-Trustee, together with a Schedule identifying five other substantially identical
Payment Undertaking Pledge Agreements. (Filed as Exhibit 10.32.12 to the Registrant’s
Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended December 31, 1996, File No. 33-7591.)

*10.16.13 – Equity Funding Agreement (P1), dated as of December 30, 1996, between Rocky Mountain
Leasing Corporation, AIG Match Funding Corp., the Owner Participant named therein, Fleet
National Bank, as Owner Trustee, and SunTrust Bank, Atlanta, as Co-Trustee, together with a
Schedule identifying five other substantially identical Equity Funding Agreements. (Filed as
Exhibit 10.32.13 to the Registrant’s Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended December 31, 1996,
File No. 33-7591.)
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*10.16.14 – Equity Funding Pledge Agreement (P1), dated as of December 30, 1996, between Rocky
Mountain Leasing Corporation and SunTrust Bank, Atlanta, as Co-Trustee, together with a
Schedule identifying five other substantially identical Equity Funding Pledge Agreements.
(Filed as Exhibit 10.32.14 to the Registrant’s Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended
December 31, 1996, File No. 33-7591.)

*10.16.15 – Deed to Secure Debt, Assignment of Surety Bond and Security Agreement (P1), dated as of
December 30, 1996, between Rocky Mountain Leasing Corporation, SunTrust Bank, Atlanta,
as Co-Trustee, together with a Schedule identifying five other substantially identical Collateral
Assignment, Assignment of Surety Bond and Security Agreements. (Filed as Exhibit 10.32.15
to the Registrant’s Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended December 31, 1996, File
No. 33-7591.)

*10.16.16 – Subordinated Deed to Secure Debt and Security Agreement (P1), dated as of December 30,
1996, among Oglethorpe, AMBAC Indemnity Corporation and SunTrust Bank, Atlanta, as
Co-Trustee, together with a Schedule identifying five other substantially identical Subordinated
Deed to Secure Debt and Security Agreements. (Filed as Exhibit 10.32.16 to the Registrant’s
Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended December 31, 1996, File No. 33-7591.)

*10.16.17 – Tax Indemnification Agreement (P1), dated as of December 30, 1996, between Oglethorpe and
the Owner Participant named therein, together with a Schedule identifying five other
substantially identical Tax Indemnification Agreements. (Filed as Exhibit 10.32.17 to the
Registrant’s Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended December 31, 1996, File No. 33-7591.)

*10.16.18 – Consent No. 1, dated as of December 30, 1996, among Georgia Power Company, Oglethorpe,
SunTrust Bank, Atlanta, as Co-Trustee, and Fleet National Bank, as Owner Trustee, together
with a Schedule identifying five other substantially identical Consents. (Filed as
Exhibit 10.32.18 to the Registrant’s Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended December 31, 1996,
File No. 33-7591.)

*10.16.19(a) – OPC Intercreditor and Security Agreement No. 1, dated as of December 30, 1996, among the
United States of America, acting through the Administrator of the Rural Utilities Service,
SunTrust Bank, Atlanta, Oglethorpe, Rocky Mountain Leasing Corporation, SunTrust Bank,
Atlanta, as Co-Trustee, Fleet National Bank, as Owner Trustee, Utrecht-America Finance Co.,
as Lender and AMBAC Indemnity Corporation, together with a Schedule identifying five other
substantially identical Intercreditor and Security Agreements. (Filed as Exhibit 10.32.19 to the
Registrant’s Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended December 31, 1996, File No. 33-7591.)

*10.16.19(b) – Supplement to OPC Intercreditor and Security Agreement No. 1, dated as of March 1, 1997,
among the United States of America, acting through the Administrator of the Rural Utilities
Service, SunTrust Bank, Atlanta, Oglethorpe, Rocky Mountain Leasing Corporation, SunTrust
Bank, Atlanta, as Co-Trustee, Fleet National Bank, as Owner Trustee, Utrecht-America
Finance Co., as Lender and AMBAC Indemnity Corporation, together with a Schedule
identifying five other substantially identical Supplements to OPC Intercreditor and Security
Agreements. (Filed as Exhibit 10.32.19(b) to the Registrant’s Form S-4 Registration Statement,
File No. 333-42759.)

*10.17.1(a) – Member Transmission Service Agreement, dated as of March 1, 1997, by and between
Oglethorpe and Georgia Transmission Corporation (An Electric Membership Corporation).
(Filed as Exhibit 10.33.1 to the Registrant’s Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended December 31,
1996, File No. 33-7591.)

*10.17.1(b) – Agreement to Extend the Term of the Member Transmission Service Agreement, dated as of
August 2, 2006, by and between Oglethorpe and Georgia Transmission Corporation (An
Electric Membership Corporation). (Filed as Exhibit 10.17.1(b) to the Registrant’s Form 10-Q
for the quarterly period ended June 30, 2006, File No. 33-7591.)
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*10.17.2 – Generation Services Agreement, dated as of March 1, 1997, by and between Oglethorpe and
Georgia System Operations Corporation. (Filed as Exhibit 10.33.2 to the Registrant’s
Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended December 31, 1996, File No. 33-7591.)

*10.17.3 – Operation Services Agreement, dated as of March 1, 1997, by and between Oglethorpe and
Georgia System Operations Corporation. (Filed as Exhibit 10.33.3 to the Registrant’s
Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended December 31, 1996, File No. 33-7591.)

*10.18 – Long Term Transaction Service Agreement Under Southern Companies’ Federal Energy
Regulatory Commission Electric Tariff Volume No. 4 Market-Based Rate Tariff, between
Georgia Power Company and Oglethorpe, dated as of February 26, 1999. (Filed as
Exhibit 10.27 to the Registrant’s Form 10-Q for the quarterly period ended March 31, 1999,
File No. 33-7591.)

*10.19(3) – Employment Agreement, dated as of January 1, 2007, between Oglethorpe and Thomas A.
Smith. (Filed as Exhibit 10.19 to the Registrant’s Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended
December 31, 2006, File No. 33-7591.)

*10.20(3) – Employment Agreement, dated January 1, 2007, between Oglethorpe and Michael W. Price.
(Filed as Exhibit 10.20 to the Registrant’s Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended December 31,
2006, File No. 33-7591.)

*10.21(3) – Employment Agreement, dated as of January 1, 2007, between Oglethorpe and Elizabeth Bush
Higgins. (Filed as Exhibit 10.21 to the Registrant’s Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended
December 31, 2006, File No. 33-7591.)

*10.22(3) – Employment Agreement, dated as of January 1, 2007, between Oglethorpe and Jami G.
Reusch. (Filed as Exhibit 10.22 to the Registrant’s Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended
December 31, 2006, File No. 33-7591.)

*10.23(3) – Employment Agreement, dated as of January 1, 2007, between Oglethorpe and William F.
Ussery. (Filed as Exhibit 10.23 to the Registrant’s Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended
December 31, 2006, File No. 33-7591.)

*10.24(3) – Employment Agreement, dated as of January 1, 2007, between Oglethorpe and William Clay
Robbins. (Filed as Exhibit 10.24 to the Registrant’s Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended
December 31, 2006, File No. 33-7591.)

10.25 – Oglethorpe Power Corporation Executive Incentive Payment Plan, dated November 8, 2007.
*10.26 – Participation Agreement for the Oglethorpe Power Corporation Executive Supplemental

Retirement Plan, dated as of March 15, 2002, between Oglethorpe and Thomas A. Smith.
(Filed as Exhibit 10.30 to the Registrant’s Form 10-Q for the quarterly period ended
March 31, 2002, File No. 33-7591.)

*10.27 – Withdrawal Agreement, dated as of October 1, 2004, among Flint Electric Membership
Corporation, Cobb Electric Membership Corporation and Oglethorpe. (Filed as Exhibit 10.31
to the Registrant’s Form 8-K, filed October 7, 2004, File No. 33-7591.)

*14.1 – Code of Ethics, dated November 11, 2003. (Filed as Exhibit 14.1 to the Registrant’s
Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2003, File No. 33-7591.)

21.1 – Rocky Mountain Leasing Corporation, a Delaware corporation.
31.1 – Rule 13a-14(a)/15d-14(a) Certification, by Thomas A. Smith (Principal Executive Officer).
31.2 – Rule 13a-14(a)/15d-14(a) Certification, by Elizabeth B. Higgins (Principal Financial Officer).
32.1 – Certification Pursuant to 18 U.S.C. 1350, as Adopted Pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-

Oxley Act of 2002, by Thomas A. Smith (Principal Executive Officer).
32.2 – Certification Pursuant to 18 U.S.C. 1350, as Adopted Pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-

Oxley Act of 2002, by Elizabeth B. Higgins (Principal Financial Officer).
*99.1 – Member Financial and Statistical Information (filed as Exhibit 99.1 to the Registrant’s

Form 10-Q for the quarterly period ended June 30, 2007, File No. 33-7591.)

(1) Pursuant to 17 C.F.R. 229.601(b)(4)(iii), this document(s) is not filed herewith; however the registrant hereby agrees that such document(s) will be provided to the Commission upon request.

(2) Certain portions of this document have been omitted as confidential and filed separately with the Commission.

(3) Indicates a management contract or compensatory arrangement required to be filed as an exhibit to this Report.
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the registrant has
duly caused this report to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly authorized, on the 26th day
of March, 2008.

OGLETHORPE POWER CORPORATION
(AN ELECTRIC MEMBERSHIP CORPORATION)

By: /s/ THOMAS A. SMITH

THOMAS A. SMITH

President and Chief Executive Officer

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, this report has been signed below by the
following persons on behalf of the registrant and in the capacities and on the dates indicated.

Signature Title Date

/s/ THOMAS A. SMITH President and Chief Executive Officer
March 26, 2008

(Principal Executive Officer)THOMAS A. SMITH

/s/ ELIZABETH B. HIGGINS Chief Financial Officer (Principal Financial
March 26, 2008

Officer)ELIZABETH B. HIGGINS

/s/ BRIAN PREVOST Vice President, Controller (Chief
March 26, 2008

Accounting Officer)BRIAN PREVOST

/s/ C. HILL BENTLEY
Director March 26, 2008

C. HILL BENTLEY

/s/ LARRY N. CHADWICK
Director March 26, 2008

LARRY N. CHADWICK

/s/ BENNY W. DENHAM
Director March 26, 2008

BENNY W. DENHAM

/s/ WM. RONALD DUFFEY
Director March 26, 2008

WM. RONALD DUFFEY

/s/ M. ANTHONY HAM
Director March 26, 2008

M. ANTHONY HAM
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Signature Title Date

/s/ GARY A. MILLER
Director March 26, 2008

GARY A. MILLER

/s/ MARSHALL MILLWOOD
Director March 26, 2008

MARSHALL MILLWOOD

/s/ JEFFREY W. MURPHY
Director March 26, 2008

JEFFREY W. MURPHY

/s/ J. SAM L. RABUN
Director March 26, 2008

J. SAM L. RABUN

/s/ JOHN S. RANSON
Director March 26, 2008

JOHN S. RANSON

/s/ H. B. WILEY, JR.
Director March 26, 2008

H. B. WILEY, JR.

/s/ GARY W. WYATT
Director March 26, 2008

GARY W. WYATT
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SUPPLEMENTAL INFORMATION TO BE FURNISHED WITH REPORTS FILED PURSUANT TO
SECTION 15(d) OF THE ACT BY REGISTRANTS WHICH HAVE NOT REGISTERED SECURITIES
PURSUANT TO SECTION 12 OF THE ACT. 

The registrant is a membership corporation and has no authorized or outstanding equity securities. Proxies are not
solicited from the holders of Oglethorpe’s public bonds. No annual report or proxy material has been sent to such
bondholders.
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